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Definitions 

The following is a glossary of certain definitions used in this Annual Listing Statement. Terms and abbreviations 
used in this Annual Listing Statement and also appearing in the documents attached as schedules to the Annual 
Listing Statement (including the financial statements) are defined separately if the terms and abbreviations defined 
below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Any capitalized term used but not defined in this 
Annual Listing Statement have the meanings ascribed thereon in the CSE’s policies. Words below importing the 
singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all 
genders. All dollar amounts herein are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

“Affiliate” means a company that is affiliated with another company as described below. A company is an Affiliate 
of another company if (a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or (b) each of them is controlled by the same 
person. A company is “controlled” by a person if (a) voting securities of the company are held, other than by way 
of security only, by or for the benefit of that person, and (b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the person to 
elect a majority of the directors of the company. A person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned 
by (a) a company controlled by that person, or (b) an Affiliate of that person or an Affiliate of any company 
controlled by that person. 

“Ag” means the chemical element Silver. 

“AGAT” means Agat Laboratories Ltd. 

“ALS” means Australian Laboratory Services Pty. Ltd. 

“AMIS” means the Ontario Abandoned Mines Information System. 

 “APEX” means APEX Geoscience Ltd., headquartered at 110-8429 24 ST NW Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, T6P 1L3  

 “Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a person or company, means (a) an issuer of which the 
person or company beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities entitling him to more than 
10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding securities of the issuer, (b) any partner of the person or company, 
(c) any trust or estate in which the person or company has a substantial beneficial interest or in respect of which a 
person or company serves as trustee or in a similar capacity, (d) in the case of a person, a relative of that person, 
including (i) that person’s spouse or child, or (ii) any relative of the person or of his spouse who has the same 
residence as that person; but (e) where the Exchange determines that two persons shall, or shall not, be deemed 
to be associates with respect to a Member firm, Member corporation or holding company of a Member 
corporation, then such determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the application of Rule D with 
respect to that Member firm, Member corporation or holding company. 

“Au” means the chemical element Gold. 

“Author” means Kristopher J. Raffle, B.Sc., P. Geo., principal and consulting geologist of APEX and the author of the 
Technical Report. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

“Co” means the chemical element Cobalt. 

“Cobalt Locaters” means Cobalt Locaters Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 
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“Cruz Capital” means Cruz Capital (US) corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

“CSE” or “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange, operated by CNSX Markets Inc. 

 “Cu” means the chemical element Copper. 

“Hector Property” or "Hector Cobalt Prospect" means the Hector Property consisting of 126 contiguous 
unpatented mining claims totalling 2,243 hectares located within the Coleman and Gillies Limit Townships, Larder 
Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, Ontario, Canada  

“Li” means the chemical element lithium. 

“MDI” means the Ontario Mineral Deposit Inventory.  

“MLAS” means the online Mining Lands Administration System, being used to acquire and manage mineral claims 
in Ontario, Canada. 

“MNDM” means the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines.  

“Ni” means the chemical element Nickel. 

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects. 

“OAFD” means the Ontario Assessment Files Database. 

“Related Person” means an “Insider”, which has the meaning set forth in the Securities Act (British Columbia) 
being: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the company that is an insider or subsidiary of the issuer; 

(b) a director or senior officer of the issuer; 

(c) a person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting share carrying more than 
10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the issuer; or 

(d) the issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“Reporting Issuer” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Securities Act (British Columbia), as amended. 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis. 

“Share” means a Share without par value in the capital of the Company. 

“Technical Report” means the technical report of the Author dated April 25, 2019 entitled “NI 43-101 Report on 
the Hector Property” prepared in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101.  

“TSXV” means the TSX Venture Exchange. 

“U.S.A” or “United States” means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, and any state of 
the United States and the District of Columbia. 

“we”, “us”, “our” “the Company” or “Cruz” means Cruz Battery Metals Corp. 
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Forward-Looking Statements 

The information provided in this Annual Listing Statement, including information incorporated by reference, may 
contain “forward-looking statements” about us. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future 
filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, in press releases, or in oral or written presentations that are 
not statements of historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements. All statements, other than 
statements of historical fact, made by us that address activities, events or developments that we expect or 
anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements 
preceded by, followed by or that include words such as “may”, “will”, “would”, “could”, “should”, “believes”, 
“estimates”, “projects”, “potential”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “targeted”, “continues”, 
“forecasts”, “designed”, “goal”, or the negative of those words or other similar or comparable words. Forward-
looking statements may relate to future financial conditions, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance 
or business developments. These statements speak only as at the date they are made and are based on 
information currently available and on our then current expectations and assumptions concerning future events, 
which are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results, performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to: 

 the speculative and competitive nature of resource exploration, development and operations; 

 Aboriginal land claims, title risks, and the obtaining and renewing of material licences and permits; 

 the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, dependence on 
management and conflicts of interests; and 

 other risks described in this Annual Listing Statement and described from time to time in our documents 
filed with Canadian securities regulatory authorities. 

Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this Annual Listing Statement and our other documents are 
qualified by such cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the anticipated results or 
developments will actually be realized or, even if realized, that they will have the expected consequences or 
effects. The cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section should be considered in connection with 
any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that we and/or persons acting on our behalf may issue. 
We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, other than as required under securities legislation. See Item 17 – Risk 
Factors. 

Market and Industry Data 

This Annual Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources, 
including industry publications. We believe that this industry data is accurate and that the estimates and 
assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party 
sources generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be 
reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data is 
believed to be reliable, we have not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in 
this Annual Listing Statement or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 
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2.  CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1  Corporate Name and Head and Registered Office 

The corporate name of the Company is Cruz Battery Metals Corp. The Company’s head office is located at Suite 
2905 – 700 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The Company’s registered records office is 
located at 800 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 

2.2  Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

The Company was incorporated on March 28, 2007 under the BCBCA.  

2.3  Inter-corporate Relationships 

The principal subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: 

 
Name of subsidiary 

 
Principal activity 

Place of 
Incorporation 

Ownership 
Interest 

Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Mining U.S.A. 100% 

Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp. Mining U.S.A. 100% 

Las Vegas Lithium Locaters Corp. Mining U.S.A. 100% 

Cobalt Locaters Inc. Mining Canada 100% 

1205011 B.C. Ltd. Mining Canada 100% 

Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. Mining Canada 100% 

2.4  Fundamental Change 

The Company is not re-qualifying following a fundamental change and it is not proposing an acquisition, 
amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement. 

2.5  Incorporation Outside Canada 

This is not applicable to the Company.  

3.  GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

3.1  General Development of the Business 

The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring, exploring and evaluating mineral properties. As of 
the date of this Annual Listing Statement, the Company has exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada 
and the United States as further described below. 

The Company is a Reporting Issuer in the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario, and trades on the CSE 
under the stock symbol “CRUZ”. 

Mineral Properties 

Management anticipates to use its available working capital to fund the work programs on the following mineral 
properties. Additional funds may need to be raised, through equity financings, shareholder loans, or otherwise. In 
March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious 
disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has 
adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic 
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downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the 
outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. Although the Company has secured 
financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future on terms that are 
favorable or at all. 

Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospect 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 100% of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters, which held a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% 
interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, 
the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the Johnson Cobalt Prospect. The Company paid $20,000 cash and issued 
4,800,000 Shares (valued at $816,000) to acquire Cobalt Locaters. The acquisition costs had been split evenly 
between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 
50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no cost. 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs of $2,200 
to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units for staking costs 
of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; and 137 claim units for 
staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to approximately 6,146 acres. 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 
holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268. In November 
2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the Coleman Cobalt Prospect and fully wrote off 
prior acquisition and exploration costs on the Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling $151,065 as of July 31, 2021. 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario (the “Lorraine Cobalt 
Prospect”) through staking. 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company decided to drop all mineral claims for the Johnson, Bucke and 
Lorraine Cobalt Prospects, and fully wrote off prior carrying costs in the amount of $313,037. 

In the last 36 months, the Company has incurred a total of $208,221 in exploration costs on the Hector Cobalt 
Prospect. As of the date of the Annual Listing Statement, the Company has incurred a total of $759,323 in 
exploration costs on the Hector Cobalt Prospect, comprised of consulting geologist, a magnetic geophysical survey, 
sampling, assaying, and an exploration diamond drill program expenses. 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor to 
acquire a 100% interest in twelve claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium. In 
consideration, the Company issued 900,000 Shares (valued at $30,000). 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement with two arm’s length vendors to 
purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz Solar”), which through its 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp. (“LVLLC”), holds a 100% interest in one lithium 
prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the “Solar Lithium Project”). The Company issued 7,000,000 Shares valued at 
$630,000) pursuant to the agreement. 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Helios 
Claims”, the “Sun Claims” and the “Solar South Claims”) for staking costs of $106,941 to expand the size of its 
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Solar Lithium Project to a total of 8,135 acres. The Company also provided two security deposits totalling $22,827 
in relation to its Solar Lithium Project. 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia through staking.   

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement with two arm’s length vendors to 

purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-

owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

(the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The Company 

issued 9,000,000 Shares (valued at $495,000) pursuant to the agreement. The acquisition costs had been split 

evenly between the BC and Idaho properties. 

BC Diamond Projects 

On September 1, 2020, the Company acquired a 100% interest in three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond 
Projects”). 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company decided to drop the BC Diamonds Projects and fully wrote off 
the previous carrying costs in the amount of $261,665. 

Yukon Quartz Claims 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain load quartz mineral claims 
located in the Yukon Territory. 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company decided to fully write off the previous carrying costs in the amount of $16,973. 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. through 
staking. 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company decided to fully write off the previous carrying costs in the amount of $10,330. 

Private Placements 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company did not close any private placements. 

Subsequent to July 31, 2022, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 34,653,465 units 
at a price of $0.101 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. Each unit consisted of one Share and one share 
purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase one additional Share of the Company at a price of $0.15 
per share until August 29, 2027. In connection with this private placement, the Company issued 1,780,304 broker 
warrants exercisable at $0.15 per share and 144,000 broker warrants exercisable at $0.19 per share until August 
29, 2027. 
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3.2 Significant Acquisition and Disposition 

The response in Item 3.1 is responsive to this Item 3.2. 

3.3  Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious 
disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has 
adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic 
downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the 
outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. There are no other trends, 
commitments, events or uncertainties known to management which could reasonably be expected to have a 
material effect on the Company’s business, the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. However, 
there are significant risks associated with the Company’s business, as described in Item 17 – Risk Factors. 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

4.1 Narrative Description of the Company’s Business 

(1) Business of the Company 

The Company is a mineral exploration issuer engaged in the exploration of the Hector Property. The 
Company operates in a single business segment focusing on mineral exploration in Canada and the United 
States. To date, the Company has not generated any revenue from its mineral exploration activities and 
has met its cash requirements primarily through share issuances. Until the Company attains profitability, 
it will be necessary to raise additional financings for general working capital and for exploration costs on 
its material property. If the Company is unable to obtain financing in the amounts and on terms deemed 
acceptable, the future success of the business could be adversely affected. There is no assurance that the 
Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms 
advantageous to the Company. 

(a) Business Objectives 

The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring and exploring exploration and evaluation 
assets. The Company has exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada and the United States. 

The Company expects to use its available working capital to finance exploration and development on the 
mineral properties located in both the U.S.A. and Canada, and for general working capital, including 
complementary acquisitions if so deemed to be in the best interest of the Company. 

 (b) Significant Events or Milestones 

The Company’s immediate short-term objective is to actively evaluate current and new mineral 
exploration properties. 

The Company’s long-term objectives will be to explore the Company’s existing mineral exploration claims 
as well as seeking additional mineral exploration opportunities.  

 (c) Funds Available and Use of Available Funds 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company had working capital deficiency of approximately $168,947 and had an 
accumulated deficit of $21,113,153 since incorporation. Subsequent to July 31, 2022, the Company closed 
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a non-brokered private placement consisting of 34,653,465 units at a price of $0.101 per unit for gross 
proceeds of $3,500,000. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents may not be sufficient to meet the current working capital 
requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's mineral properties. The 
Company may raise additional capital as the needs arise. The Company’s ability to continue operations is 
dependent upon successfully raising the necessary financing to complete future exploration and 
development. These pursuits may be delayed given the current challenges faced by exploration stage 
companies seeking to raise exploration funds through the issuance of shares. 

 (2) Principal Products or Services 

The Company is a mineral exploration issuer engaged in the business of the acquisition, exploration and, if 
warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not currently generate any revenues 
nor does it expect to generate consistent revenues from production of its properties in the foreseeable 
future. The Company expects to continue to incur expenses as work is conducted to further explore and 
develop its mineral properties. 

 (3) Production and Sales 

This is not applicable to the Company. 

 (4) Competitive Conditions and Position 

The Company’s competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and 
with greater financial and technical resources than it has. As a result of this competition, the Company 
may have to compete for financing and be unable to acquire financing on terms it considers acceptable.  
The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment and 
retention of qualified managerial and technical employees. If the Company is unable to successfully 
compete for financing or for qualified employees, its exploration programs may be slowed down or 
suspended, which may cause it to cease operations as a company. 

 (5) Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions 

 This is not applicable to the Company. 

 (6) Bankruptcy and Receivership 

The Company has not been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership or similar proceedings 
against the Company or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Company, 
within the three most recently completed financial years or the current financial year. 

 (7) Material Restructuring 

This is not applicable to the Company. 

 (8) Social and Environmental Policies 

 This is not applicable to the Company. 

4.2 Asset Backed Securities 

The Company does not have any asset backed securities. 
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4.3 Mineral Properties 

The Company’s qualifying property is the Hector Property. The claims comprising the Hector Property are located 
within the Coleman and Gillies Limit Townships, Larder Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, Ontario, 
Canada.  

The Company’s secondary properties are as follows: 

(a) Nevada Solar Lithium Project - The lithium claims, which the Company, through its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, Cruz Capital and LVLLC, holds a 100% interest in, are located in Nevada and encompass 8,135 
acres; 
 

(b) Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect - The lithium claims, which the Company, through its 
wholly-owned subsidiary Cruz Capital, holds a 100% interest in, are located within the Clayton Valley of 
Esmeralda County, Nevada and encompass 240 acres; 
 

(c) BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – The prospective mineral claims, which the Company holds a 100% interest 

in, are located near the town of Cranbrook,  British Columbia and total approximately 1,542 acres; and 

 

(d) Idaho Cobalt Belt Project - The prospective mineral claims, which the Company, through its wholly-owned 
subsidiary Idaho Cobalt Discoveries, holds a 100% interest in, consist of approximately 2,211 acres and are 
located within the Idaho Cobalt Belt. 
 

The Hector Property 

Hector Property Description and Location 

The Hector Property is located approximately 500 km north of Toronto, 150 km north of North Bay and 10 km 

southwest of the town of Cobalt, located southeast of the intersection between local highways 11 and 11B. The 

town of Cobalt is in northeastern Ontario, Canada, approximately 10 km and a 15 minute drive south of 

Temiskaming Shores, immediately west of the Ontario-Quebec border. The approximate location in UTM 

coordinates is 595,000 Easting, 5,245,000 Northing, NAD 1983, Zone 17.  

The Hector Property is comprised of 126 unpatented mining claims totaling 2,243 ha. Cruz holds 100% ownership 
of the 126 mining claims, which are active and in good standing. The Hector Property mining claims are located 
within the Coleman and Gillies Limit townships, Larder Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, northeastern 
Ontario, covering 1:50,000 NTS Sheet 031M05.  

More details and analysis about the Hector Property can be found in the Technical Report. A copy of it is available 
under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations 

The Company does not have oil and gas operations. 

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1 Consolidated Financial Information - Annual Information 

The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in the financial 
statements of the Company and related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Listing Statement. This 
information should only be read in conjunction with the financial statements, and accompanying notes, included 
elsewhere in this Annual Listing Statement. The selected financial information is derived from the audited financial 
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statements for the Company for the years ended July 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, and can be found by accessing the 
Company’s public documents filed on SEDAR at http://www.SEDAR.com/. This information should only be read in 
conjunction with the audited financial statements, and accompanying notes, included on SEDAR. 
 

 For the Year Ended 
July 31 

(audited) 

 
Operating Data: 

 
2022 

 
2021 

 
2020 

Total Revenue $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Income (Loss) From 
Operations (before 
tax) 

$(1,579,409) $(740,419) $(555,873) 

Net Income (Loss) for 
the period 

$(2,179,357) $(887,156) $(714,368) 

Income (Loss) per 
share – Basic and 
diluted 

$(0.02) $(0.01) $(0.01) 

Cash Dividends $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Balance Sheet Data:       

Total Assets $3,340,028 $4,210,767 $3,034,663 

Total Long-term 
Liabilities 

$Nil $Nil $Nil 

Shareholders’ Equity $2,804,886 $3,635,040 $2,830,019 

5.2  Consolidated Financial Information – Quarterly Information 

The results for each of the eight most recently completed quarters ending at the end of the most recently 
competed fiscal year, namely July 31, 2022, are summarized below: 

 2022 
Fourth 

2022 
Third 

2022 
Second 

2022 
First 

2021 
Fourth 

2021 
Third 

2021 
Second 

2021 
First 

Revenues $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Net 
comprehensive 
loss  

 

$(494,184) 

 

$(431,194) 

 

$(1,106,088) 

 

$(147,891) 

 

$(329,843) 

 

$(135,090) 

 

$(316,829) 

 

$(105,394) 

Basic and 
diluted loss per 
share 

$(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.01) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) 

5.3  Dividends 

The Company does not have a dividend policy and does not pay dividends to its shareholders. 

5.4 Foreign Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

Section 5.4 is not applicable to the Company. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial statements for the years ended July 31, 2022, 2021, and 
2020, are attached in Appendix 2 to the Annual Listing Statement and can be found by accessing the Company’s 
public documents filed on SEDAR at http://www.SEDAR.com/. 

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The Shares of the Company are listed and post for trading on the Exchange under the symbol “CRUZ”. 

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table summarizes our consolidated capitalization as at the date of this Annual Listing Statement: 

Designation of 
Security 

Number of 
Authorized 

Number of Shares 
Issued and Outstanding 

Shares Unlimited number 
without par value 

148,561,969(1) 

Warrants N/A 36,577,769 

Stock Options N/A 4,150,000 

(1) Does not include Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding warrants or options. 

There have been no changes in the number of issued and outstanding shares of the Company as of the date of this 
Annual Listing Statement. 

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The following table summarizes the outstanding incentive stock options to purchase Shares in our authorized 
capital as of the date of this Annual Listing Statement: 

Group 

Number 
of 

Options 

Securities 
Under 
Option 

Grant 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price Per 

Share 
 

Market 
Value 

of the Shares 
on the 

Date of Grant  

Market 
Value 

of the Shares 
at Year End 

Current 
Executive 
Officers  

(2 persons) 

1,000,000 

 

 

1,000,000 

 

 

September 9, 
2022 

 

September 9, 
2023 

 

$0.13 

 

 

$0.125 

 

 

$0.15 

Current 
Directors 

(3 Persons) 

850,000 

 

600,000 

850,000 

 

600,000 

September 9, 
2022 

November 7, 
2022 

September 9, 
2023 

November 7, 
2023 

$0.13 

 

$0.10 

$0.125 

 

$0.09 

$0.15 

 

$0.15 

Consultant 

(5 Persons) 

1,000,000 

 

700,000 

 

1,000,000 

 

700,000 

September 9, 
2022 

November 7, 
2022 

September 9, 
2023 

November 7, 
2023 

$0.13 

 

$0.10 

$0.125 

 

$0.09 

$0.15 

 

$0.15 

http://www.sedar.com/
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10.  DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1  Description of the Company’s Securities 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares without par value. As at the date of this Annual 
Listing Statement, there are 148,561,969 Shares issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable. A further 
40,727,769 Shares have been reserved and allotted for issuance upon the due and proper exercise of the 
Company’s currently outstanding stock options and warrants.  

The holders of Shares are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the Board. The holders of the Shares 
are also entitled to one vote per Share at meetings of the shareholders and, upon liquidation, to share equally in 
such assets of the Company as are distributable to the holders of Shares. 

In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or other 
distribution of assets or property of the Company amongst its Shareholders for the purpose of winding up its 
affairs, Shareholders shall be entitled to receive all property and assets of the Company properly distributable to 
the Shareholders. 

The holders of the Shares shall be entitled to vote at all meetings of the Shareholders of the Company and at all 
such meetings each such holder has one (1) vote for each Share held. 

There are no pre-emptive rights, no conversion or exchange rights, no redemption, retraction, purchase for 
cancellation or surrender provisions. There are no sinking or purchase fund provisions, no provisions permitting or 
restricting the issuance of additional securities or any other material restrictions, and there are no provisions 
which are capable of requiring a security holder to contribute additional capital. 

10.2 – 10.6  Miscellaneous Securities Provisions 

None of the matters set out in sections 10.2 to 10.6 of CSE Form 2A are applicable to the share structure of the 
Company. 

10.7  Prior Sales of Shares 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company did not close any private placements. 

In August 2022, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 34,653,465 units at a price of 
$0.101 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. Each unit consisted of one Share and one share purchase 
warrant which entitles the holder to purchase one additional Share of the Company at a price of $0.15 per share 
until August 29, 2027. In connection with this private placement, the Company issued 1,780,304 broker warrants 
exercisable at $0.15 per share and 144,000 broker warrants exercisable at $0.19 per share until August 29, 2027. 
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10.8  Stock Exchange Price 

The Company’s Shares are trading on CSE under the stock symbol “CRUZ”. The following table sets out the price 
ranges and trading volume of the Company’s Shares for the periods indicated:  

Period High ($) Low ($) Trading Volume 

Period from November 1 – November 25 0.115 0.085 1,733,852 

Period from October 1 – October 31 0.135 0.08 2,732,508 

Period from September 1 – September 30 0.145 0.10 2,402,585 

Period from August 1 – August 31 0.20 0.13 5,225,344 

Quarter ended July 31, 2022 0.245 0.10 10,149,188 

Quarter ended April 30, 2022 0.31 0.15 24,926,957 

Quarter ended January 31, 2022 0.34 0.165 125,822,503 

Quarter ended October 31, 2021 0.16 0.085 55,172,817 

Quarter ended July 31, 2021 0.11 0.08 23,468,750 

Quarter ended April 30, 2021 0.155 0.085 49,345,632 

Quarter ended January 31, 2021 0.175 0.04 61,989,149 

11.  ESCROWED SECURITIES  

11.1 Escrowed Securities 

To the knowledge of the Company, none of the Company’s Shares are currently held in escrow or under any 

escrow agreement.  

12.  PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS  

12.1  Principal Shareholders 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, no person or company will beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, shares of the Company carrying more than 10% of the 

voting rights attached to all outstanding shares of the Company. 
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13.  DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  

13.1 – 13.5 Directors and Officers  

The following table sets out the names, municipalities of residence, the number of voting securities beneficially 

owned, directly or indirectly, or over which each exercises control or direction, the offices held in the Company 

and the principal occupation of the directors and senior officers during the past five years:  

Name & Municipality of 
Residence and Position(1) 

Present Occupation and 
Positions Held During the 

Last Five Years(1) 

Period served as 
Director/ Officer 

and when his/her 
term with the 
Company will 

expire 

Number of 
Shares of the 

Company 
Owned(2) 

Percentage of 
Issued and 

Outstanding 
Shares of the 
Company(4) 

James Nelson(3) 
Coquitlam, BC 
 
CEO, Secretary and 
Director 

Self-employed businessman 
offering consulting services 
to public companies since 
1996  

Director from 
May 17, 2010 

to present. 
 

CEO and 
Secretary from 

April 24, 2015 to 
present. 

553,750 0.37% 

George Franklin Bain 
Arizona, U.S.A 
 
Director 

Private geological consultant. October 28, 2021 
to present. 

40,000 0.03% 

Negar Adm(3) 
Vancouver, BC 
 
Director 

Ms. Adam has been a 
director and officer of 
numerous Canadian public 
companies. Ms. Adam is self-
employed as a consultant 
and has offered consulting 
services to public companies 
since 1999. 

May 16, 2022 to 
present. 

40,000 0.03% 

Seth Kay(3) 
Vancouver, BC 
 
Director 

Self-employed businessman 
offering consulting services 
to public companies since 
2009. 

April 24, 2015 to 
present. 

700,000 0.47% 

Yangping (Cindy) Cai 
Vancouver, BC 
 
CFO 

Ms. Cai has been an officer 
of numerous Canadian public 
companies. Ms. Cai is self-
employed as a consultant 
and has offered accounting 
services to public companies 
since 2010. 

September 13, 
2010 to present. 

1,249,500 0.84% 

TOTAL    2,583,250 1.74% 
(1) The information as to province or state and country of residence and principal occupation, not being within the 

knowledge of the Company, has been furnished by the respective directors and officers individually. 
(2) The information as to shares beneficially owned or over which a director or officer exercises control or direction, not 

being within the knowledge of the Company, has been furnished by the respective directors and officers individually. 
(3) Member of the Audit Committee. 
(4) Percentage of Shares outstanding is based on 148,561,969 Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Annual 

Listing Statement, on an undiluted basis. 
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13.4 Committees 

The Company has an audit committee that is comprised of three members consisting of James Nelson, Negar 

Adam and Seth Kay. James Nelson is the Audit Committee Chair. Negar Adam and Seth Kay are independent 

members of the audit committee and James Nelson is not independent because he is the CEO and Secretary of the 

Company.  

13.6 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

No proposed director of the Company is, or within the ten years before the date of this Annual Listing Statement 
has been, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that: 

(a) was subject to an order that was issued while the proposed director was acting in the capacity as 
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

(b) was subject to an order that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be a director, chief 
executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while 
that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

No proposed director of the Company is, or within ten years before the date of this Annual Listing Statement, has 
been a director or an executive officer of any company that, while the person was acting in that capacity, or within 
a year of that person ceasing to act in the capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

13.7, 13.8 Penalties or Sanctions 

No proposed director of the Company has been subject to:  

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory 
authority; or  

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed 
director.  

13.9 Personal Bankruptcies 

No proposed director of the Company has, or within ten years before the date of this Annual Listing Statement, 
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcies or insolvency, or become subject 
to or instituted proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed director. 

13.10  Conflicts of Interest 

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Company also holding 
positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be directors and officers of 
the Company have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses 
and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the 
directors and officers of the Company will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be 
subject to the procedures and remedies provided under BCBCA. 
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13.11 Management 

James Nelson, age 46, CEO, Secretary and Director 

Mr. Nelson has been the CEO and Secretary of the Company since April 24, 2015 and a director of the Company 
since May 17, 2010. Mr. Nelson has been a director of Spearmint Resources Inc., a mineral exploration company 
listed on the CSE, from May 22, 2014 and as President and Corporate Secretary from November 18, 2016 to 
present. From November 9, 2021, Mr. Nelson also served as director of Jinhua Capital Corporation, a capital pool 
company listed on the NEX. From July 18, 2013 and October 3, 2017 respectively to February 18, 2020, Mr. Nelson 
served as director and Corporate Secretary of YDX Innovation Corp., a technology company listed on TSXV. Mr. 
Nelson has been a self-employed businessman from 1996 to present offering consulting services to public 
companies. 

Mr. Nelson will devote approximately 50% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting as 
the CEO, Secretary and as a director of the Company. Mr. Nelson is not a party to any employment, non-
competition or confidentiality agreement with the Company. 

George Franklin Bain, age 69, Director 

Mr. Bain has been a consulting mineral exploration geologist for more than 10 years. He has been a director of the 
Company from October 28, 2021 to present and Spearmint Resources Inc. from October 28, 2021 to present. Mr. 
Bain holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Geology from the Northern Arizona University and has been a 
Registered Professional Geoscientist for more than 25 years. 

Mr. Bain will devote approximately 50% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting as a 
director of the Company. Mr. Bain is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement 
with the Company. 

Negar Adam, age 49, Director 

Ms. Adam earned a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia and has a corporate finance 
background. Ms. Adam has been a director and officer of numerous Canadian public companies. In addition to 
previously sitting on the board of numerous companies, Ms. Adam is self‐employed as a consultant who offers 
consulting services to public companies. Ms. Adam’s years of experience with public companies has given her 
significant exposure to the preparation and review of financial statements and assistance with capital raising 
activities. 

Ms. Adam will devote the time necessary to perform the work required in connection with acting as a director of 
the Company. Ms. Adam is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the 
Company. 

Seth Kay, age 39, Director 
 

Mr. Kay has been a director of the Company since April 24, 2015 and a director of Edge Total Intelligence Inc. since 

January 10, 2019. He has been the COO of Spearmint Resources Inc. since October 11, 2018.  

Mr. Kay will devote approximately 33% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting as a 
director of the Company. Mr. Kay is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement 
with the Company. 
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Yangping (Cindy) Cai, age 51, CFO 
 
Ms. Cai has been the CFO of the Company since September 13, 2010. Ms. Cai is currently CFO of both Sienna 
Resources Inc., since August 18, 2010, and Spearmint Resources Inc., since October 8, 2013. From January 6, 2010 
to April 3, 2018, Ms. Cai served as CFO of Willow Bioscience Inc. Ms. Cai graduated with a Bachelor Degree in 
Electrical Engineering from Zhongshan University of China and she holds a diploma in Accounting from the 
University of British Columbia. She is a designated CPA in the United States.  

Ms. Cai will devote approximately 40% of her time to perform the work required in connection with acting as the 
CFO of the Company. Ms. Cai is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement with 
the Company.  

14. CAPITALIZATION 

14.1 Issued Capital  

As of November 21, 2022, the share capital of the Company on a non-diluted and fully-diluted basis will be as 
follows: 

Issued Capital  

Number of 
Securities (non-

diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 
% (non-
diluted) 

% (fully 
diluted) 

Public Float     

Total Outstanding (A)  148,561,969 189,289,738 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Issuer or Related Person of the Issuer, or by 
persons or companies who beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer (or who 
would beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of 
other securities held) (B) 2,583,250 5,033,250 1.7% 2.7% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 145,978,719 184,256,488 98.3% 97.3% 

Freely Tradable Float      

Number of outstanding securities subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other arrangements 
or in a shareholder agreement and securities 
held by control block holders (C) Nil Nil 0% 0% 

Total Tradable Float (A-C) 148,561,969 189,289,738 100% 100% 

*Figures are reported to the best of the knowledge of management of the Company. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) – as of November 21, 2022 

For the purposes of this table, “public securityholders” does not include persons enumerated in section (B) the 
Issued Capital table above: 

Shares    

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities - - 

100 – 499 securities  - - 

500 – 999 securities  - - 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  - - 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  - - 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  1 3,750 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  - - 

5,000 or more securities  44 145,974,969 

TOTAL 45 145,978,719 

 

*Information determined to the best of the Company’s knowledge from information provided by its registrar and 

transfer agent. 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) – as of November 21, 2022   

For the purposes of this table, “public securityholders” does not include persons enumerated in section (B) the 
Issued Capital table above: 

Shares    

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 299 11,054 

100 – 499 securities  674 158,668 

500 – 999 securities  453 296,549 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  762 925,946 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  501 1,118,499 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  287 929,800 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  209 890,573 

5,000 or more securities  1,963 104,349,007 

TOTAL 5,148 108,680,096 

*Information determined to the best of the Company’s knowledge from information provided by its registrar and 
transfer agent and from previously obtained information from Broadridge. 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered and Beneficial) – as of November 21, 2022 

For the purposes of this chart, “non-public securityholders” are persons enumerated under (B) in the Issued Capital 
table above. 

Shares    

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities - - 

100 – 499 securities  - - 

500 – 999 securities  - - 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  - - 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  - - 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  - - 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  - - 

5,000 or more securities  5 2,583,250 

TOTAL 5 2,583,250 

14.2 Convertible / Exchangeable Securities 

As at the date of the Annual Listing Statement, the following table sets out information regarding any securities 

convertible or exchangeable into any class of listed securities: 

Description of Security 
Number of Convertible / Exchangeable 

Securities Outstanding 
Number of Listed Securities Issuable 

Upon Conversion / Exercise 

Stock Options 4,150,000 4,150,000 

Warrants 36,577,769 36,577,769 

14.3 Other Listed Securities 

The Company has no other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 14.1 or 14.2. 
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15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

15.1 Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors 

General  

For the purpose of this Statement of Executive Compensation:  

“compensation securities” includes stock options, convertible securities, exchangeable securities and similar 
instruments including stock appreciation rights, deferred share units and restricted stock units granted or issued by 
the Company or one of its subsidiaries (if any) for services provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly to the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries (if any);  

“NEO” or “named executive officer” means:  

(a) each individual who served as CEO of the Company, or who performed functions similar to a CEO, 
during any part of the most recently completed financial year,  

(b) each individual who served as CFO of the Company, or who performed functions similar to a CFO, 
during any part of the most recently completed financial year,  

(c) the most highly compensated executive officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (if any) 
other than individuals identified in paragraphs (a) and (b) at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year whose total compensation was more than $150,000 for that financial 
year, and  

(d) each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was 
neither an executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries (if any), nor acting in a similar 
capacity, at the end of that financial year;  

“plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization or arrangement, whether or not set out in any formal document, 
where cash, compensation securities or any other property may be received, whether for one or more persons; 
and  

“underlying securities” means any securities issuable on conversion, exchange or exercise of compensation 
securities.  

Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, excluding Compensation Securities  

The following table sets forth all direct and indirect compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given or 
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any subsidiary thereof to each NEO and each director 
of the Company, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and 
indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, 
awarded, granted, given or otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provided and for services to be 
provided, directly or indirectly, to the Company or any subsidiary thereof:  
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Name 
and 

Position 

Year 

Ended 
July 

31st 

Salary, 
Consulting 

Fee, 
Retainer or 
Commission  

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 

($) 

Value of 
Perquisites(1)  

($) 

Value of All 
Other 

Compensation  

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

James Nelson(2) 
President, CEO, 
Secretary and Director 

2022 
2021 

55,300(3) 
66,300(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

55,300 

66,300 

Cindy Cai(4) 
CFO  

2022 
2021 

61,300(5) 
73,800(5) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

61,300 
73,800 

Gregory Thomson(6) 
Former Director 

2022 
2021 

Nil(3) 
2,500(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
2,500 

Seth Kay (7) 
Director 

2022 
2021 

55,300(3) 
65,300(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

55,300 

65,300 

George Franklin Bain (8) 
Director 

2022 
2021 

2,500(3) 
Nil(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

2,500 

Nil 

Negar Adam (9) 
Director 

2022 
2021 

1,500(3) 
Nil(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

1,500 

Nil 

(1) “Perquisites” include perquisites provided to an NEO or director that are not generally available to all 
employees and that, in aggregate, are: (a) $15,000, if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is 
$150,000 or less, (b) 10% of the NEO or director’s salary for the financial year if the NEO or director’s total 
salary for the financial year is greater than $150,000 but less than $500,000, or (c) $50,000 if the NEO or 
director’s total salary for the financial year is $500,000 or greater. 

(2) James Nelson was appointed a director on May 17, 2010. Mr. Nelson was appointed as the President, CEO and 
Secretary on April 24, 2015.   

(3) Management and director’s fees.  
(4) Cindy Cai was appointed as the CFO on September 13, 2010. 
(5) Accounting fees.  
(6) Gregory Thomson was appointed a director on July 8, 2013. Mr. Thomson resigned on October 28, 2021.  
(7) Seth Kay was appointed a director on April 24, 2015. 
(7) George Franklin Bain was appointed a director on October 28, 2021. 
(7) Negar Adam was appointed a director on May 16, 2022. 

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities  
 
The following table sets out all compensation securities granted or issued to each director and NEO by the 
Company or any subsidiary thereof in the year ended July 31, 2022 for services provided, or to be provided, 
directly or indirectly, to the Company or any subsidiary thereof: 
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Name and 
Position 

Type of 
Compensation 

Security 

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, 
Number of 
Underlying 

Securities and 
Percentage of 

Class 
Date of Issue 

or Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 

Price 

Closing Price 
of Security or 

Underlying 
Security on 

Date of 
Grant 

Closing Price 
of Security or 

Underlying 
Security at 
Year End 

Expiry 
Date 

James 
Nelson(1) 
CEO, 
Secretary, 
and 
Director 

Stock Options 
1,400,000 / 

1.3% 
November 2, 

2021 
$0.30 $0.30 $0.15 

November 
2, 2022 

Cindy Cai(2) 
CFO  Stock Options 600,000 / * 

November 2, 
2021 

$0.30 $0.30 $0.15 
November 

2, 2022 

Gregory 
Thomson(3) 
Former 
Director  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Seth Kay(4) 

Director Stock Options 
1,400,000 / 

1.3% 
November 2, 

2021 
$0.30 $0.30 $0.15 

November 
2, 2022 

George 
Franklin 
Bain(5) 

Director 

Stock Options 600,000 / * 
November 2, 

2021 
$0.30 $0.30 $0.15 

November 
2, 2022 

Negar 
Adam(6) 

Director 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

* Represents less than 1% of the issued and outstanding common shares.  

(1) As of July 31, 2022, James Nelson held 1,400,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.30 per Share until 
expiry on November 2, 2022. 

(2) As of July 31, 2022, Cindy Cai held 600,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.30 per Share until expiry 
on November 2, 2022. 

(3) As of July 31, 2022, Gregory Thomson did not hold any stock options. 
(4) As of July 31, 2022, Seth Kay held 1,400,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.30 per Share until expiry 

on November 2, 2022. 
(5) As of July 31, 2022, George Franklin Bain held 600,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.30 per Share 

until expiry on November 2, 2022. 
(6) As of July 31, 2022, Negar Adam did not hold any stock options. 

Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs  

The following table sets out all compensation securities exercised by directors and NEOs in the year ended July 31, 
2022: 
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Name and 

Position 

Type of 

Compensation 

Security 

Number of Underlying 

Securities Exercised 

Exercise 

Price Per 

Security 

($) Date of Exercise 

Closing 

Price per 

Security on 

Date of 

Exercise 

($) 

Difference 

Between 

Exercise Price 

and Closing 

Price on the 

Date of 

Exercise 

($) 

Total Value 

on Exercise 

Date 

($) 

James Nelson 

CEO & Director 
Stock Options 600,000 0.075 February 1, 2022 0.26 0.185 111,000 

Seth Kay 

Director 
Stock Options 600,000 0.075 February 1, 2022 0.26 0.185 111,000 

Cindy Cai 

CFO 
Stock Options 1,000,000 0.075 February 1, 2022 0.26 0.185 185,000 

Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and Other Incentive Plans  

The Company implemented an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Equity Incentive Plan”) effective May 
2022, which superseded a previous stock option plan. The 2022 Equity Incentive Plan provides the grant of stock 
options, restricted share units (“RSUs”), deferred share units (“DSUs”), and performance share units (“PSUs”) to 
directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. As at the date of the Annual Listing Statement, 
there are 4,150,000 stock options and 8,820,000 RSUs outstanding under the 2022 Equity Incentive Plan.  

A copy of the 2022 Equity Incentive Plan is available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and 
at the office of the Company at Suite 2905 – 700 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8 or at 
the registered records offices of the Company, at 800 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 
3H1 during normal business hours. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements  

The Company does not have any employment, consulting or management agreements or arrangements with any 
of the Company’s current NEOs or directors.  

Oversight and Description of Director and NEO Compensation  

The Company’s compensation program is intended to attract, motivate, reward and retain the management talent 
needed to achieve the Company’s business objectives of improving overall corporate performance and creating 
long-term value for the Company’s shareholders. The compensation program is intended to reward executive 
officers on the basis of individual performance and achievement of corporate objectives, including the 
advancement of the exploration and development goals of the Company. The Company’s current compensation 
program is comprised of base salary or fees, short term incentives such as discretionary bonuses and long term 
incentives such as stock options. 

The Company’s board of directors has not created or appointed a compensation committee given the Company’s 
current size and stage of development. All tasks related to developing and monitoring the Company’s approach to 
the compensation of the Company’s NEOs and directors are performed by the members of the board of directors. 
The compensation of the NEOs, directors and the Company’s employees or consultants, if any, is reviewed, 

file://///cwapp/vol1/home/AJF/NRPortbl/Client/AJF/www.sedar.com%20
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recommended and approved by the board of directors without reference to any specific formula or criteria. NEOs 
that are also directors of the Company are involved in discussion relating to compensation, and disclose their 
interest in and abstain from voting on compensation decisions relating to them, as applicable, in accordance with 
the applicable corporate legislation.  

Pension Plan Benefits  

The Company does not have any pension, defined benefit, defined contribution, or deferred compensation plans in 
place.  

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  

No director or officer of the Company, or person who acted in such capacity in the last financial year, or any other 
individual who at any time during the most recently completed financial year of the Company was a director of the 
Company or any associate of the Company, is indebted to the Company, nor is any indebtedness of any such 
person to another entity the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding provided by the Company.  

17. RISK FACTORS  

17.1 Description of Risk Factors 

An investment in the Company involves a number of risks. You should carefully consider the following risks and 
uncertainties in addition to other information in this report in evaluating the Company and our business before 
making any investment decision in regards to the shares of the Company’s Shares. The Company’s business, 
operating and financial condition could be harmed due to any of the following risks. The risks described below are 
not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks not presently known to us may also impair its business 
operations. 

Risks Relating to our Financial Condition 

The Company has had a history of losses and minimal revenue to date, which trend may continue and may 
negatively impact its ability to achieve its business objectives. 

The Company has experienced net losses since inception, and expects to continue to incur substantial losses for 
the foreseeable future. As of July 31, 2022, the Company had accumulated losses of $21,113,153 since inception. 
Management expects the business to continue to experience negative cash flow for the foreseeable future and 
cannot predict when, if ever, the Company’s business might become profitable. The Company will require 
additional financing in order to conduct its future work programs on the exploration and evaluation assets, meet 
its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they come due. If the Company is unable to 
raise funds on acceptable terms, the Company may not be able to execute its business plan, take advantage of 
future opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements. This may seriously harm 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The Company’s proposed operations require significant capital expenditures for which the Company may not have 
sufficient funding and if the Company does obtain additional financing, its existing shareholders may suffer 
substantial dilution. 

The Company intends to make capital expenditures far in excess of its existing capital resources to acquire and 
explore its mineral properties. The Company intends to rely on external sources of financing to meet its capital 
requirements to continue acquiring, exploring and developing mineral properties and to otherwise implement its 
business plan. The Company plans to obtain such funding through the debt and equity markets, but the Company 
can offer no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain additional funding when it is required or that it will 
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be available to the Company on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any additional equity 
financing may involve substantial dilution to our then existing shareholders. 

Risk Factors Associated with the Business of the Company 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company faces a 

high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration companies and 

the high rate of failure of such enterprises. The likelihood of success must be considered in light of the problems, 

expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the exploration program that the 

Company intends to undertake on its properties and any additional properties that may be acquired. These 

potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to exploration, and additional costs and expenses that 

may exceed current estimates. The expenditures to be made by the Company in the exploration of its properties 

may not result in the discovery of mineral deposits. Any expenditure that the Company may make in the 

exploration of any other mineral property that it may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially 

exploitable mineral deposits. Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions 

are involved in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful exploration efforts. If the results of the 

Company’s exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon some 

or all of its property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that exploration 

activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the Company’s current properties or 

any other additional properties it may acquire. 

 

The Company intends to continue exploration on its current properties and it may or may not acquire additional 

interests in other mineral properties. The search for mineral deposits as a business is extremely risky. The 

Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on its current properties, or any other property 

that it may acquire, will establish that any commercially exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist. Additional 

potential problems may prevent the Company from discovering any mineral deposits. These potential problems 

include unanticipated problems relating to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current 

estimates. If the Company is unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on its properties, its ability to 

fund future exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably and investors 

may lose all of their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the Company 

may incur liability or damages as it conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards. As a result, the Company may become subject to 

liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company cannot insure 

or against which it may elect not to insure. At the present time the Company has no coverage to insure against 

these hazards. The payment of such liabilities may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 

position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the Company and 

even if it discovers and exploits mineral deposits, the Company may never become commercially viable and it may 

be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company’s control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the Company 
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explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, royalties, land 

tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation. These factors cannot be accurately predicted and any 

one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested 

capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial performance and the Company’s ability 

to continue operations. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause substantial delays 

or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to federal, state/provincial, and local laws, regulations and 

policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge of materials 

into the environment. Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to federal, state/provincial, and local 

laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by regulating the design and use of 

drilling methods and equipment.  

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by federal, state/provincial, or local authorities may be changed 

and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may increase its costs of 

doing so, which would have material adverse effects on its business. Moreover, compliance with such laws may 

cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on 

the Company. Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages 

that it may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other reasons. Any 

laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, applied or interpreted 

in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company’s ability to carry on its business. 

Title to mineral properties is a complex process and the Company may suffer a material adverse effect in the event 
one or more of its property interests are determined to have title deficiencies. 

Acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the area of, 

mineral properties may be disputed. The Company cannot give an assurance that title to its properties will not be 

challenged or impugned. Mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer histories that examiners cannot 

verify. A successful claim that the Company does not have title to one or more of its properties could cause the 

Company to lose any rights to explore, develop and mine any minerals on that property, without compensation for 

its prior expenditures relating to such property. 

Aboriginal Land Claims 

Some of the Company’s properties, located in Canada, may now or in the future be the subject of Aboriginal land 

claims. The legal nature of Aboriginal land claims is a matter of considerable complexity. The impact of any such 

claim on the Company’s material interest in its Canadian properties and/or potential ownership interest in those 

properties in the future, cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty and no assurance can be given that a 

broad recognition of Aboriginal rights in the area in which its Canadian properties are located, by way of a 

negotiated settlement or judicial pronouncement, would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s activities. 

Even in the absence of such recognition, the Company may at some point be required to negotiate with and seek 

the approval of holders of Aboriginal interests in order to facilitate exploration and development work on such 

properties, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to establish a practical working relationship with 

the First Nations in the area which would allow it to ultimately develop the said properties. 

Many lands in Canada and elsewhere are or could become subject to Aboriginal land claim to title, which could 

adversely affect the Company’s title to its properties. 
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The Company has a very small management team and the loss of any member of the team may prevent the 

Company from implementing its business plan in a timely manner. 

 

The Company has two executive officers and a limited number of additional consultants upon whom its success 

largely depends. The Company does not maintain key person life insurance policies on its executive officers or 

consultants, the loss of which could seriously harm its business, financial condition and results of operations. In 

such an event, the Company may not be able to recruit personnel to replace its executive officers or consultants in 

a timely manner, or at all, on acceptable terms. 

 

Because the Company’s property interests may not contain mineral deposits and the Company has never made a 

profit from operations, its securities are highly speculative and investors may lose all of their investment in the 

Company. 

 

The Company’s securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its business 

and the stage of operations. The Company currently has exploration stage property interests which may not 

contain mineral deposits. The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other mineral properties 

but it does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties as of the date of this report. 

Accordingly, the Company has not generated significant revenues nor has it realized a profit from its operations to 

date and there is little likelihood that it will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term. Any 

profitability in the future from its business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting mineral deposits on its 

current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that it may acquire. The likelihood that any 

mineral properties that it may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits 

is extremely remote. The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to its current properties or any 

other area, or it may do so and still not be commercially successful if it is unable to exploit those mineral deposits 

profitably. 

 

As the Company faces intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, it will have to 

compete with its competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

The Company’s competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with 

greater financial and technical resources than it has. As a result of this competition, the Company may have to 

compete for financing and be unable to acquire financing on terms it considers acceptable. The Company may also 

have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment and retention of qualified managerial and 

technical employees. If the Company is unable to successfully compete for financing or for qualified employees, its 

exploration programs may be slowed down or suspended, which may cause it to cease operations as a company. 

 

The Company’s future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if it does not obtain such financing, it 

may have to cease exploration activities and investors could lose their entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate positive cash flow in the future.  

The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and development of its 

properties. The Company will also require additional financing for the fees it must pay to maintain its status in 

relation to the rights to its properties and to pay the fees and expenses necessary to operate as a public company. 

The Company will also need more funds if the costs of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than it has 

anticipated. The Company will require additional financing to sustain its business operations if it is not successful in 

earning revenues. The Company will also need further financing if it decides to obtain additional mineral 

properties. The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing and it may not be able to 

obtain financing when required. The Company’s future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing. If the 

Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail and investors could lose their entire investment. 
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Complying with environmental and other government regulations could be costly and could negatively impact the 

Company’s production. 

 

The Company’s business is governed by numerous laws and regulations at various levels of government in both 

Canada and the United States. These laws and regulations govern the operation and maintenance of our mineral 

claims and mineral properties, the discharge of materials into the environment and other environmental 

protection issues. Such laws and regulations may, among other potential consequences, require that the Company 

acquire permits before commencing mining operations and restrict the substances that can be released into the 

environment. 

 

Under these laws and regulations, the Company could be liable for personal injury, clean-up costs and other 

environmental and property damages, as well as administrative, civil and criminal penalties. Prior to 

commencement of mining operations, the Company may secure limited insurance coverage for sudden and 

accidental environmental damages as well as environmental damage that occurs over time. However, the 

Company does not believe that insurance coverage for the full potential liability of environmental damages is 

available at a reasonable cost. 

 

Accordingly, the Company could be liable, or could be required to cease production on properties, if environmental 

damage occurs. 

 

The costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations in the future may harm its business. Furthermore, 

future changes in environmental laws and regulations could result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger 

fines and liability, and increased capital expenditures and operating costs, any of which could have a material 

adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations. 

 

Risks Related to its Shares 

Because the Company does not intend to pay any cash dividends on its Shares in the near future, its shareholders 

will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them. 

 

The Company intends to retain any future earnings to finance the development and expansion of its business. The 

Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends on its Shares in the near future. The declaration, payment 

and amount of any future dividends will be made at the discretion of the board of directors, and will depend upon, 

among other things, the results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, operating and capital 

requirements, and other factors as the board of directors considers relevant. There is no assurance that future 

dividends will be paid, and if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect to the amount of any such 

dividend. Unless the Company pays dividends, its shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares 

unless they sell them. 

 

A decline in the price of the Company’s Shares could affect its ability to raise further working capital and adversely 

impact its ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company’s Shares could result in a reduction in the liquidity of its Shares 

and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of its operations have been and will be 

financed through the sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of its Shares could be especially detrimental to 

its liquidity and its operations. Such reductions may force the Company to reallocate funds from other planned 

uses and may have a significant negative effect on its business plan and operations, including its ability to develop 

new products and continue its current operations. If its stock price declines, the Company can offer no assurance 
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that the Company will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds from operations sufficient to meet its 

obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the future, the Company may not be able to have 

the resources to continue its normal operations. 

 

The market price for its Shares may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed expectations of analysts or 

investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a material adverse effect on the market 

price of its Shares. 

17.2 Additional Securityholder Risk 

There is no risk that securityholders of the Company may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond 
the price of the security. 

17.3 Other Risks 

Subject to the risk factors set out under Part 17.1 above, there are no other material risk factors that a reasonable 
investor would consider relevant to an investment in the Company’s Shares. 

18. PROMOTER 

18.1 – 18.2 Promoter Consideration  

The Company is not aware of any person who could be characterized as a promoter of the Company within the 
two years immediately preceding the date of this Annual Listing Statement.  

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

19.1  Legal Proceedings 

There are no legal proceedings material to the Company to which the Company is a party or of which any of its 
property is the subject matter, and there are no such proceedings known to the Company to be contemplated.  

19.2  Regulatory Actions 

The Company is not subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by any court or regulatory authority relating to 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority, nor has the Company entered into a settlement 
agreement with a securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a 
court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that are necessary to provide full, true and plain disclosure of 
all material facts relating to the Company’s securities or would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision.  

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS  

Other than as disclosed in this Annual Listing Statement, no director, officer, proposed management nominee for 
director or person who, to the knowledge of the directors or officers of the Company, beneficially owns, directly or 
indirectly, or exercises control or direction over more than 10% of the votes attached to all outstanding Shares of 
the Company, informed person or any Associate or Affiliate of the foregoing has any material interest, direct or 
indirect, in any transaction since the Company’s inception or in any proposed transaction, which, in either case, 
has materially affected or will materially affect the Company. See Item 12 – Principal Shareholders. 
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21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS  

21.1 Auditor 

The auditor for the Company is Davidson & Company LLP (the “Auditor”), at its office located at Suite 1200 – 609 
Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. The Auditor is the independent registered certified auditor of the 
Company and was appointed on July 5, 2011. 

21.2  Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The registrar and transfer agent of the Company’s Shares is Computershare Investor Services Inc., at its Vancouver 
office located at 510 Burrard Street, 3rd Floor, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3B9. 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

22.1 Material Agreements 

The Company has not entered into any material contracts within the two years before the date of this Annual 
Listing Statement, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business and disclosed in this Annual 
Listing Statement. 

22.2 Special Agreements 

This section is not applicable to the Company.  

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS  

23.1 Interest of Experts 

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or 
company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Annual Listing Statement or as having 
prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Annual Listing Statement holds any 
beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of 
the Company and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, senior officer or 
employee of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Company and no such person is a promoter of the 
Company or an Associate or Affiliate of the Company. The Auditor is independent of the Company in accordance 
with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. The Author of 
the Technical Report is independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS  

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Annual Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the 
Company and its securities which are necessary in order for this Annual Listing Statement to contain full, true and 
plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Company and its respective securities. 

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

25.1 Financial Statements of the Company 

The Company’s financial statements for the years ended July 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, are attached in Appendix 1 
to the Annual Listing Statement and are also available on the SEDAR website under the Company’s profile at 
www.sedar.com. 
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SCHEDULE A - CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Cruz Battery Metals Corp. hereby applies for the 
listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material information relating to Cruz Battery Metals Corp. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and 
does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that 
is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia this 28th day of November, 2022. 

 

 

 

 “James Nelson”                                                      

JAMES NELSON 

Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Director 

 

 

 

“Cindy Cai”                                                

CINDY CAI 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

 

 “George Franklin Bain”                                         

GEORGE FRANKLIN BAIN 

Director 

 

 

 

“Negar Adam”                                             

NEGAR ADAM 

Director 

 

 

 

 “Seth Kay         ”                                                      

SETH KAY 

Director 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of 
Cruz Battery Metals Corp. 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (the “Company”), which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at July 31, 2022 and 2021, and the consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at July 31, 2022 and 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a loss of 
$2,179,357 during the year ended July 31, 2022 and, has an accumulated deficit of $21,113,153 since its inception. As stated 
in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
  



 

 
 
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 
control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

  



 

 
 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Carmen Newnham. 
 
 

 
 
 
Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
November 28, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 ASSETS July 31, 
 2022 

July 31, 
 2021 

   
Current assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents – Note 4 $ 122,630 $ 1,359,131 
 Receivables – Note 5  3,818  15,014 
 Prepaid expenses  1,373  13,072 
Total current assets  127,821  1,387,217 
   
Non-current assets   
 Property and equipment – Note 6  27,979  35,023 
 Rent deposit  24,590  24,590 
 Right-of-use asset – Note 7  257,886  307,799 
 Security deposits – Note 8  22,827  - 
 Exploration and evaluation assets – Note 8  2,878,925  2,456,138 
   
Total assets $ 3,340,028 $ 4,210,767 

   
LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities   
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – Notes 9 and 12 $ 245,230 $ 247,126 
 Interest payable  8,350  8,350 
 Lease liability – Note 7  43,188  38,689 
 296,768 294,165 
   
Non-current liabilities   
     Lease liability – Note 7  238,374  281,562 
 
Total liabilities  

 
 535,142 

 
 575,727 

   
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

   
Share capital – Note 10  21,305,399  20,795,366 
Reserves – Note 10  2,612,640  1,773,470 
Accumulated deficit  (21,113,153)  (18,933,796) 
   
Total shareholders’ equity   2,804,886  3,635,040 
   
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 3,340,028 $ 4,210,767 
   

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 
Subsequent Events (Note 18) 
 
APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:   
   

“Seth Kay” Director  “James Nelson” Director 
Seth Kay   James Nelson  

   
 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

   
 

  

 Years ended July 31, 
 2022 2021 
   
Operating expenses   
 Consulting $ 84,000 $ 84,000 
 Corporate branding  132,418  41,413 
 Depreciation – Notes 6 and 7  56,957  47,464 
 Management and directors’ fees – Note 12  114,600  134,100 
 Office and miscellaneous   68,508  89,112 
 Professional fees – Note 12  99,423  126,187 
 Shareholder information  23,819  17,024 
 Share-based payments – Notes 10 and 12  969,145  167,709 
 Transfer agent and filing fees  26,237  22,480 
 Travel  4,302  10,930 
   
  (1,579,409)  (740,419) 
   
 Interest income  2,037  12,678 
 Interest expense   -  (8,350) 
 Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 8  (601,985)  (151,065) 
   
   (599,948)  (146,737) 
   
Loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (2,179,357) $ (887,156) 
   
Loss per share – basic and diluted – Note 11 $           (0.02) $           (0.01) 
   
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 
– Note 11  110,515,778  94,014,890 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Years ended July 31, 
 2022 2021 
   
Operating Activities   
 Loss for the year $ (2,179,357) $ (887,156) 
 Adjustments for non-cash items:   
  Depreciation 56,957 47,464 
        Accrued interest on flow-through tax - 8,350 
        Interest expense 27,258 25,235 
        Share-based payments 969,145  167,709 
  Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets  601,985  151,065 
   
 Changes in non-cash working capital items:   
  Receivables  11,196  32,591 
  Prepaid expenses  11,699  24,079 
  Rent deposit - 5,030 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (14,678)  30,219 
   
Cash used in operating activities  (515,795)  (395,414) 
   
Investing Activities   
 Acquisition of property and equipment - (40,893) 
 Exploration and evaluation assets  (1,011,990)  (221,384) 
 Security deposits  (22,827)  - 
   
Cash used in investing activities  (1,034,817)  (262,277) 
   
Financing Activities   
 Proceeds from issuance of share capital  382,823  399,468 
 Share issue costs  (2,765)  - 
 Repayment of lease liability  (65,947)  (54,377) 
   
Cash provided by financing activities  314,111  345,091 
   
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year  (1,236,501)  (312,600) 
   
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  1,359,131  1,671,731 
   
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $         122,630 $      1,359,131 

 
 
 
 

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows (Note 17) 
 
 
 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Share Capital  Accumulated  
 Number of shares Amount Reserves Deficit Total 
      
Balance, July 31, 2020  83,472,697 $ 19,235,578 $ 1,641,081 $ (18,046,640) $ 2,830,019 
 For exploration and evaluation assets  16,000,000  1,125,000  -  -  1,125,000 
 Share purchase warrants exercised  5,219,355  260,968  -  -  260,968 
 Stock options exercised  1,950,000  138,500  -  -  138,500 
 Stock options issued  -  -  167,709  -  167,709 
 Transfer of reserves on options exercised  -  35,320  (35,320)  -  - 
 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (887,156)  (887,156) 
Balance, July 31, 2021  106,642,052  20,795,366  1,773,470  (18,933,796)  3,635,040 
 Share purchase warrants exercised  3,006,452  150,323  -  -  150,323 
 Share issue costs  -  (2,765)  -  -  (2,765) 
 Stock options exercised  3,100,000  232,500  -  -  232,500 
 Stock options issued  -  -  969,145  -  969,145 
 Transfer of reserves on options exercised  -  129,975  (129,975)  -  - 
 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (2,179,357)  (2,179,357) 
Balance, July 31, 2022  112,748,504 $ 21,305,399 $ 2,612,640 $ (21,113,153) $ 2,804,886 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  
 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (the “Company”) is an exploration stage public company and is 
listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE ") under the symbol "CRUZ". The 
Company’s principal business activities include acquiring and exploring exploration and 
evaluation assets.  At July 31, 2022, the Company had exploration and evaluation assets located 
in Canada and the U.S.A.  
 
The Company’s head office and principal business address is Suite 2905, 700 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The Company’s registered and records office 
is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realization of assets and discharge 
of liabilities in the normal course of business. At July 31, 2022, the Company had not yet 
achieved profitable operations, incurred a loss of $2,179,357 during the year ended July 31, 
2022 and had an accumulated deficit of $21,113,153 since its inception. The Company expects 
to incur further losses in the development of its business. These material uncertainties may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company may 
require additional financing in order to conduct the planned work programs on its exploration 
and evaluation assets, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities 
as they come due. While the Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, 
there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Accordingly, these consolidated 
financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should 
the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  If the going concern assumption was 
not used, then the adjustments required to report the Company’s assets and liabilities on a 
liquidation basis could be material to these consolidated financial statements. 
 
In  March  2020,  the  World  Health  Organization  declared  coronavirus  COVID-19  a  global  
pandemic.  This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related 
adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and 
financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for 
the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its 
effects on the Company’s business or results of operations at this time. 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 

a) Statement of Compliance 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
November 28, 2022.   
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 
b) Basis of Measurement 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 
on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value.   

 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 
Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency. 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amount 
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period.  
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  
The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout these consolidated financial statements, 
and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical 
experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 
from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
 Whether or not an impairment has occurred in its exploration and evaluation assets; 
 The inputs used in the accounting for share-based payments expense; 
 The inputs used in the accounting for finders’ warrants and compensation options in share 

capital and equity reserves; and 
 There were no significant judgements for the years presented. 

 
c) Basis of Consolidation 

 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances, transactions, income and expenses have been 
eliminated upon consolidation. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

d) Subsidiaries  
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 
power over an investee, when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
the investee and when the Company has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the 
Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss 
of control. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 
to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 
 
The principal subsidiaries of the Company as of July 31, 2022 are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
Name of subsidiary 

 
 
 

Principal activity 

 
 
Place of 
Incorporation 

Ownership 
Interest 
July 31, 

2022 

Ownership 
Interest 
July 31, 

2021 
     
Cobalt Locaters Inc. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 
1205011 B.C. Ltd. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 
Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 
Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 
Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 
Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 
     

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
a) Foreign currency transactions 

 
Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation and 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, as follows:  
 
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign 
currency is translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date.  
At the reporting period end date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 
Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date and the related translation 
differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the 
retranslation of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 
in fair value and recognized in profit or loss.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary 
financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial 
instrument. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into 
Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction 
and are not subsequently restated.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

b) Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Pre-exploration costs 
 
Costs incurred prior to acquiring the right to explore an area of interest are expensed as 
incurred. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 
exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 
acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 
costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors during the exploration phase.  Costs 
not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 
administrative overhead costs, are expensed as incurred. 
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the 
Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to 
be impaired.  As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of 
estimated recoveries, are written off to profit or loss. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 
amount. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource 
has been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 
classified as “mines under construction”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested 
for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties. 
 
As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 
connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 
costs. 
 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
Tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subject to impairment tests 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 
be recoverable.  Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 
accordingly. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
impairment test is carried out on the assets’ cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group 
of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (continued) 
 
An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent it reverses gains 
previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.  Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior periods.  A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

d) Rehabilitation provision 
 
The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to 
environmental disturbances caused by exploration and evaluation activities.  The Company 
records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 
required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  
The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-
vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 
 
The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject 
to government laws and regulations.  When the liability is recognized, the present value of 
the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 
assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value 
based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 
 
Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 
as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which 
they occur.    
 
The Company does not have any significant rehabilitation obligations. 

  
e) Financial instruments 

 
Classification 
 
The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 
recognition. Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: 
amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), or fair value through other 
comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The classification of financial assets is generally based 
on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics. A financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as FVTPL: 

 
 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as FVTPL: 

 
 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity 
instruments that are held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them 
as FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 
above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 
recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 
the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured 
at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected 
to measure them at FVTPL. 
 
Under IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 

Receivables Amortized cost 

Deposits Amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 
 
Measurement 
 
Initial measurement 
 
On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value 
adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities 
classified as FVTPL, in which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial 
instruments: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 
method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as 
income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
Debt investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated 
using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized 
in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to 
profit or loss.  
 

Impairment of financial instruments 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the 
Company applies the expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected 
credit loss model there was no material adjustment. 
 
An expected credit loss impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be 
recognized based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash 
flows associated with the asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the 
difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with 
the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly 
or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or 
loss for the period.  
 
In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets 
measured at amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognized. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

f) Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 
items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 
recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 
and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
 

g) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 
 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 
shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 
allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value and then the 
residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

 
The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be 
the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined 
by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was 
allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 
a warrant reserve. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

h) Flow-through shares 
 

The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a 
significant portion of its exploration program.  Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through 
share agreements, these shares transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource 
expenditures to investors.  On issuance, the Company bifurcates the flow-through share 
into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay 
for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability; and ii) share capital.   
 
Upon expenses being renounced and incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and 
the premium is recognized as other income.  
 
Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only 
for Canadian resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period.   

 
The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced 
under the Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through 
regulations.  When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 

 
i) Property and equipment 

 
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of property and equipment consists of the 
purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for its intended use and an estimate of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. Depreciation is provided at 
rates calculated to expense the cost of equipment, less its estimated residual value, over the 
following expected useful lives: 
 
     Computer and office equipment  Straight-line over 3 years 
     Leasehold improvements  Straight-line over life of underlying contract 
 
Items of property and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from their use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is  
derecognized. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are 
reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted prospectively if appropriate. 
 

j) Investment tax credit 
 
Investment tax credits are recorded as either a reduction of the cost of applicable assets or 
credited in profit or loss depending on the nature of the expenditures which gave rise to 
the credits.  Claims for tax credits are accrued upon the Company attaining reasonable 
assurance of collections from the Canada Revenue Agency. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

k) Leases 
 
Lease definition 
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a 
lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. An identified asset may 
be implicitly specified in a contract, but must be physically distinct, and must not have the 
ability for substitution by a lessor. The Company has the right to control an identified asset 
if it obtains substantially all of its economic benefits and either pre-determines or directs 
how and for what purpose the asset is used.  
 
Measure of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease obligations  
 
At lease commencement, the Company recognizes a ROU asset and a lease obligation. The 
ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
obligation adjusted for any lease payments made at, or before, the commencement date, 
plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received.  
 
The ROU asset is subsequently amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
term of the lease, or the useful life of the asset determined on the same basis as the 
Company’s property and equipment. The ROU asset is periodically reduced by impairment 
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease obligation.  
 
The lease obligation is initially measured at the present value of lease payments remaining 
at the lease commencement date, discounted at either the rate implicit in the lease or using 
the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement 
of the lease obligation, when applicable, may comprise fixed payments, variable payments 
that depend on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee and the exercise price under a purchase, extension or termination option that the 
Company is reasonably certain to exercise.  
 
The lease obligation is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When 
the lease obligation is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the ROU asset.  
 
Recognition exemptions  
 
The Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease obligations for short-term 
leases that have a lease term of twelve months or less or for leases of low-value assets. 
Payments associated with these leases are recognized as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

l) Earnings (loss) per share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable 
to the common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 
calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 
common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments were 
converted. For the years presented, this calculation proved to be anti-dilutive. 
 

m) Share-based payments 
 
The Company implemented an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Plan”) 
effective May 2022, which superseded a previous stock option plan. The Equity Plan 
provides the grant of stock options, restricted share units (“RSUs”), deferred share units 
(“DSUs”), and performance share units (“PSUs”) to directors, officers, employees and 
consultants of the Company. 
 
An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is an employee for legal or 
tax purposes, or provides services similar to those performed by an employee. 
 
The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the 
shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.   
 
In situations where stock options are issued to non-employees and some or all of the goods 
or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they 
are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment, using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. 
 
The RSUs are valued at the fair market value of the Company’s stocks on the date of grant 
and recognized as share-based payments over the vesting periods, with a corresponding 
amount recognized as equity. 

 
4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  
 The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Canadian Dollars and  include 
 the following components: 
 

 July 31, 
2022 

July 31,  
2021 

   
Cash at bank  $       88,130 $     1,324,631 
Short-term deposits           34,500           34,500  
 $     122,630 $     1,359,131 
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5. RECEIVABLES 
  

The Company’s receivables comprise of goods and services tax (“GST”) receivable due from 
Canadian government taxation authorities, accrued interest on short-term deposits, and 
reimbursements from two public companies with directors in common for recoverable office 
expenses. 

 
 July 31, 

2022 
July 31, 

2021 
   
Related party receivable (Note 12) $ - $ 2,295 
GST recoverable  3,818  12,719 
   
Total receivables $ 3,818 $ 15,014 

 
All amounts are short-term and the net carrying value of receivables is considered a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.  The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and 
therefore no impairment has been recorded against receivables.  The Company’s receivables 
are all considered current and are not past due or impaired.  The Company does not possess 
any collateral related to these assets. 

 
6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
  
 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Computer & 
office equipment 

Total 

         $              $  $ 
Cost, July 31, 2020 - - - 
Additions 34,599 6,294 40,893 
Cost, July 31, 2021 and 2022 34,599 6,294 40,893 
Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2020  - - - 
Depreciation for the year 4,120 1,750 5,870 
Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2021 4,120 1,750 5,870 
Depreciation for the year 4,944 2,100 7,044 
Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2022 9,064 3,850 12,914 
Net book value, July 31, 2021 30,479 4,544 35,023 
Net book value, July 31, 2022 25,535 2,444 27,979 
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7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET AND LEASE LIABILITY 
  

Right-of-Use Asset 

 Office Leases 

Cost:     $       

At July 31, 2020 - 
Additions 349,393 

At July 31, 2021 and 2022 349,393 

Depreciation:  
At July 31, 2020 - 
Charge for the year 41,594 

At July 31, 2021 41,594 
Charge for the year 49,913 

At July 31, 2022 91,507 

Net book value:  
At July 31, 2021 307,799 

At July 31, 2022  257,886 

 
Lease Liability 

 $   

Lease liability recognized as of July 31, 2020  - 

Lease liability recognized for the year 349,393 
Lease payments made (54,377) 
Interest expense on lease liability 25,235 

At July 31, 2021 320,251 
Lease payments made (65,947) 
Interest expense on lease liability 27,258 

At July 31, 2022 281,562 
Less: current portion (43,188) 

Lease liability – long term  238,374 

 
The remaining minimum future lease payments, excluding estimated operating costs, for the 
terms of the lease including assumed renewal periods are as follows: 
 
 

 

          $    
Fiscal 2023 66,781  
Fiscal 2024 67,615  
Fiscal 2025 68,449  
Fiscal 2026 69,283  
Fiscal 2027 70,117  

Fiscal 2028 11,709  
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following mineral properties: 
 

 
BC War 

Eagle 
Cobalt 

 
BC  

Diamond 
Projects 

ON Hector 
Cobalt 

Prospect 

 
 

Other ON 
Cobalt 

Prospects 

 
 

Yukon 
Quartz 
Claims 

Idaho 
Cobalt 
Belt  

Project 

Idaho Star 
Cobalt 

Prospect 

Nevada Clayton 
Valley W. 

Lithium Property 

Nevada Solar 
Lithium 
Project 

 
 
 

Total 
Balance, July 31, 2020 $    12,090 $                  - $      704,135 $    464,082 $  16,763 $               - $        8,581 $         42,905 $                   - $  1,248,556 
Acquisition costs           
 Share issuance - 247,500 - - - 247,500 - - 630,000 1,125,000 
Deferred exploration expenditures           
 Claim maintenance fees - 14,165 - - - 26,225 894 2,889 - 44,173 
 Drilling - - 134,927 - - - - - - 134,927 
 Geological expenses - - 30,581 - - - - - - 30,581 
 Travel and misc - - 23,966 - - - - - - 23,966 
Write-down of exploration and 
evaluation assets 

- - - (151,065) - - - - - (151,065) 

Balance, July 31, 2021 12,090 261,665 893,609 313,017 16,763 273,725 9,475 45,794 630,000 2,456,138 
Acquisition costs           
 Staking - - - - - - - - 106,941 106,941 
Deferred exploration expenditures           
 Assay 1,585 - 8,911 - - - - - 30,215 40,711 
 Claim maintenance fees - - - - 210 25,216 855 2,766 90,306 119,353 
 Drilling - - - - - - - - 606,233 606,233 
 Geological expenses 7,500 - 1,019 - - - - - 74,802 83,321 
 Geological report 4,814 - 7,926 - - - - - - 12,740 
 Reclamation - - - - - - - - 10,659 10,659 
 Travel and misc 6,091 - 891 - - - - - 37,832 44,814 
Write-down of exploration and 
evaluation assets 

- (261,665) - (313,017) (16,973) - (10,330) - - (601,985) 

Balance, July 31, 2022 $    32,080 $                  - $    912,356 $               - $             - $    298,941 $               - $         48,560 $     1,586,988 $  2,878,925 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 
 
Title to Interests in Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 
Title to exploration and evaluation asset interests involves certain inherent risks due to the 
difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems 
arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many exploration 
and evaluation assets.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and 
evaluation assets and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good 
standing.  However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The concessions may 
be subject to prior claims, agreements or transfers, and rights of ownership may be affected by 
undetected defects. 
 
BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – Staking 
 
In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 
Columbia through staking. 

 
ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking 
 
On July 22, 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 100% of 
the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which held a 100% interest in two 
cobalt prospects in B.C. (the "Purcell Cobalt Prospect") and a 50% interest in four cobalt 
prospects in Ontario (the "Coleman Cobalt Prospect", the "Bucke Cobalt Prospect", the "Hector 
Cobalt Prospect", and the "Johnson Cobalt Prospect"). The Company paid $20,000 cash and 
issued 4,800,000 shares (valued at $816,000) to acquire Cobalt Locaters Inc. The acquisition 
costs had been split evenly between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 
2018 the Company decided to drop certain claims for the Purcell Cobalt Prospect and fully 
wrote of prior acquisition costs and exploration costs totaling $306,214. During the year ended 
July 31, 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario 
cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no cost. 
 
In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 
to increase the holdings in its Johnson Cobalt Prospect, Bucke Cobalt Prospect and Hector 
Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $19,500. 
 
In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 
increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $1,268. In November 
2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the Coleman Cobalt Prospect 
and fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the Coleman Cobalt Prospect 
totaling $151,065 as of July 31, 2021. 
 
In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 
(the “Lorraine Cobalt Prospect”) for through staking.  
 
During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company decided to drop all mineral claims for the 
Johnson, Bucke and Lorraine Cobalt Prospects, and fully wrote off prior carrying costs in the 
amount of $313,037. 
 
As at July 31, 2022, the Company holds a 100% interest in the Hector Cobalt Prospect.  
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 
 
Idaho Cobalt Belt Project – Share Purchase Agreement 
 
On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 
100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one 
cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and certain projects in B.C. 
(the “BC Diamonds Projects”). The Company issued 9,000,000 shares (valued at $495,000) 
pursuant to the agreement. The acquisition costs had been split evenly between the BC and 
Idaho properties. 
 
During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company decided to drop the BC Diamonds Projects 
and fully wrote off the previous carrying costs in the amount of $261,665. 
 
Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect – Purchase Agreement 
 
On September 15, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement, subsequently 
amended, to acquire a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, 
U.S.A. The Company issued 900,000 common shares (valued at $30,000).  

 
Nevada Solar Lithium Project – Share Purchase Agreement 
 
On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 100% of 
the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz Solar”), which through 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp., holds a 100% interest in 
certain lithium prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the “Solar Lithium Project”). The Company issued 
7,000,000 shares (valued at $630,000) pursuant to the agreement.  

 
During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral 
claims (the “Helios Claims”, the “Sun Claims” and the “Solar South Claims”) for staking costs 
of $106,941 to expand the size of its Solar Lithium Project. The Company also provided two 
security deposits totalling $22,827 in relation to the Solar Lithium Project. 
 
Yukon Quartz Claims – Purchase Agreement 

 
During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain quartz 
mineral claims located in the Yukon Territory.   
 
As at July 31, 2022, the Company decided to fully write off the previous carrying costs in the 
amount of $16,973. 

 
Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – Staking 
 
In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in 
Idaho, U.S.A. through staking. 

 
As at July 31, 2022, the Company decided to fully write off the previous carrying costs in the 
amount of $10,330. 
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9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities recognized in the statements of financial position 
consist of the following: 

  July 31, 
2022 

July 31, 
2021 

   
Trade payables $     50,030 $   52,426 
Accrued liabilities 195,200 194,700 
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $   245,230 $ 247,126 

 
10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 
Authorized:  An unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 
(a) Private placements 

 
During the years ended July 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not close any private 
placements.  
 

(b) Share purchase warrants 
 
The following is a summary of changes in share purchase warrants from July 31, 2020 to 
July 31, 2022: 
  Weighted Average 
 Number Exercise Price 
Balance, July 31, 2020  9,514,140 $0.05 
Exercised (5,219,355) $0.05 
Expired  (1,288,333) $0.07 
Balance, July 31, 2021  3,006,452 $0.05 
Exercised (3,006,452) $0.05 
Balance, July 31, 2022  - $0.05 
 
At July 31, 2022, there were Nil share purchase warrants outstanding.   

 
 (c) Share-based payments 

 
The Company has an Equity Plan effective May 2022, which superseded a previous stock 
option plan. The Equity Plan provides the grant of stock options, RSUs, DSUs, and PSUs. 
Under the Equity Plan, the maximum number of equity-based awards issued cannot exceed 
20% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares, as at the date of grant.   
 
Stock options 
 
In accordance with the Equity Plan, the exercise price of each option granted shall not be 
less than the market price of the Company's stock.  Options may be granted for a maximum 
term of ten years and vesting periods are determined by the Board of Directors.   
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10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 
 
 (c) Share-based payments (continued) 

 
The following is a summary of changes in share purchase options from July 31, 2020 to 
July 31, 2022: 
  Weighted Average 
 Number Exercise Price 
   
Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2020  5,000,000   $0.07 
Granted  4,000,000   $0.075 
Exercised  (1,950,000)   $0.07 
Expired  (3,450,000)   $0.07 
Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2021  3,600,000   $0.075 
Granted  7,000,000   $0.30 
Exercised  (3,100,000)   $0.075 
Forfeited  (500,000)   $0.075 
Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2022  7,000,000   $0.30 

 
As of July 31, 2022, 7,000,000 share purchase options were outstanding entitling the 
holders thereof the right to purchase one common share of the Company for each option 
held as follows: 
 

Number    
Outstanding and 

Exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date 
 

7,000,000 $0.30 November 2, 2022 (Note 18) 

 
During the year ended July 31, 2022, 3,100,000 stock options were exercised at a price of 
$0.075 per share for total proceeds of $232,500 (year ended July 31, 2021: 1,550,000 stock 
options were exercised at a price of $0.07 per share and 400,000 stock options were 
exercised at a price of $0.075 per share for total proceeds of $138,500). The previously 
recognized share-based payment expense relating to these stock options were reclassified 
from share-based payment reserve to share capital in the amount of $129,975 (year ended 
July 31, 2021: $35,320). 
 
During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company granted 7,000,000 stock options with 
an exercise price of $0.30 per share and an expiry date of November 2, 2022 (year ended 
July 31, 2021: 4,000,000 stock options were granted with an exercise price of $0.075 per 
share and an expiry date of January 14, 2022). The weighted average fair value of the 
options issued in the year ended July 31, 2022 was estimated at $0.14 (year ended July 31, 
2021: $0.04) per option at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
the following assumptions: 

  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
July 31, 2022 and 2021 – Page 19 
 

 

10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 
 
 (c) Share-based payments (continued) 

 
 Year ended 

July 31, 2022 
Year ended 

July 31, 2021 
   
Weighted average expected dividend yield                  0.0%                  0.0% 
Weighted average expected volatility *  122.16%  153.99% 
Weighted average risk-free interest rate                 1.04%                 0.16% 
Weighted average expected term  1 year  1 year 

 
* Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company’s  
   publicly traded shares. 
 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year 
ended July 31, 2022 were $969,145 (year ended July 31, 2021: $167,709). 
 
RSUs 
 
In accordance with the Equity Plan, the Company may grant RSUs to any participant in 
respect of services rendered by the applicable participant in a taxation year (the “RSU 
Service Year”). The number of RSUs awarded and underlying vesting terms are 
determined by the board of directors in its discretion.  
 
Upon settlement, participant s will redeem each vested RSU for the following at the election 
of such participant but subject to the approval of the board of directors: (a) one fully paid 
and non-assessable share in respect of each vested RSU, (b) a cash payment or (c) a 
combination of shares and cash. Any such cash payments made by the Company shall be 
calculated by multiplying the number of RSUs to be redeemed for cash by the market price 
per share as at the settlement date. Subject to the provisions of the Equity Plan and except 
as otherwise provided in an award agreement, no settlement date for any RSU shall occur, 
and no share shall be issued or cash payment shall be made in respect of any RSU any later 
than the final business day of the third calendar year following the applicable RSU Service 
Year.  
 
During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company did not grant any RSUs. 
 

11. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

 The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was based on the following data:  
 

 Year ended July 31,  
 2022 2021 
   
Loss $ (2,179,357) $ (887,156) 
   
Weighted average number of common shares for the    
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  110,515,778  94,014,890 
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11. LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 
 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of 
common share equivalents, such as stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  All of the stock 
options and share purchase warrants currently issued (see Note 10) were anti-dilutive for the 
years ended July 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended July 31, 2022 was $(0.02) (year ended July 
31, 2021: $(0.01)). 
 

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
  

 Key management personnel compensation 
 

Key management of the Company are directors and officers of the Company and their 
remuneration includes the following: 
 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2022 2021 
   

Management fees $ 114,600 $ 134,100 
Professional fees  61,300  73,800 
Share-based payments *  553,798  113,203 
   

 $ 729,698 $ 321,103 
 

 * Share-based payments are the fair value of options granted to key management personnel 
as at the grant date. 

 
 Related party balances 
 

At July 31, 2022, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $12,499 (July 31, 2021: 
$10,000) payable to four directors and one officer of the Company for unpaid fees. These 
amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 
 
At July 31, 2022, receivables include $Nil (July 31, 2021: $2,295) due from related parties for 
recoverable office expenses. 
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13. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
  

The Company operates in one business segment, being the acquisition and exploration of 
mineral properties.  The Company’s non-monetary assets are distributed by geographic 
location as follows: 
 

July 31, 2022 Canada U.S.A. Total 

  $ $ $ 
Exploration and evaluation assets        944,436      1,934,489      2,878,925  
Property and equipment          27,979                     -           27,979  
Right-of-use assets        257,886                     -         257,886  

Total assets     1,230,301      1,934,489      3,164,790  

    

July 31, 2021 Canada U.S.A. Total 

  $ $ $ 
Exploration and evaluation assets     1,497,144         958,994      2,456,138  
Property and equipment          35,023                     -           35,023  
Right-of-use assets        307,799                     -         307,799  

Total assets     1,839,966         958,994     2,798,960  
  
14. INCOME TAXES 

 
A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:  

 

    Years ended July 31, 

    2022 2021 

Loss before income taxes $ (2,179,357) $ (887,156) 

Expected income tax (recovery) $  (588,000) $  (239,000) 
Permanent difference 262,000 47,000 
Share issue costs (1,000) - 
Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory tax returns 50,000 (55,000) 
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 277,000  247,000  

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                   - $                  - 
 

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

    2022 2021 

Exploration and evaluation assets $     1,469,000  $     1,379,000  
Property and equipment  1,000  3,000  
Share issue costs  11,000  11,000  
Non-capital losses 2,956,000  2,767,000  

Net unrecognized deferred tax assets  $     4,437,000  $     4,160,000  
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14. INCOME TAXES 
 
No net deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the above for the years ended July 
31, 2022 and 2021 because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize 
such assets is not probable. 
 
The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 
$10,267,812 (2021: $9,563,821) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable 
income in future years. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2042. Non- capital 
losses for US income tax purposes are approximately $881,209 (2021: $871,297), these losses 
will carry forward indefinitely. 
 

15. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 
going concern to pursue the development of its exploration and evaluation assets and to 
maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of 
acceptable risk. In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of 
shareholders’ equity. 
 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 
its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt and acquire or dispose 
of assets.  As at July 31, 2022, the Company has not entered into any debt financing with any 
financial institution. 
 
The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and 
the Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior resource 
markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to these markets, and its ability 
to compete for investor support of its projects.  The Company is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the Company’s approach to capital 
management during the year ended July 31, 2022. 

 
16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 

 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 
value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either  
           directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
 
The fair value of the Company’s receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
approximates their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. The 
carrying value of the Company’s lease liability approximates its fair value due to being 
discounted with a rate of interest that approximates market rates. 
 
The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (continued) 
 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
  
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result 
of changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2022, the Company has a minimal 
exposure to the US$ that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the 
extent that transactions are made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be 
insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 

 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and deposits are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on 
cash and cash equivalents by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit 
worthiness. As at July 31, 2022, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. As at July 31, 2022, the Company is not 
exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
sufficient cash balances to enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company 
addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares 
and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company has been successful in securing 
financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.  The 
Company is exposed to liquidity risk. 
 
Price Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk 
is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity 
price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of 
precious metals and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken 
by the Company.  
 
Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does 
not believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign 
exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 
 

Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded 
from the statements of cash flows. The following transactions were excluded from the 
statements of cash flows: 
 
Year ended July 31, 2022: 

 
a) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $25,045 for exploration and 

evaluation assets. 
 

Year ended July 31, 2021: 
 

a) The Company issued 9,000,000 common shares valued at $495,000 pursuant to the SPA 
for the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects and the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project. 

 
b) The Company issued 7,000,000 common shares valued at $630,000 pursuant to the Solar 

SPA for the acquisition of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project. 
 
c) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $12,263 for exploration and 

evaluation assets. 
 
18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
Subsequent to July 31, 2022, the following occurred: 
 
a) The Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 34,653,465 units at a 

price of $0.101 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. Each unit consisted of one 
common share and one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase one 
additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.15 per share until August 29, 
2027. In connection with this private placement, the Company issued 1,780,304 broker 
warrants exercisable at $0.15 per share and 144,000 broker warrants exercisable at $0.19 
per share until August 29, 2027; 
 

b) On September 9, 2022, the Company granted 2,850,000 stock options at an exercise price 
of $0.13 per share for a period of 12 months and granted 2,900,000 RSUs to its directors, 
officers and consultants. The RSUs vest as follows: 40% on the date of grant, 20% on three 
months, 20% on six months and 20% on nine months; 

 
c) On November 7, 2022, the Company granted 1,300,000 stock options at an exercise price 

of $0.10 per share for a period of 12 months and granted 7,080,000 RSUs to its directors, 
officers and consultants. The RSUs vest as follows: 40% on the date of grant, 20% on three 
months, 20% on six months and 20% on nine months;  

 
d) The Company issued a total of 1,160,000 common shares to its directors, officers and 

consultants with respect to the vested RSUs; and 
 

e) 7,000,000 stock options expired unexercised. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

 

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

 

 
Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt 

Corp.) (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at July 31, 2021 and 2020, and 

the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then 

ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at July 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of 

$887,156 during the year ended July 31, 2021 and has an accumulated  deficit of $18,933,796 since its inception. As stated in 

Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

  



 

 

 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 

control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

  



 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Carmen Newnham. 

 

 

 
 

 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

November 5, 2021 

 

 

 
 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 ASSETS July 31, 

 2021 

July 31, 

 2020 

   

Current assets   

 Cash and cash equivalents – Note 4 $ 1,359,131 $ 1,671,731 

 Receivables – Note 5  15,014  47,605 

 Rent deposit  -  29,620 

 Prepaid expenses – Note 6  13,072  37,151 

Total current assets  1,387,217  1,786,107 

   

Non-current assets   

 Property and equipment – Note 7  35,023  - 

 Rent deposit  24,590  - 

 Right-of-use asset – Note 8  307,799  - 

 Exploration and evaluation assets – Note 9  2,456,138  1,248,556 

   

Total assets $ 4,210,767 $ 3,034,663 

   

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – Notes 10 and 13 $ 247,126 $ 204,644 

 Interest payable  8,350  - 

 Lease liability – Note 8  38,689  - 

 294,165 204,644 

   

Non-current liabilities   

     Lease liability – Note 8  281,562  - 

 

Total liabilities  

 

$ 575,727 

 

$ 204,644 

   

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

   

Share capital – Note 11  20,795,366  19,235,578 

Reserves – Note 11  1,773,470  1,641,081 

Accumulated deficit  (18,933,796)  (18,046,640) 

   

Total shareholders’ equity   3,635,040  2,830,019 

   

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 4,210,767 $ 3,034,663 

   

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent Events (Notes 1, 9 and 19) 

 

APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:   

   

“Seth Kay” Director  “James Nelson” Director 

Seth Kay   James Nelson  

   



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

   

     

     

     

     

 

  

 Years ended July 31, 

 2021 2020 

   

Operating expenses   

 Consulting $ 84,000 $ 91,750 

 Corporate branding  41,413  33,554 

 Depreciation – Notes 7 and 8   47,464  - 

 Management and directors’ fees – Note 13  134,100  133,100 

 Office and miscellaneous   89,112  101,648 

 Professional fees – Note 13  126,187  99,723 

 Shareholder information  17,024  7,930 

 Share-based payments – Notes 11 and 13  167,709  59,832 

 Transfer agent and filing fees  22,480  16,834 

 Travel  10,930  11,502 

   

  (740,419)  (555,873) 

   

 Interest income  12,678  23,795 

 Interest expense   (8,350)  - 

 Flow-through indemnification provision  -  (135,000) 

 Part XII.6 tax  -  (32,000) 

 Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 9  (151,065)  (15,290) 

   

   (146,737)  (158,495) 

   

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

   

Loss per share – basic and diluted – Note 12 $           (0.01) $           (0.01) 

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 

– Note 12  94,014,890  81,191,646 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Year ended 

July 31, 
 2021 2020 
   

Operating Activities   

 Loss for the year $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

 Adjustments for non-cash items:   

  Depreciation 47,464 - 

  Accrued interest on flow-through tax 8,350 - 

        Interest expense 25,235  

  Share-based payments  167,709  59,832 

  Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets  151,065  15,290 

   

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:   

  Receivables  32,591  (22,265) 

  Prepaid expenses  24,079  (19,379) 

  Rent deposit 5,030 - 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  30,219  155,344 

   

Cash used in operating activities  (395,414)  (525,546) 

   

Investing Activities   

 Acquisition of property and equipment (40,893) - 

 Exploration and evaluation assets  (221,384)  (17,976) 

 Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets  -  5,000 

   

Cash used in investing activities  (262,277)  (12,976) 

   

Financing Activities   

 Proceeds from issuance of share capital  399,468  149,600 

 Share issue costs  -  (1,894) 

 Repayment of lease liability  (54,377)  - 

   

Cash provided by financing activities  345,091  147,706 

   

Decrease in cash during the year  (312,600)  (390,816) 

   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  1,671,731  2,062,547 

   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $      1,359,131 $      1,671,731 

 

 

 

 

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows (Note 18) 

 

 

 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Share Capital  Accumulated  

 Number of shares Amount Reserves Deficit Total 

      

Balance, July 31, 2019  78,646,890 $ 19,087,872 $ 1,581,249 $ (17,332,272) $ 3,336,849 

 Shares issued for private placement  4,825,807  149,600  -  -  149,600 

 Share issue costs  -  (1,894)  -  -  (1,894) 

 Stock options issued  -  -  59,832  -  59,832 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (714,368)  (714,368) 

Balance, July 31, 2020  83,472,697  19,235,578  1,641,081  (18,046,640)  2,830,019 

 For exploration and evaluation assets  16,000,000  1,125,000  -  -  1,125,000 

 Share purchase warrants exercised  5,219,355  260,968  -  -  260,968 

 Stock options exercised  1,950,000  138,500  -  -  138,500 

 Stock options issued  -  -  167,709  -  167,709 

 Transfer of reserves on options exercised  -  35,320  (35,320)  -  - 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (887,156)  (887,156) 

Balance, July 31, 2021  106,642,052 $ 20,795,366 $ 1,773,470 $ (18,933,796) $ 3,635,040 

      



 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 – Page 1 

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  

 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (the “Company”; formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) is an exploration 

stage public company and is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE ") under 

the symbol "CRUZ". The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring and 

exploring exploration and evaluation assets.  At July 31, 2021, the Company had exploration 

and evaluation assets located in Canada and the U.S.A. Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the 

Company changed its name to Cruz Battery Metals Corp. 

 

The Company’s head office and principal business address is Suite 2905, 700 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The Company’s registered and records office 

is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 

contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realization of assets and discharge 

of liabilities in the normal course of business. At July 31, 2021, the Company had not yet 

achieved profitable operations, incurred a loss of $887,156 during the year ended July 31, 2021 

and had an accumulated deficit of $18,933,796 since its inception. The Company expects to 

incur further losses in the development of its business. These material uncertainties may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company may 

require additional financing in order to conduct the planned work programs on its exploration 

and evaluation assets, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities 

as they come due. While the Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, 

there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Accordingly, these consolidated 

financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should 

the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  If the going concern assumption was 

not used, then the adjustments required to report the Company’s assets and liabilities on a 

liquidation basis could be material to these consolidated financial statements. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

a) Statement of Compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

November 5, 2021.   

 

b) Basis of Measurement 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 

on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value. 

  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 – Page 2 
 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

b) Basis of Measurement (continued) 

 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 

Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency. 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 

management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amount 

of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period.  

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  

The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout these consolidated financial statements, 

and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical 

experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

Critical accounting estimates 

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 

from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

 Whether or not an impairment has occurred in its exploration and evaluation assets; 

 The inputs used in the accounting for share-based payments expense; and 

 The inputs used in the accounting for finders’ warrants and compensation options in share 

capital and equity reserves. 

 

Judgments 

 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global 

pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related 

adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and 

financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for 

the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its 

effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. The preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements regarding the 

going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1. 

 

c) Basis of Consolidation 

 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances, transactions, income and expenses have been 

eliminated upon consolidation. 

  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 – Page 3 
 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

d) Subsidiaries  

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 

power over an investee, when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

the investee and when the Company has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the 

Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss 

of control. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 

 

The principal subsidiaries of the Company as of July 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Name of subsidiary 

 

 

 

Principal activity 

 

 

Place of 

Incorporation 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2021 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2020 

     

Cobalt Locaters Inc. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 

1205011 B.C. Ltd. Holding company Canada 100% - 

Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. Holding company Canada 100% - 

Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp. Holding company USA 100% - 

Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp. Holding company USA 100% - 

Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 

     

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 

in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

a) Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation and 

functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, as follows:  

 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign 

currency is translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date.  

At the reporting period end date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 

Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date and the related translation 

differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the 

retranslation of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 

in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary 

financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial 

instrument. 

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into 

Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction 

and are not subsequently restated.   
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

b) Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

Pre-exploration costs 

 

Costs incurred prior to acquiring the right to explore an area of interest are expensed as 

incurred. 

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 

exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 

acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 

costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors during the exploration phase.  Costs 

not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 

administrative overhead costs, are expensed as incurred. 

 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the 

Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to 

be impaired.  As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of 

estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 

circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 

amount. 

 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource 

has been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 

classified as “mines under construction”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested 

for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties. 

 

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 

connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 

costs. 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

 

Tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subject to impairment tests 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 

be recoverable.  Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 

accordingly. 

 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

impairment test is carried out on the assets’ cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group 

of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 

that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (continued) 

 

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent it reverses gains 

previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.  Where an impairment loss 

subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior periods.  A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

d) Rehabilitation provision 

 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to 

environmental disturbances caused by exploration and evaluation activities.  The Company 

records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 

required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  

The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-

vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 

 

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject 

to government laws and regulations.  When the liability is recognized, the present value of 

the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 

assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value 

based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 

 

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 

as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which 

they occur.    

 

The Company does not have any significant rehabilitation obligations. 

  

e) Financial instruments 

 

Classification 

 

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 

recognition. Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: 

amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), or fair value through other 

comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The classification of financial assets is generally based 

on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 

characteristics. A financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 

is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity 

instruments that are held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them 

as FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 

recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 

the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured 

at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected 

to measure them at FVTPL. 

 

Under IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 

Receivables Amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 

 

Measurement 

 

Initial measurement 

 

On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value 

adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities 

classified as FVTPL, in which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial 

instruments: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 

method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 

exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 

or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as 

income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 

cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss 
 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated 

using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized 

in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

 

Impairment of financial instruments 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the 

Company applies the expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected 

credit loss model there was no material adjustment. 

 

An expected credit loss impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be 

recognized based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash 

flows associated with the asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the 

difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount 

of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with 

the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly 

or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or 

loss for the period.  
 

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets 

measured at amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 

the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have 

been had the impairment not been recognized. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

f) Income taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 

recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 

items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 

for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 

recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 

and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

g) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 

 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 

allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value and then the 

residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

 

The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be 

the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined 

by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was 

allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 

a warrant reserve. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

h) Flow-through shares 

 

The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a 

significant portion of its exploration program.  Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through 

share agreements, these shares transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource 

expenditures to investors.  On issuance, the Company bifurcates the flow-through share 

into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay 

for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability; and ii) share capital.   

 

Upon expenses being renounced and incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and 

the premium is recognized as other income.  

 

Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only 

for Canadian resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period.   

 

The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced 

under the Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through 

regulations.  When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 

 

i) Property and equipment 

 

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of property and equipment consists of the 

purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 

condition necessary for its intended use and an estimate of the costs of dismantling and 

removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. Depreciation is provided at 

rates calculated to expense the cost of equipment, less its estimated residual value, over the 

following expected useful lives: 

 
     Computer and office equipment  Straight-line over 3 years 

     Leasehold improvements  Straight-line over life of underlying contract 

 

Items of property and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected from their use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on 

derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is  

derecognized. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are 

reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted prospectively if appropriate. 

 

j) Investment tax credit 

 

Investment tax credits are recorded as either a reduction of the cost of applicable assets or 

credited in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss depending on the nature of the 

expenditures which gave rise to the credits.  Claims for tax credits are accrued upon the 

Company attaining reasonable assurance of collections from the Canada Revenue Agency. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

k) Leases 

 

Lease definition 

 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a 

lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. An identified asset may 

be implicitly specified in a contract, but must be physically distinct, and must not have the 

ability for substitution by a lessor. The Company has the right to control an identified asset 

if it obtains substantially all of its economic benefits and either pre-determines or directs 

how and for what purpose the asset is used.  

 

Measure of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease obligations  

 

At lease commencement, the Company recognizes a ROU asset and a lease obligation. The 

ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 

obligation adjusted for any lease payments made at, or before, the commencement date, 

plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received.  

 

The ROU asset is subsequently amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 

term of the lease, or the useful life of the asset determined on the same basis as the 

Company’s property and equipment. The ROU asset is periodically reduced by impairment 

losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease obligation.  

 

The lease obligation is initially measured at the present value of lease payments remaining 

at the lease commencement date, discounted at either the rate implicit in the lease or using 

the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement 

of the lease obligation, when applicable, may comprise fixed payments, variable payments 

that depend on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 

guarantee and the exercise price under a purchase, extension or termination option that the 

Company is reasonably certain to exercise.  

 

The lease obligation is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount 

expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its 

assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When 

the lease obligation is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the ROU asset.  

 

Recognition exemptions  

 

The Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease obligations for short-term 

leases that have a lease term of twelve months or less or for leases of low-value assets. 

Payments associated with these leases are recognized as an operating expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term within costs and expenses on the consolidated statement of 

loss and comprehensive loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

l) Earnings (loss) per share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable 

to the common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 

calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 

the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 

common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments were 

converted. 

 

m) Share-based payments 

 

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 

officers, employees and consultants.  An individual is classified as an employee when the 

individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes, or provides services similar to those 

performed by an employee. 

 

The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the 

shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.   

 

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 

goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 

they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. 

 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  

 The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Canadian Dollars and  include 

 the following components: 

 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31,  

2020 

   

Cash at bank  $     1,324,631 $          17,231 

Short-term deposits           34,500            1,654,500   

 $     1,359,131 $     1,671,731 
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5. RECEIVABLES 

  

The Company’s receivables comprise of goods and services tax (“GST”) receivable due from 

Canadian government taxation authorities, accrued interest on short-term deposits, and 

reimbursements from two public companies with directors in common for recoverable office 

expenses. 

 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31, 

2020 

   

Related party receivable (Note 12) $ 2,295 $ 20,608 

Other receivable  -  8,580 

Accrued interest on short-term deposits  -  13,377 

GST recoverable  12,719  5,040 

   

Total receivables $ 15,014 $ 47,605 

 

All amounts are short-term and the net carrying value of receivables is considered a reasonable 

approximation of fair value.  The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and 

therefore no impairment has been recorded against receivables.  The Company’s receivables 

are all considered current and are not past due or impaired.  The Company does not possess 

any collateral related to these assets. 

 

6. PREPAIDS 

 

The Company’s prepaids are comprised of fees prepaid to vendors of the Company and include 

the following components: 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31, 

2020 

   

Corporate branding $ 9,068 $ 7,619 

Other prepaids  4,004  29,532 

Total prepaids $ 13,072 $ 37,151 

 

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

  

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Computer & 

office equipment 

Total 

         $              $  $ 

Cost, July 31, 2020 and 2019 - - - 

Additions 34,599 6,294 40,893 

Cost, July 31, 2021 34,599 6,294 40,893 

Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2020 and 2019 - - - 

Depreciation for the year 4,120 1,750 5,870 

Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2021 4,120 1,750 5,870 

Net book value, July 31, 2020 and 2019 - - - 

Net book value, July 31, 2021 30,479 4,544 35,023 
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8. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET AND LEASE LIABILITY 

  

Right-of-Use Assets 

 

 Office Leases 

Cost:     $       

At July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

Additions 349,393 

At July 31, 2021 349,393 

Depreciation:  

At July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

Charge for the year 41,594 

At July 31, 2021 41,594 

Net book value:  

At July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

At July 31, 2021  307,799 

 

Lease Liability 

 

  $   

Lease liability recognized as of July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

Lease liability recognized for the year 349,393 

Lease payments made (54,377) 

Interest expense on lease liability 25,235 

At July 31, 2021 320,251 

Less: current portion (38,689) 

Lease liability – long term  281,562 

 

The remaining minimum future lease payments, excluding estimated operating costs, for the 

terms of the lease including assumed renewal periods are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

          $    

Fiscal 2022 65,947 

Fiscal 2023 66,781  

Fiscal 2024 67,615  

Fiscal 2025 68,449  

Fiscal 2026 69,283  

Fiscal 2027 70,117  

Fiscal 2028 11,709  
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following mineral properties: 
 

 

BC War 

Eagle 

Cobalt 

 

BC  

Diamond 

Projects 

ON Cobalt 

Prospects 

 

 

Yukon 

Quartz 

Claims 

Idaho 

Cobalt 

Belt  

Project 

Idaho Star 

Cobalt 

Prospect 

Nevada Clayton 

Valley W. 

Lithium Property 

Nevada Solar 

Lithium 

Project 

 

 

 

Total 

Balance, July 31, 2019 $    9,950 $                  - $   1,188,507 $  16,553 $               - $        7,678 $         39,996 $                   - $  1,262,324 

Acquisition costs          

 Recovery of acquisition costs - - (5,000) - - - - - (5,000) 

Deferred exploration expenditures          

 Geological report 2,500 - - - - - - - 2,500 

 Claim maintenance fees - - - 210 - 903 2,909 - 4,022 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

- - (15,290) - - - - - (15,290) 

Balance, July 31, 2020 12,090 - 1,168,217 16,763 - 8,581 42,905 - 1,248,556 

Acquisition costs          

 Share issuance - 247,500 - - 247,500 - - 630,000 1,125,000 

Deferred exploration expenditures          

 Geological expenses - - 30,581 - - - - - 30,581 

 Claim maintenance fees - 14,165 - - 26,225 894 2,889 - 44,173 

 Drilling - - 134,927 - - - - - 134,927 

 Travel and misc - - 23,966 - - - - - 23,966 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

- - (151,065) - - - - - (151,065) 

Balance, July 31, 2021 $    12,090 $      261,665 $  1,206,626 $  16,763 $    273,725 $        9,475 $         45,794 $        630,000 $  2,456,138 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Title to Interests in Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 

Title to exploration and evaluation asset interests involves certain inherent risks due to the 

difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems 

arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many exploration 

and evaluation assets.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and 

evaluation assets and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good 

standing.  However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The concessions may 

be subject to prior claims, agreements or transfers, and rights of ownership may be affected by 

undetected defects. 

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 

Columbia for staking costs of $3,496. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to reduce the size of certain War 

Eagle claims. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of $18,705 

were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

BC Diamonds Projects – Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with 

two arm’s length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 

B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries 

Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt 

Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The acquisition has 

been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 

shares (issued at a value of $495,000) to the vendors pursuant to the SPA. 1205011 became a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split evenly between 

the BC and Idaho properties. 

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $14,165 in claim maintenance fees 

on this project. 

 

ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking 

 

On July 22, 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters 

SPA”) with four arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects 

in B.C. (the "Purcell Cobalt Prospect") and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

(the "Coleman Cobalt Prospect", the "Bucke Cobalt Prospect", the "Hector Cobalt Prospect", 

and the "Johnson Cobalt Prospect"). The acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition. 

In August 2016, the Company paid $20,000 cash and issued 4,800,000 shares (issued at a value 

of $816,000) to the Vendors pursuant to the Cobalt Locaters SPA. Cobalt Locaters Inc. became 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split evenly 

between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company 

acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's  
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking (continued) 

 

length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 100% interest in the above four 

Ontario cobalt prospects. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

to increase the holdings in its Johnson Cobalt Prospect, Bucke Cobalt Prospect and Hector 

Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $19,500. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $5,600.  

 

In April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $15,290. During the 

year ended July 31, 2020, the Company decided to drop these claims and allowed them to lapse 

when they became due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of $15,290 were written off. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. 

(“RJK”), an arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company 

in exchange for the exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at 

RJK’s own risk and expense, to enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling 

activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, $5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition 

costs of the Lorraine claims. The agreement had been mutually terminated by the Company 

and RJK on December 21, 2020 with no liability or remaining obligation of any of the parties 

to the other except for the confidentiality obligations. 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the 

Coleman Cobalt Prospect and fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the 

Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling $151,065 as of July 31, 2021. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $778,989 in exploration expenditures on 

the ON Cobalt Prospects. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims – Purchase Agreement 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain quartz 

mineral claims located in the Yukon Territory.   

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue 

with certain claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, 

prior acquisition costs of $670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these 

lapsed claims were written off.  

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on 

the remaining Yukon Quartz claims. 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project – Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 1, 2020, under the SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in one 

cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A.  

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $26,225 in claim maintenance fees 

on the Idaho Cobalt Belt project. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in 

Idaho, U.S.A. for staking costs of $39,964. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse 

when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 

were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $5,842 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect – Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 15, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with an arm’s length 

vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in the Clayton 

Valley in Nevada, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company was to issue 1,200,000 common 

shares to the Vendor.  

 

On October 7, 2015, the Company amended the purchase agreement with the Vendor at no 

additional cost or share issuance, to acquire a 100% interest in additional mineral claims. 

  

On October 21, 2015, the Company further amended the purchase agreement and the 

amendment dated October 7, 2015 with the Vender. The new terms are for the Company to 

issue 900,000 common shares to the Vendor. During the year ended July 31, 2016, these shares 

were issued to the Vendor valued at $30,000. 

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $13,794 in claim maintenance fees 

on this prospect. 

 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project – Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Solar SPA”) 

with two arm’s length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz 

Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz Solar”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas 

Lithium Locators Corp., holds a 100% interest in one lithium prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the 

“Nevada Solar Lithium Project”). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 

acquisition. In July 2021, the Company issued 7,000,000 shares (issued at a value of $630,000) 

to the vendors pursuant to the Solar SPA. Cruz Solar became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company. 
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10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position can 

be analyzed as follows: 

  

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31, 

2020 

   

Trade payables $   52,426 $   15,344 

Accrued liabilities 194,700 189,300 

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 247,126 $ 204,644 

 

All amounts are short-term. 

 

11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 

Authorized:  An unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 

(a) Private placements 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company did not close any private placements.  

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

In January 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 

4,825,807 units at $0.031 per share for gross proceeds of $149,600. Each unit consisted of 

one common share and one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase 

one additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.05 per share until January 

17, 2025. The Company incurred filing and legal fees totalling $1,894 in connection with 

the financing. 

 

(b) Share purchase warrants 

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase warrants from July 31, 2019 to 

July 31, 2021: 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

Balance, July 31, 2019  17,171,848 $0.20 

Issued  4,825,807 $0.05 

Expired  (12,483,515) $0.26 

Balance, July 31, 2020  9,514,140 $0.05 

Exercised (5,219,355) $0.05 

Expired  (1,288,333) $0.07 
   

Balance, July 31, 2021  3,006,452 $0.05 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

(b) Share purchase warrants (continued) 

 

At July 31, 2021, the Company had 3,006,452 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each 

warrant entitles the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise    

Number  Price  Expiry Date  

  3,006,452  $0.05   January 17, 2025  

 

 (c) Share-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock option plan whereby the maximum number of shares reserved 

for issue under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares of the 

Company, as at the date of grant.  The exercise price of each option granted under the plan 

may not be less than the market price of the Company's stock as calculated on the date of 

grant less the applicable discount, subject to a minimum exercise price of $0.05.  Options 

may be granted for a maximum term of five years and vesting periods are determined by 

the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the regulations of the CSE, stock options may be 

granted outside of the stock option plan.   

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase options from July 31, 2019 to 

July 31, 2021: 

 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

   

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2019   - $Nil 

Granted  5,000,000 $0.07 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2020  5,000,000   $0.07 

Granted  4,000,000   $0.075 

Exercised  (1,950,000)   $0.07 

Expired  (3,450,000)   $0.07 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2021  3,600,000   $0.075 

 

As of July 31, 2021, 3,600,000 share purchase options were outstanding and exercisable 

entitling the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held 

at an exercise price of $0.075 per share until January 14, 2022. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, 1,550,000 stock options were exercised at a price of 

$0.07 per share and 400,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.075 per share for 

total proceeds of $138,500. The previously recognized share-based payment expense 

relating to these stock options were reclassified from share-based payment reserve to share 

capital in the amount of $35,320. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, Nil stock options were exercised. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

 (c) Share-based payments (continued) 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company granted 4,000,000 stock options with 

an exercise price of $0.075 per share and an expiry date of January 14, 2022 (year ended 

July 31, 2020: 5,000,000 stock options were granted with an exercise price of $0.07 per 

share and an expiry date of January 20, 2021). The weighted average fair value of the 

options issued in the year ended July 31, 2021 was estimated at $0.04 (year ended July 31, 

2020: $0.01) per option at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 

the following assumptions: 

 

 Year ended 

July 31, 2021 

Year ended 

July 31, 2020 

   

Weighted average expected dividend yield                  0.0%                  0.0% 

Weighted average expected volatility *  153.99%  118.05% 

Weighted average risk-free interest rate                 0.16%                 1.67% 

Weighted average expected term  1 year  1 year 

 

* Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company’s  

   publicly traded shares. 

 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year 

ended July 31, 2021 were $167,709 (year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832). 

 

12. LOSS PER SHARE 

 

 The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was based on the following data:  

 

 Year ended July 31,  

 2021 2020 

   

Loss $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

   

Weighted average number of common shares for the    

purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  94,014,890  81,191,646 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of 

common share equivalents, such as stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  All of the stock 

options and share purchase warrants currently issued (see Note 11) were anti-dilutive for the 

year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended July 31, 2021 was $(0.01) (year ended July 

31, 2020: $(0.01)). 
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

  

 Key management personnel compensation 

 

Key management of the Company are directors and officers of the Company and their 

remuneration includes the following: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 

 2021 2020 
   

Management and directors’ fees $ 134,100 $ 133,100 

Professional fees  73,800  73,300 

Share-based payments *  113,203  53,848 
   

 $ 321,103 $ 260,248 

 

 * Share-based payments are the fair value of options granted to key management personnel 

as at the grant date. 

 

 Related party balances 

 

At July 31, 2021, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $10,000 (July 31, 2020: 

$7,500) payable to three directors and one officer of the Company for unpaid fees. These 

amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 

 

At July 31, 2021, receivables include $2,295 (July 31, 2020: $20,608) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses. 

 

14. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 

  

The Company operates in one business segment, being the acquisition and exploration of 

mineral properties.  The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are distributed by 

geographic location as follows: 

 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31,  

2020 

   

                    Canada $ 1,497,144 $ 1,197,070 

                    U.S.A.  958,994  51,486 

   

                     $ 2,456,138 $ 1,248,556 
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15. INCOME TAXES 

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:  

 

    Years ended July 31, 

    2021 2020 

Loss before income taxes $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

Expected income tax (recovery) $  (239,000) $  (193,000) 

Change in statutory rate and other - (1,000) 

Permanent difference 47,000 63,000 

Share issue costs - (1,000) 

Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory tax returns (55,000) (18,000) 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 247,000  150,000  

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                   - $                  - 

 

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No net deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the above for the years ended July 

31, 2021 and 2020 because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize 

such assets is not probable. 

 

The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 

$9,563,821 (2020: $8,969,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable 

income in future years. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2041. 

 

16. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern to pursue the development of its exploration and evaluation assets and to 

maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of 

acceptable risk. In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of 

shareholders’ equity, which at July 31, 2021 was $3,635,040 (July 31, 2020: $2,830,019). 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 

economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 

its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt and acquire or dispose 

of assets.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company has not entered into any debt financing with any 

financial institution. 

 

 

    2021 2020 

Exploration and evaluation assets $     1,379,000  $     1,306,000  

Property and equipment  3,000  3,000  

Share issue costs  11,000  12,000  

Non-capital losses 2,767,000  2,592,000  

Net unrecognized deferred tax assets  $     4,160,000  $     3,913,000  
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16. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE (continued) 

 

The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and 

the Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior resource 

markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to these markets, and its ability 

to compete for investor support of its projects.  The Company is not subject to any externally 

imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the Company’s approach to capital 

management during the year ended July 31, 2021. 

 

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 

value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either  

           directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximates their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result 

of changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company has a minimal 

exposure to the US$ that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the 

extent that transactions are made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be 

insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 

other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 

and receivables are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and 

cash equivalents by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness. As at 

July 31, 2021, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing 

debt instruments and is therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with financial liabilities.  The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

sufficient cash balances to enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company 

addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares 

and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company has been successful in securing 

financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk 

is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity 

price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of 

precious metals and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken 

by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does 

not believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign 

exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

18. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 

 

Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded 

from the statement of cash flows. The following transactions were excluded from the 

statements of cash flows: 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021: 

 

a) The Company issued 9,000,000 common shares valued at $495,000 pursuant to the SPA 

for the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects and the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project. 

 

b) The Company issued 7,000,000 common shares valued at $630,000 pursuant to the Solar 

SPA for the acquisition of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project. 
 

c) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $12,263 for exploration and 

evaluation assets. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020: 

 

a) There were no significant non-cash investing and financing activities. 
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19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the following occurred: 

 

a) The Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Helios 

Claims”) for staking costs of $83,966 to expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium 

Project; 

 

b) The Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Sun 

Claims”) for staking costs of $7,908 to further expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium 

Project; 
 

c) The Company granted 7,000,000 stock options to its directors, officers and consultants  at 

an exercise price of $0.30 per share for a period of 12 months; 
 

d) 500,000 share purchase warrants were exercised into common shares at an exercise price 

of $0.05 per share;  
 

e) 600,000 stock options were exercised into common shares at an exercise price of $0.075 

per share; and 
 

f) 500,000 stock options were forfeited due to resignation of one director. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. 

 

 
Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”), which comprise 

the consolidated statements of financial position as at July 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements of loss and 

comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at July 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a loss of 

$714,368 during the year ended July 31, 2020 and has an accumulated deficit of $18,046,640 since its inception. As stated in 

Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

  



 

 

 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 

control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

  



 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is David Harris. 

 

 

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP” 
 

 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

November 26, 2020 
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 ASSETS July 31, 

 2020 

July 31, 

 2019 

   

Current assets   

 Cash and cash equivalents – Note 4 $ 1,671,731 $ 2,062,547 

 Receivables – Note 5  47,605  25,340 

 Rent deposit  29,620  29,620 

 Prepaid expenses – Note 6  37,151  17,772 

Total current assets  1,786,107  2,135,279 

   

Non-current assets   

 Exploration and evaluation assets – Note 7  1,248,556  1,262,324 

   

Total assets $ 3,034,663 $ 3,397,603 

   

LIABILITIES   

   

Current liabilities   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – Notes 8 and 11 $ 204,644 $ 60,754 

   

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

   

Share capital – Note 9  19,235,578  19,087,872 

Reserves – Note 9  1,641,081  1,581,249 

Accumulated deficit  (18,046,640)  (17,332,272) 

   

Total shareholders’ equity   2,830,019  3,336,849 

   

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 3,034,663 $ 3,397,603 

   

 

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent Events (Note 17) 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:   

   

“Seth Kay” Director  “James Nelson” Director 

Seth Kay   James Nelson  
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

    

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

 Years ended July 31, 

 2020 2019 

   

Operating expenses   

 Consulting $ 91,750 $ 88,230 

 Corporate branding  33,554  31,072 

 Investor relations  -  250,000 

 Management and directors’ fees – Note 11  133,100  125,100 

 Office and miscellaneous   101,648  81,082 

 Professional fees – Note 11  99,723  100,803 

 Shareholder information  7,930  7,118 

 Share-based payments – Notes 9 and 11  59,832  - 

 Transfer agent and filing fees  16,834  34,952 

 Travel  11,502  5,607 

   

  (555,873)  (723,964) 

   

 Interest income  23,795  32,481 

 Flow-through indemnification provision  (135,000)  - 

 Part XII.6 tax  (32,000)  - 

 Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 7  (15,290)  (765,415) 

   

   (158,495)  (732,934) 

   

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

   

Loss per share – basic and diluted – Note 10 $           (0.01) $           (0.02) 

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 

– Note 10  81,191,646  78,646,890 
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Years ended July 31, 
 2020 2019 
   

Operating Activities   

 Loss for the year $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

 Adjustments for non-cash items:   

  Share-based payments  59,832  - 

  Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets  15,290  765,415 

   

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:   

  Receivables  (22,265)  9,762 

  Prepaid expenses  (19,379)  246,283 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  155,344  6,146 

   

Cash used in operating activities  (525,546)  (429,292) 

   

Investing Activities   

 Exploration and evaluation assets  (17,976)  (315,188) 

 Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets  5,000  - 

   

Cash used in investing activities  (12,976)  (315,188) 

   

Financing Activities   

 Proceeds from issuance of share capital  149,600  - 

 Share issue costs  (1,894)  - 

   

Cash provided by financing activities  147,706  - 

   

Decrease in cash during the year  (390,816)  (744,480) 

   

Cash, beginning of the year  2,062,547  2,807,027 

   

Cash, end of the year $      1,671,731 $      2,062,547 

   

 

 

 

 

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows (Note 16)
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Share Capital  Accumulated  

 Number of shares Amount Reserves Deficit Total 

      

Balance, July 31, 2018  78,646,890 $ 19,087,872 $ 1,581,249 $ (15,875,374) $ 4,793,747 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (1,456,898)  (1,456,898) 

Balance, July 31, 2019  78,646,890  19,087,872  1,581,249  (17,332,272)  3,336,849 

 Shares issued for private placement  4,825,807  149,600  -  -  149,600 

 Share issue costs  -  (1,894)  -  -  (1,894) 

 Stock options issued  -  -  59,832  -  59,832 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (714,368)  (714,368) 

Balance, July 31, 2020  83,472,697 $ 19,235,578 $ 1,641,081 $ (18,046,640) $ 2,830,019 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”) is an exploration stage public company and is listed on 

the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE ") under the symbol "CRUZ". The Company’s 

principal business activities include acquiring and exploring exploration and evaluation assets.  

At July 31, 2020, the Company had exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada and 

the U.S.A.  

 

The Company’s head office and principal business address is Suite 2905, 700 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The Company’s registered and records office 

is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 

contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realization of assets and discharge 

of liabilities in the normal course of business.  At July 31, 2020, the Company had not yet 

achieved profitable operations, incurred a loss of $714,368 during the year ended July 31, 2020 

and had an accumulated deficit of $18,046,640 since its inception. The Company expects to 

incur further losses in the development of its business. These material uncertainties may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company may 

require additional financing in order to conduct the planned work programs on its exploration 

and evaluation assets, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities 

as they come due. In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-

19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and 

any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, 

and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible 

for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and 

its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been 

successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so 

in the future. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements do not give effect to 

adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a 

going concern.  If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required 

to report the Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

a) Statement of Compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

November 26, 2020.   
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

b) Basis of Measurement 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 

on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value. 

 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 

Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency. 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 

management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amount 

of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period.  

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  

The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout these consolidated financial statements, 

and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical 

experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

Critical accounting estimates 

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 

from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

 Whether or not an impairment has occurred in its exploration and evaluation assets; 

 The inputs used in the accounting for share-based payments expense; and 

 The inputs used in the accounting for finders’ warrants and compensation options in share 

capital and equity reserves. 

 

Judgments 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

judgements regarding the going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1. 

 

c) Basis of Consolidation 

 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances, transactions, income and expenses have been 

eliminated upon consolidation. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

d) Subsidiaries  

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 

power over an investee, when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

the investee and when the Company has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the 

Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss 

of control. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 

 

The principal subsidiaries of the Company as of July 31, 2020 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Name of subsidiary 

 

 

 

Principal activity 

 

 

Place of 

Incorporation 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2020 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2019 

     

Cobalt Locaters Inc. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 

Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 

     

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 

in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

a) Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation and 

functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, as follows:  

 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign 

currency is translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date.  

At the reporting period end date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 

Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date and the related translation 

differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the 

retranslation of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 

in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary 

financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial 

instrument. 

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into 

Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction 

and are not subsequently restated.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

b) Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

Pre-exploration costs 

 

Costs incurred prior to acquiring the right to explore an area of interest are expensed as 

incurred. 

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 

exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 

acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 

costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors during the exploration phase.  Costs 

not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 

administrative overhead costs, are expensed as incurred. 

 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the 

Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to 

be impaired.  As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of 

estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 

circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 

amount. 

 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource 

has been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 

classified as “mines under construction”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested 

for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties. 

 

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 

connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 

costs. 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

 

Tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subject to impairment tests 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 

be recoverable.  Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 

accordingly. 

 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

impairment test is carried out on the assets’ cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group 

of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 

that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (continued) 

 

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent it reverses gains 

previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.  Where an impairment loss 

subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior periods.  A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

d) Rehabilitation provision 

 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to 

environmental disturbances caused by exploration and evaluation activities.  The Company 

records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 

required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  

The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-

vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 

 

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject 

to government laws and regulations.  When the liability is recognized, the present value of 

the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 

assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value 

based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 

 

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 

as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which 

they occur.    

 

The Company does not have any significant rehabilitation obligations. 

  

e) Financial instruments 

 

Classification 

 

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 

recognition. Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: 

amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), or fair value through other 

comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The classification of financial assets is generally based 

on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 

characteristics. A financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 

is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity 

instruments that are held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them 

as FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 

recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 

the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured 

at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected 

to measure them at FVTPL. 

 

Under IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 

Receivables Amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 

 

Measurement 

 

Initial measurement 

 

On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value 

adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities 

classified as FVTPL, in which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial 

instruments: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 

method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 

exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 

or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as 

income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 

cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss 
 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated 

using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized 

in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

 

Impairment of financial instruments 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the 

Company applies the expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected 

credit loss model there was no material adjustment. 

 

An expected credit loss impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be 

recognized based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash 

flows associated with the asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the 

difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount 

of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with 

the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly 

or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or 

loss for the period.  
 

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets 

measured at amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 

the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have 

been had the impairment not been recognized. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

f) Income taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 

recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 

items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 

for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 

recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 

and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

g) Flow-through shares 

 

The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a 

significant portion of its exploration program.  Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through 

share agreements, these shares transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource 

expenditures to investors.  On issuance, the Company bifurcates the flow-through share 

into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay 

for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability; and ii) share capital.   

 

Upon expenses being renounced and incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and 

the premium is recognized as other income.  

 

Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only 

for Canadian resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period.   

 

The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced 

under the Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through 

regulations.  When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

h) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 

 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 

allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value and then the 

residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

 

The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be 

the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined 

by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was 

allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 

a warrant reserve. 

 

i) Investment tax credit 

 

Investment tax credits are recorded as either a reduction of the cost of applicable assets or 

credited in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss depending on the nature of the 

expenditures which gave rise to the credits.  Claims for tax credits are accrued upon the 

Company attaining reasonable assurance of collections from the Canada Revenue Agency. 

 

j) Earnings (loss) per share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable 

to the common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 

calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 

the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 

common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments were 

converted. 

 

k) Share-based payments 

 

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 

officers, employees and consultants.  An individual is classified as an employee when the 

individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes, or provides services similar to those 

performed by an employee. 

 

The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the 

shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.   

 

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 

goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 

they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

l) New accounting standards adopted 

 

The Company has adopted new accounting standards IFRS 16 - Leases.  

 

IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”)  

 

New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and 

disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting. The Company adopted this new 

standard on August 1, 2019. The adoption of this new standard has no impact on the 

Company's consolidated financial statements as the existing office lease is under short-

term and therefore has been expensed through profit and loss. 

 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  

 The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Canadian Dollars and  include 

 the following components: 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31,  

2019 

   

Cash at bank  $          17,231 $          58,047 

Short-term deposits           1,654,500            2,004,500   

 $     1,671,731 $     2,062,547 

 

5. RECEIVABLES 

  

The Company’s receivables comprise of goods and services tax (“GST”) receivable due from 

Canadian government taxation authorities, accrued interest on short-term deposits, and 

reimbursements from two public companies with directors in common for recoverable office 

expenses. 

 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31, 

2019 

   

Related party receivable (Note 11) $ 20,608 $ 1,804 

Other receivable  8,580  - 

Accrued interest on short-term deposits  13,377  18,025 

GST recoverable  5,040  5,511 

   

Total receivables $ 47,605 $ 25,340 

 

All amounts are short-term and the net carrying value of receivables is considered a reasonable 

approximation of fair value.  The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and 

therefore no impairment has been recorded against receivables.  The Company’s receivables 

are all considered current and are not past due or impaired.  The Company does not possess 

any collateral related to these assets. 
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6. PREPAIDS 

  

The Company’s prepaids are comprised of fees prepaid to vendors of the Company and include 

the following components: 

 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31, 

2019 

   

Corporate branding $ 7,619 $ 7,500 

Other prepaids  29,532  10,272 

Total prepaids $ 37,151 $ 17,772 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following mineral properties: 
 

 

BC War 

Eagle 

Cobalt 

ON Cobalt 

Prospects 

 

 

Yukon 

Quartz 

Claims 

Idaho Star 

Cobalt 

Prospect 

Montana 

Chicken 

Hawk 

Cobalt 

Prospect 

Nevada Clayton 

Valley W. 

Lithium Property 

 

 

 

Total 

Balance, July 31, 2018 $    19,615 $     930,108 $  16,343 $        6,846 $  690,881 $         37,304 $  1,791,097 

Deferred exploration expenditures        

 Geological expenses 3,000 89,756 - - - - 92,756 

 Geological report - 32,143 - - - - 32,143 

 Claim maintenance fees - - 210 832 13,425 2,692 17,159 

 Drilling - 115,147 - - - - 115,147 

 Field supplies and equipment - 9,547 - - - - 9,547 

 Lab and assay 636 25,733 - - - - 26,369 

 Travel & miscellaneous 7,448 37,486 - - - - 44,934 

 Prior year advance for exploration - (11,413) - - - - (11,413) 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

(21,109) (40,000) - - (704,306) - (765,415) 

Balance, July 31, 2019 9,950 1,188,507 16,553 7,678 - 39,996 1,262,324 

Acquisition costs        

 Recovery of acquisition costs - (5,000) - - - - (5,000) 

Deferred exploration expenditures        

 Geological report 2,500 - - - - - 2,500 

 Claim maintenance fees - - 210 903 - 2,909 4,022 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

- (15,290) - - - - (15,290) 

Balance, July 31, 2020 $    12,090 $  1,168,217 $  16,763 $        8,581 $               - $         42,905 $  1,248,556 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Title to Interests in Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 

Title to exploration and evaluation asset interests involves certain inherent risks due to the 

difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems 

arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many exploration 

and evaluation assets.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and 

evaluation assets and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good 

standing.  However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The concessions may 

be subject to prior claims, agreements or transfers, and rights of ownership may be affected by 

undetected defects. 

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 

Columbia for staking costs of $3,496. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 

Columbia for staking costs of $7,283. 

 

In October 2018, the Company decided to drop certain War Eagle claims and allowed them to 

lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $7,283 and exploration 

costs of $12,716 associated with these lapsed claims were written off as of July 31, 2018. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to further reduce the size of certain 

War Eagle claims. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of 

$18,705 were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

BC and ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking 

 

On July 22, 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters 

SPA”) with four arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects 

in B.C. (the "Purcell Cobalt Prospect") and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

(the "Coleman Cobalt Prospect", the "Bucke Cobalt Prospect", the "Hector Cobalt Prospect", 

and the "Johnson Cobalt Prospect"). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 

acquisition. In August 2016, the Company paid $20,000 cash and issued 4,800,000 shares 

(issued at a value of $816,000) to the Vendors pursuant to the Cobalt Locaters SPA. Cobalt 

Locaters Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had 

been split evenly between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the 

Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from 

an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 100% interest in the 

above four Ontario cobalt prospects. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

to increase the holdings in its Johnson Cobalt Prospect, Bucke Cobalt Prospect and Hector 

Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $19,500. 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

BC and ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking (continued) 

 

In December 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

to increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $2,300.In 

November 2018, the Company decided to drop these claims. Prior acquisition costs of $2,300 

were written off as of July 31, 2018. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In December 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

referred to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $40,000. In August 2019, the 

Company decided to drop these claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. 

Accordingly, prior staking costs of $40,000 were written off as of July 31, 2019. 

 

In January and April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in 

Ontario to increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $20,890.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company decided to drop certain claims and allowed 

them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of $15,290 were written 

off. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. 

(“RJK”), an arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company 

in exchange for the exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at 

RJK’s own risk and expense, to enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling 

activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, $5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition 

costs of the Lorraine claims. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $589,515 in exploration expenditures on 

the ON Cobalt Prospects. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims – Purchase Agreement 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain quartz 

mineral claims located in the Yukon Territory.   

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue 

with certain claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, 

prior acquisition costs of $670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these 

lapsed claims were written off.  

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on 

the remaining Yukon Quartz claims. 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in 

Idaho, U.S.A. for staking costs of $39,964. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse 

when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 

were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $4,948 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect – Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 15, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with an arm’s length 

vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in the Clayton 

Valley in Nevada, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company was to issue 1,200,000 common 

shares to the Vendor.  

 

On October 7, 2015, the Company amended the purchase agreement with the Vendor at no 

additional cost or share issuance, to acquire a 100% interest in additional mineral claims. 

  

On October 21, 2015, the Company further amended the purchase agreement and the 

amendment dated October 7, 2015 with the Vender. The new terms are for the Company to 

issue 900,000 common shares to the Vendor. During the year ended July 31, 2016, these shares 

were issued to the Vendor valued at $30,000. 

 

As of July 31, 2020, the Company had incurred a total of $10,905 in claim maintenance fees 

on this prospect. 

 

Montana Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect – Agreement and Staking 

 

On February 27, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's length vendor 

(the "Montana Vendor") to acquire a 100% interest in the Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect 

located in Deer Lodge County, Montana, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company issued 

3,000,000 common shares (issued at a value of $600,000) to the Montana Vendor. 

 

In July 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Montana to 

increase the holdings in its Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $25,426. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Montana Chicken Hawk claims and 

allowed them to lapse when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $24,578 and 

exploration costs of $34,457 were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

In August 2019, the Company decided to drop the entire Chicken Hawk property. Accordingly, 

prior acquisition costs of $600,848 and exploration costs of $103,458 were written off as of 

July 31, 2019. 
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8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position can 

be analyzed as follows: 

  

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31, 

2019 

   

Trade payables $   15,344 $   38,154 

Accrued liabilities 189,300 22,600 

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 204,644 $   60,754 

 

All amounts are short-term.  The carrying value of trade payables and accrued liabilities is 

considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of these 

instruments. 

 

9. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 

Authorized:  An unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 

(a) Private placements 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

In January 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 

4,825,807 units at $0.031 per share for gross proceeds of $149,600. Each unit consisted of 

one common share and one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase 

one additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.05 per share until January 

17, 2025. The Company incurred filing and legal fees totalling $1,894 in connection with 

the financing. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2019 

 

The Company did not close any private placements during the year ended July 31, 2019.  

 

(b) Share purchase warrants 

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase warrants from July 31, 2018 to 

July 31, 2020: 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

   

Balance, July 31, 2018 and 2019  17,171,848 $0.20 

Issued  4,825,807 $0.05 

Expired  (12,483,515) $0.26 
   

Balance, July 31, 2020  9,514,140 $0.05 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

(b) Share purchase warrants (continued) 

 

At July 31, 2020, the Company had 9,514,140 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each 

warrant entitles the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise    

Number  Price  Expiry Date  

  183,333  $0.21   August 11, 2020 (Note 17) 

  4,505,000  $0.05   June 13, 2021  

  4,825,807  $0.05   January 17, 2025  

  9,514,140       

 

 (c) Share-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock option plan whereby the maximum number of shares reserved 

for issue under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares of the 

Company, as at the date of grant.  The exercise price of each option granted under the plan 

may not be less than the market price of the Company's stock as calculated on the date of 

grant less the applicable discount, subject to a minimum exercise price of $0.05.  Options 

may be granted for a maximum term of five years and vesting periods are determined by 

the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the regulations of the CSE, stock options may be 

granted outside of the stock option plan.   

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase options from July 31, 2018 to 

July 31, 2020: 

 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

   

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2018  2,329,775  $0.27 

Expired  (2,329,775)  $0.27 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2019   - $Nil 

Granted  5,000,000   $0.07 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2020  5,000,000   $0.07 

 

As of July 31, 2020, 5,000,000 share purchase options were outstanding and exercisable 

entitling the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held 

at an exercise price of $0.07 per share until January 20, 2021. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company granted 5,000,000 stock options with 

an exercise price of $0.07 per share and an expiry date of January 20, 2021 (year ended 

July 31, 2019: Nil stock options were granted). The weighted average fair value of the 

options issued in the year ended July 31, 2020 was estimated at $0.01 per option at the 

grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

(c) Share-based payments (continued) 

 

 Year ended 

July 31, 2020 

Year ended 

July 31, 2019 

   

Weighted average expected dividend yield                  0.0% N/A 

Weighted average expected volatility *  118.05% N/A 

Weighted average risk-free interest rate                 1.67% N/A 

Weighted average expected term  1 year N/A 

 

* Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company’s  

   publicly traded shares. 

 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year 

ended July 31, 2020 were $59,832 (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil). 

 

10. LOSS PER SHARE 

 

 The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was based on the following data:  

 

 Year ended July 31,  

 2020 2019 

   

Loss $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

   

Weighted average number of common shares for the    

purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  81,191,646  78,646,890 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of 

common share equivalents, such as stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  All of the stock 

options and share purchase warrants currently issued (see Note 9) were anti-dilutive for the 

year ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended July 31, 2020 was $(0.01) (year ended July 

31, 2019: $(0.02)). 
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

  

 Key management personnel compensation 

 

Key management of the Company are directors and officers of the Company and their 

remuneration includes the following: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 

 2020 2019 
   

Management and directors’ fees $ 133,100 $ 125,100 

Professional fees  73,300  66,800 

Share-based payments *  53,848  - 
   

 $ 260,248 $ 191,900 

 

 * Share-based payments are the fair value of options granted to key management personnel 

as at the grant date. 

  

 Related party balances 

 

At July 31, 2020, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $7,500 (July 31, 2019: 

$8,167) payable to three directors of the Company for unpaid director’s fees. These amounts 

are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 

 

At July 31, 2020, related party receivables include $20,608 (July 31, 2019: $1,804) due from 

two public companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses. 

 

12. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 

  

The Company operates in one business segment, being the acquisition and exploration of 

mineral properties.  The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are distributed by 

geographic location as follows: 

 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31,  

2019 

   

                    Canada $ 1,197,070 $ 1,214,650 

                    U.S.A.  51,486  47,674 

   

                     $ 1,248,556 $ 1,262,324 
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13. INCOME TAXES 

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:  

 

    Years ended July 31, 

    2020 2019 

Loss before income taxes $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

Expected income tax (recovery) $  (193,000) $  (393,000) 

Change in statutory rate and other (1,000) 43,000 

Permanent difference 63,000 1,000 

Impact of flow through shares - 84,000 

Share issue costs (1,000) - 

Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory tax returns (18,000) 13,000 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 150,000  252,000  

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                   - $                  - 

 

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No net deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the above for the years ended July 

31, 2020 and 2019 because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize 

such assets is not probable. 

 

The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 

$8,969,000 (209: $8,472,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable 

income in future years. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2040. 

 

14. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern to pursue the development of its exploration and evaluation assets and to 

maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of 

acceptable risk.  In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of 

shareholders’ equity, which at July 31, 2020 was $2,830,019 (July 31, 2019: $3,336,849). 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 

economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 

its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt and acquire or dispose 

of assets.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company has not entered into any debt financing with any 

financial institution. 

 

    2020 2019 

Exploration and evaluation assets $     1,306,000  $     1,450,000  

Property and equipment  3,000  3,000  

Share issue costs  12,000  20,000  

Non-capital losses 2,592,000  2,290,000  

Net unrecognized deferred tax assets  $     3,913,000  $     3,763,000  
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14. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE (continued) 

 

The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and 

the Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior resource 

markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to these markets, and its ability 

to compete for investor support of its projects.  The Company is not subject to any externally 

imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the Company’s approach to capital 

management during the year ended July 31, 2020. 

 

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 

value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either  

           directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximates their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result 

of changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company has a minimal 

exposure to the US$ that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the 

extent that transactions are made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be 

insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 

other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 

and receivables are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and 

cash equivalents by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness. As at 

July 31, 2020, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing 

debt instruments and is therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with financial liabilities.  The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

sufficient cash balances to enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company 

addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares 

and the exercise of warrants and options.  While the Company has been successful in securing 

financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk 

is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity 

price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of 

precious metals and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken 

by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does 

not believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign 

exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

16. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 

 

 Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded 

from the statement of cash flows.  The following transactions were excluded from the 

statements of cash flows: 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020: 

 

a) There were no significant non-cash investing and financing activities. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2019: 

 

b) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $11,454 for exploration and 

evaluation assets. 
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17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 Subsequent to July 31, 2020, the following occurred: 

 

a) 183,333 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of $0.21 expired unexercised; and 

 

b) On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) 

with two arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect 

in Idaho, U.S.A. and three diamond projects in B.C. The acquisition has been accounted 

for as an asset acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares to the 

Vendors pursuant to the SPA. 1205011 became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company.  
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CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  
For the year ended July 31, 2022 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") 

 

Date of Report: November 28, 2022 

 

The following discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations for 

the year ended July 31, 2022 should be read in conjunction with its consolidated financial statements and 

related notes. The requisite financial data presented for the relevant periods has been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars. Additional 

information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Disclaimer for Forward-Looking Information 

 

Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s expectations 

regarding the Company's future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and 

opportunities such as the intended work programs on its existing property interests, the ability to meet 

financial commitments and the ability to raise funds when required.  Forward-looking statements consist of 

statements that are not purely historical, including any statements regarding beliefs, plans, expectations or 

intentions regarding the future. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 

results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the statements.  No 

assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will occur or, 

if they do occur, what benefits the Company will obtain from them.  These forward-looking statements 

reflect management’s current views and are based on certain assumptions and speak only as of the date of 

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  These assumptions, which include management’s current 

expectations, estimates and assumptions about its current property interests, the global economic 

environment, the market price and demand for mineral commodities and its ability to manage the property 

interests and operating costs, may prove to be incorrect.  A number of risks and uncertainties could cause 

the actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, 

including: (1) a downturn in general economic conditions, (2) a decreased demand or price for mineral 

commodities, (3) delays in the start of projects with respect to its property interests, (4) inability to locate 

and acquire additional property interests, (5) the uncertainty of government regulation and politics in North 

America regarding mineral exploration and mining, (6) potential negative financial impact from regulatory 

investigations, claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges, and (7) other factors beyond its 

control. 

 

There is a significant risk that such forward-looking statements will not prove to be accurate.  Investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.  No forward-looking statement 

is a guarantee of future results.  Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any intention or 

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.  Additional information about these and 

other assumptions, risks and uncertainties are set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors” below. 

 

Nature of Business 

 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (the "Company") is involved in the identification, acquisition and exploration of 

mineral properties that management deems as potentially viable to assist in the growth of the Company. At 

July 31, 2022, the Company had mineral property interests located in Canada and in the USA.  
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Mineral Properties 

 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which held a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and 

a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke 

Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the Johnson Cobalt Prospect. During the year ended July 

31, 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects 

from an arm's length vendor at no cost. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs 

of $2,200 to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units 

for staking costs of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; 

and 137 claim units for staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to 

approximately 6,146 acres. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 

holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268. In 

November 2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the Coleman Cobalt Prospect and 

fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling $151,065 

as of July 31, 2021.  

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario referred to as 

the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect through staking. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company decided to drop all mineral claims for the Johnson, 

Bucke and Lorraine Cobalt Prospects, and fully wrote off prior carrying costs in the amount of $313,037. 

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company holds a 100% interest in the Hector Cobalt Prospect. As at July 31, 2022, 

the Company had spent a total of $759,323 in exploration expenditures on the Hector Cobalt Prospect. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible follow-up work programs, however a final decision has not 

been made at this time.  

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia through 

staking.  

 

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 100% of the 

issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

(the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The 

Company issued 9,000,000 shares (valued at $495,000) pursuant to the agreement. The acquisition costs 

had been split evenly between the BC and the Idaho properties. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time. 
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Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor 

to acquire a 100% interest in six claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium. 

The Company issued 900,000 common shares (valued at $30,000).  

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time. 

 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project 

 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to purchase 100% of the issued 

and outstanding shares of Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz Solar”), which through its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp., holds a 100% interest in one lithium prospect in Nevada, 

U.S.A. (the “Solar Lithium Project”). The Company issued 7,000,000 shares (valued at $630,000) pursuant 

to the agreement. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the 

“Helios Claims”, the “Sun Claims” and the “Solar South Claims”) for staking costs of $106,941 to expand 

the size of its Solar Lithium Project to a total of 8,135 acres. The Company also provided two security 

deposits totalling $22,827 in relation to its Solar Lithium Project. 

 

The Company commenced its phase II drill campaign on the Solar Lithium Project in March. As disclosed 

in a news release dated March 25, 2022, the Company announced that the first hole of the phase II drill 

program has encountered 700 continuous feet of the targeted potential lithium-bearing claystone. This 700-

foot claystone intercept is more than double the length of any previous claystone intercept encountered on 

the Company's phase I drill program and as disclosed in a news release dated May 6, 2022, every drill hole 

of the phase II drill program encountered the targeted potential lithium-bearing claystone. 

 

As disclosed in a news release dated May 10, 2022, the Company announced it has received drill results 

from three holes of the phase II drill program. Hole-3 achieved values as high as 900 parts per million 

Lithium (ppm Li), Hole-4 achieved a high value of 790 ppm Li, and Hole-5 achieved a high value of 820 

ppm Li. Subsequently, as disclosed in a news release dated May 18, 2022, the Company announced it has 

received the final drill results from the phase II drill program. Hole 6 was drilled more than four kilometres 

(km) (approximately 2.5 miles) to the north of any previous hole drilled to date on the Solar Lithium Project. 

Drill Hole 6 discovered values as high as 630 parts per million (ppm) lithium (Li). To date, every hole 

drilled on the Solar Lithium Project has discovered lithium, including values as high as 1,300 ppm Li 

(announced on Jan. 17, 2022). 

 

As disclosed in a news release dated November 15, 2022, the Company announced that is has received 

approval from the Bureau of Land Management for up to 22 additional drill holes to be completed. A phase 

III drill program is currently being formulated. 

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company had spent a total of $850,047 in exploration expenditures on this project.  

 

BC Diamond Projects 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company acquired a 100% interest in three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC 

Diamond Projects”).  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company decided to drop the BC Diamonds Projects and fully 

wrote off the previous carrying costs in the amount of $261,665. 

 

  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp.  

For the year ended July 31, 2022 – Page 4 

 
Yukon Quartz Claims  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain load quartz mineral 

claims located in the Yukon Territory.  

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company decided to fully write off the previous carrying costs in the amount of 

$16,973. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

through staking. 

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company decided to fully write off the previous carrying costs in the amount of 

$10,330. 

 

The Company will continue exploration activities on its properties. In March 2020 the World Health 

Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is 

not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak 

and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future, 

and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all of its 

properties. 

 

Overall Performance  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the business of acquisition, exploration and, if 

warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not expect to generate any revenues in 

the foreseeable future or until a mineable reserve is defined and economically recoverable.  The Company 

expects to continue to incur expenses as it works to further explore and develop its mineral properties.  

 

The Company has conducted limited exploration on some of its properties, due to, among other things, the 

availability of sufficient funds for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, access to the 

property due to climate conditions, the uncertainties associated with the prices of precious and base metals 

and other minerals, and the global economic climate.  The Company is in the process of exploring its 

mineral properties and has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are economically 

recoverable.  

 

The Company’s future performance is largely tied to the outcome of future exploration and the overall 

financial markets. The recoverability of minerals from the Company’s properties is dependent upon, among 

other things, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain 

necessary financing to continue to explore and develop its properties and upon future profitable production. 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 

contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 

developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 

leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude 

of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. 

Uncertainty in credit markets, fluctuation in commodity prices and general economic downturns has led to 

increased difficulties in raising and borrowing funds. As a result, the Company may have difficulty raising 

equity financing for the purposes of exploration and development of the Company’s properties, without 

diluting the interests of current shareholders of the Company. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and 
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“Risk and Uncertainties” for a discussion of risk factors that may impact the Company’s ability to raise 

funds. 

 

Information about the Company’s commitments relating to its mineral properties is discussed above under 

“Nature of Business – Mineral Properties”. 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue during the year ended July 31, 2022 and 2021. The Company’s 

net comprehensive loss increased by $1,292,201 from $887,156 for the year ended July 31, 2021 to 

$2,179,357 for the year ended July 31, 2022, mainly due to an increase in share-based payments, corporate 

branding expenses, and the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets. The Company’s cash and cash 

equivalents decreased from $1,359,131 as at July 31, 2021 to $122,630 as at July 31, 2022. The Company 

had a working capital deficiency of $168,947 as at July 31, 2022 as compared to a working capital of 

$1,093,052 as at July 31, 2021. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $127,821 as at July 31, 2022 from $1,387,217 as at July 

31, 2021, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

slightly increased from $294,165 as at July 31, 2021 to $296,768 as at July 31, 2022 due to an increase in 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The value ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation 

assets has increased from $2,456,138 as at July 31, 2021 to $2,878,925 as at July 31, 2022, due mainly to 

the acquisition and exploration activities in Nevada offset by a write-down in B.C., Ontario, Yukon and 

Idaho, as set described above. 

 

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s business and financial 

performance is discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table sets out selected quarterly financial data for the eight most recently completed interim 

quarters: 

 
 

 
2022 

Fourth 

2022 

Third 

2022 

Second 

2022 

First 

2021 

Fourth 

2021 

Third 

2021 

Second 

2021 

First 

 

Revenues 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Operating 

expenses 

 

$(154,790) 

 

$(169,987) 

 

$(1,106,620) 

 

$(148,012) 

 

$(171,649) 

 

$(136,166) 

 

$(322,014) 

 

$(110,590) 

 

Loss before other items 

 

$(154,790) 

 

$(169,987) 

 

$(1,106,620) 

 

$(148,012) 

 

$(171,649) 

 

$(136,166) 

 

$(322,014) 

 

$(110,590) 

Loss per share 

(Basic and diluted) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.010) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

Other items: 

        

Interest income 

 

$326 

 

$458 

 

$532 

 

$721 

 

$1,221 

 

$1,076 

 

$5,185 

 

$5,196 

Interest expense 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$(8,350) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Flow-through 

indemnification 

provision 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Part XII.6 tax 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

Write-down of mineral 

properties 

 

$(339,720) 

 

$(261,665) 

 

$Nil 

 

$(600) 

 

$(151,065) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

Net comprehensive loss 

 

$(494,184) 

 

$(431,194) 

 

$(1,106,088) 

 

$(147,891) 

 

$(329,843) 

 

$(135,090) 

 

$(316,829) 

 

$(105,394) 

Basic and diluted loss 

per share  

 

$(0.004) 

 

$(0.004) 

 

$(0.010) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 
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Summary of Results During Prior Eight Quarters 

 

Net comprehensive loss increased by $211,435 from the first to the second quarter of 2021 mainly due to 

an increase in share-based payments and an increase in management fees. Net comprehensive loss 

decreased by $181,739 from the second to the third quarter of 2021 mainly due to a decrease in share-based 

payments. Net comprehensive loss increased by $194,753 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2021 

mainly due to an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets and an increase in 

professional fees. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $181,952 from the fourth quarter of 2021 to the 

first quarter of 2022 mainly due to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets as well 

as a decrease in professional fees. Net comprehensive loss increased by $958,197 from the first to the 

second quarter of 2022 mainly due to an increase in share-based payments. Net comprehensive loss 

decreased by $674,894 from the second to the third quarter of 2022 mainly due to a decrease in share-based 

payments offset by an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets. Net comprehensive 

loss increased by $62,990 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2022 mainly due to an increase in the write-

down of exploration and evaluation assets offset by a decrease in operating expenses. 

 

Selected Annual Information 

 

The following table sets out selected audited financial information for the Company, which has been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2022 2021 2020 

 
Total revenues 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items: 

 
Total 

 
$(2,179,357) 

 
$(887,156) 

 
$(714,368) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

Net comprehensive loss: 

 
Total 

 
$(2, 179,357) 

 
$(887,156) 

 
$(714,368) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
Total assets 

 
$3,340,028 

 
$4,210,767 

 
$3,034,663 

 
Total long term debt 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Cash dividends 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 

Year ended July 31, 2022 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2021 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the year ended July 31, 2022 and 2021. Net comprehensive 

loss increased by $1,292,201 from $887,156 for the year ended July 31, 2021 to $2,179,357 for the year 

ended July 31, 2022 due mainly to an increase in operating expenses and an increase in the write-down of 
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exploration and evaluation assets (year ended July 31, 2022: $601,985; year ended July 31, 2021: 

$151,065). Operating expenses increased by $838,990 from $740,419 for the year ended July 31, 2021 to 

$1,579,409 for the year ended July 31, 2022 due mainly to an increase in corporate branding expenses and 

in share-based payments. 

 

Corporate branding expenses increased during the year ended July 31, 2022 to $132,418 (year ended July 

31, 2021: $41,413) which included the following: 

 

 $80,244 (year ended July 31, 2021: $35,913) for online branding; 

 $4,500 (year ended July 31, 2021: $5,500) for social media services related to the corporate twitter; 

 $6,507 (year ended July 31, 2021: $Nil) for expenses incurred in relation to the MINE Expo 

International in Las Vegas;  

 $3,626 (year ended July 31, 2021: $Nil) for magazine advertisement; and 

 $37,541 (year ended July 31, 2021: $Nil) for other expenses. 

 

The corporate branding expenses were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the mining 

industry in general. Management anticipates such expenses may be similar or higher in the next 12-month 

period due to management’s decision regarding overall branding expenses, including a decision to increase 

online branding, or other such future services. 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2022: $969,145; year ended July 31, 2021: $167,709) 

were due to the Company granted 7,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.30 

per share for a one-year term (expiring on November 2, 2022) during the year ended July 31, 2022 as 

compared to 4,000,000 stock options were granted at a price of $0.075 per share for a one-year term 

(expiring on January 14, 2022) during the year ended July 31, 2021. The Company may grant options that 

are available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. Net comprehensive 

loss increased by $172,788 from $714,368 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $887,156 for the year ended 

July 31, 2021 due mainly to an increase in operating expenses and an increase in the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets (year ended July 31, 2021: $151,065; year ended July 31, 2020: $15,290), 

offset by a decrease in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2021: $Nil; year ended 

July 31, 2020: $135,000). 

 

Operating expenses increased by $184,546 from $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $740,419 for 

the year ended July 31, 2021 due mainly to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in 

depreciation expense (year ended July 31, 2021: $47,464; year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil). 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2021: $167,709; year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832) 

were due to the Company granted 4,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of 

$0.075 per share for a one-year term (expiring on January 14, 2022) during the year ended July 31, 2021 as 

compared to 5,000,000 stock options were granted at a price of $0.07 per share for a one-year term (expiring 

on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020.  

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company's mineral properties on a 

property by property basis, including its plans for the mineral properties, the status of its plans, expenditures 

made and the anticipated timing and costs to take its mineral properties to the next stage of the project plan. 

 

See “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the commitments, events, risks and uncertainties that the 

Company believe will materially affect its future performance and “Risks and Uncertainties” for a 

discussion of risk factors affecting the Company. 
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Discussion of Operations  

 

Use of Proceeds  

 

The table below provides an update as to the status of how the Company has previously announced a 

proposed use of proceeds from prior financings and the actual use of such proceeds. 

 

Financing Previously Disclosed Use of Proceeds Status of Use of 
$3,500,000 

August 2022 

Private Placement 

Towards drilling on current projects 

and general working capital.  
As of the date of this report, $195,365 used to 

pay finder’s fees and $13,088 used to pay legal 

and filing fees in connection with the private 

placement; $2,781 used in exploration 

expenditures incurred on the Nevada Clayton 

Valley W. Lithium Property; $859 used in 

exploration expenditures incurred on the Idaho 

Star Cobalt Prospect; $25,352 used in 

exploration expenditures incurred on the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt Project; $92,073 used in 

exploration expenditures incurred on the 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project; $32,648 used in 

security deposits in relation to the Solar 

Lithium Project; $145,834 used in general 

working capital; and $2,992,000 has not been 

used.  
 

In August 2022, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 34,653,465 units at a 

price of $0.101 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. Each unit consisted of one common share and 

one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share of the 

Company at a price of $0.15 per share until August 29, 2027. In connection with this private placement, the 

Company issued 1,780,304 broker warrants exercisable at $0.15 per share and 144,000 broker warrants 

exercisable at $0.19 per share until August 29, 2027. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 

Liquidity  

 

At July 31, 2022, the Company had $122,630 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital deficiency 

of $168,947 as compared to $1,359,131 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of $1,093,052 

at July 31, 2021. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $127,821 as at July 31, 2022 from $1,387,217 as at July 

31, 2021, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

slightly increased from $294,165 as at July 31, 2021 to $296,768 as at July 31, 2022 due to an increase in 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The value ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation 

assets has increased from $2,456,138 as at July 31, 2021 to $2,878,925 as at July 31, 2022, due mainly to 

the acquisition and exploration activities in Nevada offset by a write-down in B.C., Ontario, Yukon and 

Idaho, as set described above. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the following occurred: 

 

 3,006,452 share purchase warrants were exercised into common shares at $0.05 per share for gross 

proceeds of $150,323; and 

 

 3,100,000 stock options were exercised at $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of $232,500. 
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Subsequent to July 31, 2022, the following occurred: 

 

 The Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 34,653,465 units at a price of 

$0.101 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. 

Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents may not be sufficient to meet the 

current working capital requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's 

mineral properties. The Company may raise additional capital as the needs arise. See “Nature of Business 

– Mineral Properties” and “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the Company’s commitments relating 

to its mineral properties. As a mineral exploration company, its expenses are expected to increase as the 

Company explores its mineral properties further. Management does not expect the Company to generate 

sustained revenues from mineral production in the foreseeable future. 

 

The Company’s ability to conduct the planned work programs on its mineral properties, meet ongoing levels 

of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they become due is dependent, in large part, on the 

ability of management to raise additional funds as necessary. Management anticipates that additional equity 

financings will need to be conducted to raise additional funds which, if successful, will result in dilution in 

the equity interests of the Company’s current shareholders. Obtaining commercial loans, assuming those 

loans would be available, will increase the Company’s liabilities and future cash commitments.  Although 

the Company have secured financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do 

so in the future on terms that is favourable to the Company or at all.  The Company’s ability to raise 

additional funds in the future and its liquidity may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including 

changes in commodity prices, market volatility and general economic downturns. 

 

There is substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern as the continuation of its business 

is dependent upon obtaining further long-term financing, successful exploration of its mineral property 

interests, the identification of reserves sufficient to warrant development, successful development of its 

property interests and achieving a profitable level of operations.  Due to the uncertainty of its ability to meet 

its current operating and capital expenses, in their notes to its audited financial statements for the year ended 

July 31, 2022, the Company’s independent auditors included an explanatory paragraph regarding their 

substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Capital Resources 

 

The Company has the following commitments for capital expenditures with respect to its mineral properties 

as of July 31, 2022.  The expenditures are optional, and the Company may decide not to incur such payments 

in the event the Company does not decide to pursue further exploration with respect to such properties.  

 BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in one mineral claim, which is in good standing until 

February 28, 2023. In order to keep this claim in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $9,362 in exploration expenditures on this claim by February 28, 

2023 or pay cash-in-lieu of $18,724. 

 Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospects:  

o All Hector claims are in good standing until September 26, 2026 or later.  

 Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2023. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$1,980. 
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 Nevada Solar Lithium Project: 

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2023. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$65,505. 

 Idaho Cobalt Belt Project:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2023. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$19,470 

by September 1, 2023. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company’s capital expenditure 

commitments with respect to its mineral properties.  

 

On March 12, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office premises for a seven-year period 

beginning October 1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2027. The Company is required to pay monthly office 

rent (net of taxes) as follows: pay a total of $66,781 by July 31, 2023; pay a total of $67,615 by July 31, 

2024; pay a total of $68,449 by July 31, 2025; pay a total of $69,283 by July 31, 2026; pay a total of $70,117 

by July 31, 2027; and pay a total of $11,709 by September 30, 2027. However, the Company shares its 

office space with two related public companies and one non-related company. The Company invoices these 

companies for their share of the office rent on a monthly basis.  

 

Operating Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022 and, 2021, operating activities used cash of $515,795 and $395,414, 

respectively. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2022 was mainly attributable to its loss for the 

period of $2,179,357 offset by share-based payments of $969,145 and the write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets of $601,985. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2021 was mainly attributable to 

its loss for the period of $887,156 offset by share-based payments of $167,709 and the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets of $151,065. 

 

Investing Activities  

  

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company used cash of $1,034,817 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $1,011,990 and two security deposits in 

relation to the Solar Lithium Project in the amount of $22,827.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company used cash of $262,277 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $221,384 and acquisition of property and 

equipment in the amount of $40,893. 

 

Financing Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company was provided cash of $314,111 by financing activities, 

of which $382,823 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by $2,765 in share issue costs and 

$65,947 in repayment of lease liability.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company was provided $345,091 by financing activities, of which 

$399,468 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by $54,377 in repayment of lease liability. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company has not adopted any new accounting policies. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

Related Parties Transactions   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company incurred aggregate management fees of $105,600 to 

two directors, James Nelson and Seth Kay. There are no management agreements in place and the Company 

has no contractual requirement to continue paying management fees. During the year ended July 31, 2022, 

the Company accrued a total of $9,000 in directors’ fees payable to four directors, James Nelson, Seth Kay 

George Franklin Bain and Negar Adam. Management fees, directors’ fees and share-based payments are 

intended to compensate such persons for their time and dedication to the Company. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company paid $61,300 to an officer in consideration for 

accounting services provided to the Company.  Such payments were made in lieu of management fees to 

its Chief Financial Officer, Cindy Cai.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Company incurred share-based payments of $553,798 to three 

directors and one officer, being $193,829 to each of James Nelson and Seth Kay; and $83,070 to each of 

George Franklin Bain and Cindy Cai. As a mineral exploration issuer, the Company partially relies on the 

issuance of stock options to compensate its directors and officers for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

As at July 31, 2022, amount due to related parties were $12,499 (July 31, 2021: $10,000), which included 

the following: $2,500 each payable to James Nelson, Seth Kay and George Franklin Bain, and $1,500 

payable to Negar Adam, for unpaid directors’ fees; $2,500 payable to Cindy Cai for unpaid CFO fees; and 

$999 payable to Seth Kay for reimbursement of unpaid office expenses.  

 

At July 31, 2022, related party receivables include $Nil (July 31, 2021: $2,295) due from related parties. 

 

All transactions with related parties have occurred and are measured at the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

Fourth Quarter - Unaudited  

 

The Company did not have any revenue during the three months ended July 31, 2022 and 2021. Net 

comprehensive loss increased to $494,184 for the three months ended July 31, 2022 as compared to 

$329,843 for the three months ended July 31, 2021. The increase resulted primarily by an increase in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (three months ended July 31, 2022: $339,720; three months 

ended July 312021: $151,065).  

 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

Financial instruments  

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 

according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either             

                directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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The fair value of the Company’s receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates 

their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. The Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. The carrying value of the Company’s lease 

liability approximates its fair value due to being discounted with a rate of interest that approximates market 

rates. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2022, the Company has a minimal exposure to the US$ that is 

subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the extent that transactions are made in this 

currency. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign 

exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables and deposits 

are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by placing 

these instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness.  As at July 31, 2022, the Company is not 

exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. As at July 31, 2022, the Company is not exposed to any 

significant interest rate risk. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to enable 

settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company addresses its liquidity through equity financing 

obtained through the sale of common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company 

has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in 

the future. The Company is exposed to liquidity risk.  

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 

as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 

volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of precious metals and the stock market 

to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does not believe 

that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

Proposed Transactions 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company does not have any proposed transactions as of the date of this 

report. 
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Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred expenses including the following: 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Operating expenses $1,579,409 $740,419 

Capitalized exploration costs $917,831 $233,647 

Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets $106,941 $1,125,000 

Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets $601,985 $151,065 

 

Please refer to Note 8 Exploration and Evaluation Assets in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended July 31, 2022 for a description of the capitalized acquisition and exploration costs presented on 

a property-by-property basis. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company had 112,748,504 common shares issued and outstanding.  

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2022, the following occurred: 

 

 The Company issued 34,653,465 common shares in connection with the closing of a non-brokered 

private placement; and 

 

 The Company issued a total of 1,160,000 common shares to its directors, officers and consultants 

with respect to the vested RSUs. 

 

As at November 28, 2022, the Company had 148,561,969 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 

Stock options 

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company had 7,000,000 stock options outstanding entitling the holders thereof the 

right to purchase one common share for each option held as follows: 

 

Number   

Outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date 

7,000,000 $0.30 November 2, 2022 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2022, the following occurred: 

 

 7,000,000 stock options expired unexercised;  

 

 The Company granted 2,850,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.13 per share for a period 

of 12 months to its directors, officers and consultants; and 

 

 The Company granted 1,300,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period 

of 12 months to its directors, officers and consultants. 
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As at November 28, 2022, the Company had 4,150,000 stock options outstanding. 

 

Warrants 

 

As at July 31, 2022, the Company did not have any share purchase warrants outstanding.  

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2022, in connection with the closing of a non-brokered private placement, the 

Company issued 34,653,465 share purchase warrants exercisable at a price of $0.15 per share, issued 

1,780,304 broker warrants exercisable at $0.15 per share and issued 144,000 broker warrants exercisable at 

$0.19 per share until August 29, 2027. As at November 28, 2022, the Company had 36,577,769 share 

purchase warrants outstanding. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements and MD&A 

 

The Company’s management is responsible for presentation and preparation of the financial statements and 

the MD&A. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

 

The MD&A has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of securities regulators, including 

National Instrument 51-102 of the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

 

The consolidated financial statements and information in the MD&A necessarily include amounts based on 

informed judgments and estimates of the expected effects of current events and transactions with 

appropriate consideration to materiality. In addition, in preparing the financial information we must 

interpret the requirements described above, make determinations as to the relevancy of information to be 

included, and make estimates and assumptions that affect reported information.  

 

The MD&A also includes information regarding the impact of current transactions and events, sources of 

liquidity and capital resources, operating trends, risks, and uncertainties. Actual results in the future may 

differ materially from our present assessment of this information because future events and circumstances 

may not occur as expected. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties  

 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company 

faces a high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration 

companies and the high rate of failure of such enterprises.  The likelihood of success must be considered in 

light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the 

exploration program that the Company intend to undertake on its properties and any additional properties 

that the Company may acquire.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to 

exploration, and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  The expenditures to be 

made by the Company in the exploration of the properties may not result in the discovery of any mineral 

deposits.  Any expenditure that the Company may make in the exploration of any other mineral property 

that the Company may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially exploitable mineral 

deposits.  Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions are involved 

in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful and/or expensive exploration efforts.  If the results 

of the exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon or 

sell some or all the property interests. 
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Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that the 

exploration activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the current 

properties or any other additional properties the Company may acquire. 

 

The Company intend to continue exploration on the current properties and the Company may or may not 

acquire additional interests in other mineral properties.  The search for mineral deposits as a business is 

extremely risky.  The Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on the current 

properties, or any other property that the Company may acquire, will establish that any commercially 

exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist.  Additional potential problems may prevent the Company 

from discovering any mineral deposits.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating 

to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  If the Company is 

unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on the properties, the Company's ability to fund future 

exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the 

Company may incur liability or damages as the Company conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards.  As a result, the Company may become subject 

to liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company 

cannot insure or against which the Company may elect not to insure.  At the present time the Company 

have no coverage to insure against these hazards.  The payment of such liabilities may have a material 

adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the 

Company and even if the Company discovers and exploits mineral deposits, the Company may never 

become commercially viable and the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company's control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the 

Company explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, 

royalties, land tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation.  These factors cannot be 

accurately predicted and any one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving 

any return on invested capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial 

performance and the Company's ability to continue operations. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause 

substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the 

Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws, regulations 

and policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge 

of materials into the environment.  Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to foreign, 

federal, provincial, and local laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by 

regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment.  Properties may also be subject to complex 

Aboriginal claims. 

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by foreign, federal, provincial, or local authorities may 

be changed, and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may 

increase costs of doing so, which would have material adverse effects on the Company's business.  

Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of 

those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on the Company, especially, foreign laws and regulations.  

Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages that 

the Company may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other 
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reasons.  Any laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, 

applied or interpreted in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company's ability to carry on 

business. 

 

Because the Company's property interests may not contain any mineral deposits and because the Company 

has never made a profit from operations, the Company's securities are highly speculative, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

The Company's securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its 

business and the stage of exploration.  The Company currently has exploration stage property interests 

which may not contain mineral deposits.  The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other 

mineral properties, but the Company does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties 

as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  Accordingly, the Company have not 

generated any revenues nor have the Company realized a profit from operations to date and there is little 

likelihood that the Company will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term.  Any 

profitability in the future from the Company's business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting 

mineral deposits on current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that the Company 

may acquire and subsequent development.  The likelihood that any mineral properties that the Company 

may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits is extremely 

remote.  The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to current properties or any other 

area, or the Company may do so and still not be commercially successful if the Company is unable to 

exploit those mineral deposits profitably.  The Company may not be able to operate profitably and may 

have to cease operations, the price of the Company's securities may decline, and investors may lose all their 

investment in the Company. 

 

As the Company face intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, the Company 

will have to compete with competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

Competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with greater 

financial and technical resources than the Company have.  As a result of this competition, the Company 

may have to compete for financing and be unable to conduct any financing on terms the Company consider 

acceptable.  The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment 

and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees.  If the Company is unable to successfully 

compete for financing or for qualified employees, the exploration programs may be slowed down or 

suspended, which may cause operations to cease as a company. 

 

The Company have a history of losses and have a deficit, which raises substantial doubt about its ability to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company has not generated any revenues during the year ended July 31, 2022 and 2021. The Company 

will continue to incur operating expenses without revenues if and until the Company engages in commercial 

operations. Accumulated loss as of July 31, 2022 was $21,113,153 since inception. The Company had cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of $122,630 as at July 31, 2022. The Company estimates the average 

monthly operating expenses to be approximately $50,000 each month. This estimate depends on whether 

the Company is active or inactive with the work programs. The Company cannot provide assurances that 

the Company will be able to successfully explore and develop its property interests. These circumstances 

raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern, which was also described in an 

explanatory paragraph to the independent auditors' report on the Company's audited financial statements, 

July 31, 2022. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, investors will likely lose all their 

investments in the Company. 

 

The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if the Company does not obtain 

such financing, the Company may have to cease its exploration activities and investors could lose their 

entire investment. 
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There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate any positive cash flow in 

the future.  The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and, if 

warranted, development of its properties.  The Company will also require additional financing for fees the 

Company must pay to maintain its status in relation to the rights to the properties and to pay the fees and 

expenses necessary to operate as a public company.  The Company will also need more funds if the costs 

of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than the Company has anticipated.  The Company will 

require additional financing to sustain its business operations if the Company is not successful in earning 

revenues.  The Company will also need further financing if the Company decides to obtain additional 

mineral properties.  The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing as the 

Company believes that it is sufficiently funded for the current operations but in future the Company expects 

to raise additional capital as the needs arise.  The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain 

financing.  If the Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail, and investors could lose 

their entire investment. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are engaged in other business activities and accordingly may not 

devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which may affect its ability to conduct operations 

and generate revenues. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are involved in other business activities.  As a result of their other 

business endeavours, the Company's directors and officers will exercise their fiduciary duties and duty of 

care but nonetheless may not be able to devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which 

may negatively affect the Company's ability to conduct ongoing operations and its ability to generate 

revenues.  In addition, the management of the Company may be periodically interrupted or delayed as a 

result of the Company's officers’ other business interests. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK 

 

A decline in the price of the Company's common stock could affect its ability to raise further working capital 

and adversely impact ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company's common stock could result in a reduction in the liquidity 

of its common stock and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of operations 

have been and will be financed through the continued sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of the 

common stock could be especially detrimental to liquidity and operations. Such reductions may force the 

Company to reallocate funds from other planned uses and may have a significant negative effect on business 

plans and operations, including the ability to continue current operations. If the Company's stock price 

declines, the Company can offer no assurance that it will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds 

from operations sufficient to meet its obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the 

future, the Company may not be able to have the resources to continue normal operations or become 

insolvent. 

 

The market price for the Company's common stock may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed 

expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of its common stock and its operations as a result.  

 

Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities.  The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at http://www.sedar.com. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") 

 

Date of Report: November 5, 2021 

 

The following discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations for 

the year ended July 31, 2021 should be read in conjunction with its audited financial statements and related 

notes. The requisite financial data presented for the relevant periods has been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars. Additional 

information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Disclaimer for Forward-Looking Information 

 

Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s expectations 

regarding the Company's future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and 

opportunities such as the intended work programs on its existing property interests, the ability to meet 

financial commitments and the ability to raise funds when required.  Forward-looking statements consist of 

statements that are not purely historical, including any statements regarding beliefs, plans, expectations or 

intentions regarding the future. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 

results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the statements.  No 

assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will occur or, 

if they do occur, what benefits the Company will obtain from them.  These forward-looking statements 

reflect management’s current views and are based on certain assumptions and speak only as of the date of 

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  These assumptions, which include management’s current 

expectations, estimates and assumptions about its current property interests, the global economic 

environment, the market price and demand for mineral commodities and its ability to manage the property 

interests and operating costs, may prove to be incorrect.  A number of risks and uncertainties could cause 

the actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, 

including: (1) a downturn in general economic conditions, (2) a decreased demand or price for mineral 

commodities, (3) delays in the start of projects with respect to its property interests, (4) inability to locate 

and acquire additional property interests, (5) the uncertainty of government regulation and politics in North 

America regarding mineral exploration and mining, (6) potential negative financial impact from regulatory 

investigations, claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges, and (7) other factors beyond its 

control. 

 

There is a significant risk that such forward-looking statements will not prove to be accurate.  Investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.  No forward-looking statement 

is a guarantee of future results.  Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any intention or 

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.  Additional information about these and 

other assumptions, risks and uncertainties are set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors” below. 

 

Nature of Business 

 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.; the "Company") is involved in the identification, 

acquisition and exploration of mineral properties that management deems as potentially viable to assist in 

the growth of the Company. At July 31, 2021, the Company had mineral property interests located in 

Canada and in the USA.  

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Mineral Properties 

 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters SPA”) with four 

arm’s length vendors to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which 

holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the 

Johnson Cobalt Prospect. In March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above 

four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 

100% interest in the above four cobalt prospects in Ontario and two in B.C. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs 

of $2,200 to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units 

for staking costs of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; 

and 137 claim units for staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to 

approximately 6,146 acres. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 

holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario referred to 

as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $5,600. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. (“RJK”), an 

arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company in exchange for the 

exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at RJK’s own risk and expense, to 

enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, 

$5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition costs of the Lorraine claims. The agreement had been mutually 

terminated by the Company and RJK on December 21, 2020 with no liability or remaining obligation of 

any of the parties to the other except for the confidentiality obligations. 

 

The Company engaged Apex Geoscience Ltd., based out of Edmonton, Alberta, to assist in the 2021 

drill/work programs and hired Vital Drilling Services of Val Caron, Ontario, to conduct the drill program. 

As disclosed in a news release dated June 24, 2021, the Company announced that it has received a drill 

permit from the Ministry of Energy, Northern Development & Mines (MNDM). As disclosed in a news 

release dated July 20, 2021, the drill program was completed. On September 13, 2021, the Company 

announced that the 2021 drilling targeted the prospective lower contact of Nipissing diabase sills and 

Archean volcanic basement rocks at depth. 

 

Drill holes 21HC01 and 21HC02 drilled from the same collar intersected the base of the Nipissing diabase 

at 248 and 231 metres downhole respectively. Hole 21HC01 cut a broad zone of anomalous silver-copper 

mineralized mafic volcanic rocks returning assays of 0.87 gram per tonne silver and 0.01 per cent copper 

over 32.3 metres from a depth of 279.7 metres, including a higher-grade interval of 1.06 g/t Ag over 19.5 

metres from a depth of 286.5 metres yielding individual assays of up to 3.2 g/t Ag. The silver-copper zone 

within 21HC021 is characterized by the presence of moderate chlorite alteration and silica flooding 

accompanied by fine-grained disseminated chalcopyrite-pyrite mineralization. 

 

In addition to the volcanic hosted silver-copper zone, several cobalt-copper intervals occur within drill holes 

21HC01 and 21HC02 that are comparable with values returned during Cruz's initial 2018 drill campaign 

including: 0.03 per cent cobalt and 0.088 per cent Cu over one metre at a depth of 143 metres; 0.01 per cent 

Co and 0.12 per cent Cu over one metre at 74 metres downhole within 21HC02; and 0.012 per cent Co and 

0.07 per cent copper over one metre at 153.5 metres downhole within 21HC01. 
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The true width of mineralization is estimated to be 80 to 90 per cent of the drilled interval. 

 

Drill hole 21HC03 targeting a north-northwest-striking fault structure that juxtaposes Nipissing diabase and 

Archean basement rocks to the north remained in diabase to an end-of-hole at a depth of 249 metres. 

Textural variation within Nipissing diabase, and variation in the observed mineralization and magnetic 

susceptibility, confirm the presence of a west-dipping, multiphase sill complex. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible follow-up work programs, however a final decision has not 

been made at this time. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $778,989 in exploration expenditures on the Ontario 

cobalt prospects. 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the Coleman Cobalt 

Prospect and fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling 

$151,065 as of July 31, 2021.  

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia for 

staking costs of $3,496.   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to reduce the size of certain War Eagle claims 

from 4,936 acres to 1,542 acres. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of 

$18,705 were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

BC Diamond Projects 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with two arm’s 

length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), 

which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one 

cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the 

“BC Diamond Projects”). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In September 

2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares (issued at a value of $495,000) to the vendors pursuant to the 

SPA. 1205011 became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split 

evenly between the BC and the Idaho properties.  

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $14,165 in claim maintenance fees on this project. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time.  

 

Yukon Quartz Claims  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in ninety-five load quartz 

mineral claims covering an area of approximately 4,836 acres, located in the Yukon Territory.  

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue with certain 

claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these lapsed claims were written off. 
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As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on the remaining 

Yukon quartz claims. 

 

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

 

On September 1, 2020, under the SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in one cobalt 

prospect in Idaho, U.S.A.  

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time.  

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $26,225 in claim maintenance fees on the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt project. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

for staking costs of $39,964. This prospect is located approximately 9 miles southwest of Saltese, Montana 

and 19 miles southeast of Wallace, Idaho. This prospect consists of 44 contiguous claims within the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse when they 

became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 were written down as of 

July 31, 2018. 

 

The Company is considering a follow up program. However, a final decision has not been concluded at this 

time.  

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $5,842 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor 

to acquire a 100% interest in six claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium.   

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $13,794 in claim maintenance fees on this 

prospect. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time.  

 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project 

 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Solar SPA”) with two arm’s 

length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz 

Solar”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp., holds a 100% 

interest in one lithium prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the “Nevada Solar Lithium Project”). The acquisition 

has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In July 2021, the Company issued 7,000,000 shares (issued 

at a value of $630,000) to the vendors pursuant to the Solar SPA. Cruz Solar became a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company. 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada 

Helios Claims”) for staking costs of $83,966 to expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project to 

5,500 acres; and the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Sun 
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Claims”) for staking costs of $7,908 to further expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project to a 

total of 6,215 acres. 

 

As disclosed in a news release dated October 8, 2021, the Company announced it has encountered multiple 

separate sample results returning values higher than 1,059 parts per million (ppm) lithium (Li), including 

values as high as 1,610 ppm Li.  

 

As disclosed in a news release dated October 15, 2021, the Company announced it has applied for a drill 

permit from the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) which was subsequently approved as announced in a 

news release on October 29, 2021. The Company also announced on October 25, 2021, it has contracted 

Harris Exploration Drilling and Associates Inc. to conduct the drill program which is expected to start 

shortly. 

 

The Company will continue exploration activities on its properties. In March 2020 the World Health 

Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is 

not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak 

and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future, 

and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all of its 

properties. 

 

Overall Performance  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the business of acquisition, exploration and, if 

warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not expect to generate any revenues in 

the foreseeable future or until a mineable reserve is defined and economically recoverable.  The Company 

expects to continue to incur expenses as it works to further explore and develop its mineral properties.  

 

The Company has conducted limited exploration on some of its properties, due to, among other things, the 

availability of sufficient funds for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, access to the 

property due to climate conditions, the uncertainties associated with the prices of precious and base metals 

and other minerals, and the global economic climate.  The Company is in the process of exploring its 

mineral properties and has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are economically 

recoverable.  

 

The Company’s future performance is largely tied to the outcome of future exploration and the overall 

financial markets. The recoverability of minerals from the Company’s properties is dependent upon, among 

other things, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain 

necessary financing to continue to explore and develop its properties and upon future profitable production. 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 

contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 

developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 

leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude 

of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. 

Uncertainty in credit markets, fluctuation in commodity prices and general economic downturns has led to 

increased difficulties in raising and borrowing funds. As a result, the Company may have difficulty raising 

equity financing for the purposes of exploration and development of the Company’s properties, without 

diluting the interests of current shareholders of the Company. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and 

“Risk and Uncertainties” for a discussion of risk factors that may impact the Company’s ability to raise 

funds. 
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Information about the Company’s commitments relating to its mineral properties is discussed above under 

“Nature of Business – Mineral Properties”. 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue during the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company’s 

net comprehensive loss increased by $172,788 from $714,368 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $887,156 

for the year ended July 31, 2021, mainly due to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets, offset by a decrease in flow-through indemnification 

provision. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased from $1,671,731 as at July 31, 2020 to 

$1,359,131 as at July 31, 2021. The Company had a working capital of $1,093,052 as at July 31, 2021 as 

compared to $1,581,463 as at July 31, 2020. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,387,217 as at July 31, 2021 from $1,786,107 as at July 

31, 2020, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 to $294,165 as at July 31, 2021 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities as well as an increase in lease liability. The value ascribed to the Company’s 

exploration and evaluation assets has increased from $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020 to $2,456,138 as at 

July 31, 2021, due mainly to the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects, the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project and 

the Nevada Solar Lithium Project, offset by the write-down of ON Coleman Cobalt Prospect, as set 

described above. 

 

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s business and financial 

performance is discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table sets out selected quarterly financial data for the eight most recently completed interim 

quarters: 

 
 

 
2021 

Fourth 

2021 

Third 

2021 

Second 

2021 

First 

2020 

Fourth 

2020 

Third 

2020 

Second 

2020 

First 

 

Revenues 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Operating 

expenses 

 

$(171,649) 

 

$(136,166) 

 

$(322,014) 

 

$(110,590) 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

 

Loss before other items 

 

$(171,649) 

 

$(136,166) 

 

$(322,014) 

 

$(110,590) 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

Loss per share 

(Basic and diluted) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

Other items: 

        

Interest income 

 

$1,221 

 

$1,076 

 

$5,185 

 

$5,196 

 

$5,418 

 

$6,178 

 

$12,043 

 

$156 

Interest expense 

 

$(8,350) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Flow-through 

indemnification provision 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$(135,000) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Part XII.6 tax 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$(32,000) 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

Write-down of mineral 

properties 

 

$(151,065) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$(15,290) 

 

$Nil 

 

Net comprehensive loss 

 

$(329,843) 

 

$(135,090) 

 

$(316,829) 

 

$(105,394) 

 

$(283,982) 

 

$(126,660) 

 

$(203,672) 

 

$(100,054) 

Basic and diluted loss per 

share  

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

Summary of Results During Prior Eight Quarters 
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Net comprehensive loss increased by $103,618 from the first to the second quarter of 2020 mainly due to 

an increase in share-based payments and in management and directors’ fees. Net comprehensive loss 

decreased by $77,012 from the second to the third quarter of 2020 mainly due to a decrease in share-based 

payments. Net comprehensive loss increased by $157,322 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2020 

mainly due to an increase in flow-through indemnification provision. Net comprehensive loss decreased by 

$178,588 from the fourth quarter of 2020 to the first quarter of 2021 mainly due to a decrease in flow-

through indemnification provision. Net comprehensive loss increased by $211,435 from the first to the 

second quarter of 2021 mainly due to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in management 

fees. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $181,739 from the second to the third quarter of 2021 mainly 

due to a decrease in share-based payments. Net comprehensive loss increased by $194,753 from the third 

to the fourth quarter of 2021 mainly due to an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation 

assets and an increase in professional fees. 

 

Selected Annual Information 

 

The following table sets out selected audited financial information for the Company, which has been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2021 2020 2019 

 
Total revenues 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items: 

 
Total 

 
$(887,156) 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

Net comprehensive loss: 

 
Total 

 
$(887,156) 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Total assets 

 
$4,210,767 

 
$3,034,663 

 
$3,397,603 

 
Total long term debt 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Cash dividends 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. Net comprehensive 

loss increased by $172,788 from $714,368 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $887,156 for the year ended 

July 31, 2021 due mainly to an increase in operating expenses and an increase in the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets (year ended July 31, 2021: $151,065; year ended July 31, 2020: $15,290), 

offset by a decrease in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2021: $Nil; year ended 

July 31, 2020: $135,000). 
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Operating expenses increased by $184,546 from $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $740,419 for 

the year ended July 31, 2021 due mainly to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in 

depreciation expense (year ended July 31, 2021: $47,464; year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil). 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2021: $167,709; year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832) 

were due to the Company granted 4,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of 

$0.075 per share for a one-year term (expiring on January 14, 2022) during the year ended July 31, 2021 as 

compared to 5,000,000 stock options were granted at a price of $0.07 per share for a one-year term (expiring 

on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020. The Company may grant options that are 

available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2019 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. Net comprehensive 

loss decreased by $742,530 from $1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 to $714,368 for the year 

ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (year 

ended July 31, 2020: $15,290; year ended July 31, 2019: $765,415) as well as a decrease in operating 

expenses, offset by an increase in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2020: 

$135,000; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil). Operating expenses decreased by $168,091 from $723,964 for 

the year ended July 31, 2019 to $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in 

investor relations expenses offset by an increase in share-based payments. 

 

Decreased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000) 

were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital media, 

corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month period 

from December 2017. The service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have plans to 

enter into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to 

replace those consultants. 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil) were 

due to the Company granted 5,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.07 per 

share for a one-year term (expiring on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020 as compared 

to Nil stock options were granted during the year ended July 31, 2019. The Company may grant options 

that are available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company's mineral properties on a 

property by property basis, including its plans for the mineral properties, the status of its plans, expenditures 

made and the anticipated timing and costs to take its mineral properties to the next stage of the project plan. 

 

See “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the commitments, events, risks and uncertainties that the 

Company believe will materially affect its future performance and “Risks and Uncertainties” for a 

discussion of risk factors affecting the Company. 

 

Discussion of Operations  

 

Use of Proceeds  

 

The table below provides an update as to the status of how the Company has previously announced a 

proposed use of proceeds from prior financings and the actual use of such proceeds. 

 

Financing Previously Disclosed Use of Proceeds Status of Use of 
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$550,000 

Flow-through 

August 2017 

Private Placement 

Flow-through funds - towards existing 

Canadian properties.  
As of the date of this report, all 

flow-through funds have been 

used.  

 

In August 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the "Offering") consisting of 

2,619,047 flow-through shares at $0.21 per share for gross proceeds of $550,000. The Company incurred 

filing fees of $4,100 and legal fees of $7,170, paid an aggregate finders' fees of $38,500, and issued 183,333 

broker warrants (the "Broker Warrants") in connection with the Offering. Each Broker Warrant is 

exercisable at $0.21 per share into one common share until August 11, 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Liquidity  

 

At July 31, 2021, the Company had $1,359,131 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of 

$1,093,052 as compared to $1,671,731 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of $1,581,463 at 

July 31, 2020. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,387,217 as at July 31, 2021 from $1,786,107 as at July 

31, 2020, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 to $294,165 as at July 31, 2021 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities as well as an increase in lease liability. The value ascribed to the Company’s 

exploration and evaluation assets has increased from $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020 to $2,456,138 as at 

July 31, 2021, due mainly to the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects, the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project and 

the Nevada Solar Lithium Project, offset by the write-down of ON Coleman Cobalt Prospect, as set 

described above. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the following occurred: 

 

 1,550,000 stock options were exercised at $0.07 per share and 400,000 stock options were exercised 

at $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of $138,500; and 

 

 5,219,355 share purchase warrants were exercised at $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of 

$260,968. 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the following occurred: 

 

 500,000 share purchase warrants were exercised at $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $25,000; 

and 

 

 600,000 stock options were exercised at $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of $45,000. 

 

Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents may not be sufficient to meet the 

current working capital requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's 

mineral properties. The Company expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise. See “Nature of 

Business – Mineral Properties” and “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the Company’s commitments 

relating to its mineral properties. As a mineral exploration company, its expenses are expected to increase 

as the Company explores its mineral properties further. Management does not expect the Company to 

generate sustained revenues from mineral production in the foreseeable future. 

 

The Company’s ability to conduct the planned work programs on its mineral properties, meet ongoing levels 

of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they become due is dependent, in large part, on the 
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ability of management to raise additional funds as necessary. Management anticipates that additional equity 

financings will need to be conducted to raise additional funds which, if successful, will result in dilution in 

the equity interests of the Company’s current shareholders. Obtaining commercial loans, assuming those 

loans would be available, will increase the Company’s liabilities and future cash commitments.  Although 

the Company have secured financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do 

so in the future on terms that is favourable to the Company or at all.  The Company’s ability to raise 

additional funds in the future and its liquidity may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including 

changes in commodity prices, market volatility and general economic downturns. 

 

There is substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern as the continuation of its business 

is dependent upon obtaining further long-term financing, successful exploration of its mineral property 

interests, the identification of reserves sufficient to warrant development, successful development of its 

property interests and achieving a profitable level of operations.  Due to the uncertainty of its ability to meet 

its current operating and capital expenses, in their notes to its audited financial statements for the year ended 

July 31, 2021, the Company’s independent auditors included an explanatory paragraph regarding their 

substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Capital Resources 

 

The Company has the following commitments for capital expenditures with respect to its mineral properties 

as of July 31, 2021.  The expenditures are optional, and the Company may decide not to incur such payments 

in the event the Company does not decide to pursue further exploration with respect to such properties. As 

the BC Ministry continues to respond and adapt to the directions and orders issued in response to COVID-

19, the Chief Gold Commissioner has issued a blanket Time Extension Order for all claims and leases, as 

well as all coal licenses and leases. All the Company’s BC claims have fallen into this Order and therefore 

the Company has until December 31, 2021 to register a statement of exploration and development, or 

register payment instead of exploration and development. In addition, Ministry of Energy, Northern 

Development and Mines (“MNDM”) of Ontario published a bulletin, Exclusions of Time for Claim Holders 

Due to COVID-19, on April 17, 2020. Pursuant to the Bulletin, claim holders with claim anniversary dates 

on or before December 31, 2020 will be given an exclusion order by making a brief request via email. The 

exclusion orders will remove the requirement to carry out assessment work for a period of time of up to 12 

months. In February and May 2021, MNDM published two additional bulletins. Pursuant to the Bulletins, 

claim holders with claim anniversary dates on or before July 31, 2021 and October 31, 2021 will be given 

an exclusion order by making a brief request via email. The exclusion orders will remove the requirement 

to carry out assessment work for a period of time of up to 12 months. The Company has emailed the 

Provincial Recording Office at pro.ndm@ontario.ca to obtain the exclusion order for our qualified claims. 

 BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in one mineral claim, which is in good standing until 

December 31, 2021. In order to keep this claim in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $9,362 in exploration expenditures on this claim by December 31, 

2021 or pay cash-in-lieu of $18,724. 

 BC Diamond Projects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in four mineral claims, which are in good standing 

until June 12, 2022. In order to keep these claims in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $7,083 in exploration expenditures on these claims by June 12, 2022 

or pay cash-in-lieu of $14,165. 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/mineral-exploration-mining/documents/mineral-titles/13180-20-411_signed_order_march_27_2020.pdf
mailto:pro.ndm@ontario.ca
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 Yukon Quartz Claims:  

o Two Yukon Quartz claims are in good standing until October 3, 2022. In order to renew 

these claims for another year, the Company is required to pay an annual rent of $210 to the 

Government of Yukon by October 3, 2022 for the Yukon Quartz claims, unless the 

Company spends an amount greater than that in exploration beforehand.  

 Ontario Bucke Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2022 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $14,400 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2022. 

 Ontario Coleman Cobalt Prospects:  

o 11 claim units are in good standing until July 19, 2022. In order to keep these claims in 

good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $3,000 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2022. 

o 8 claim units are in good standing until June 26, 2022 or later. In order to keep these claims 

in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $1,800 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by June 26, 2022. 

 Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospects:  

o All Hector claims are in good standing until September 26, 2026 or later.  

 Ontario Johnson Cobalt Prospects:  

o 25 mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2022 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2022. 

 Ontario Lorraine Cobalt Prospects:  

o 31 mineral claims are in good standing until December 29, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $10,600 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims or pay cash-in-lieu by December 29, 2021. 

 Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$1,980. 

 Nevada Solar Lithium Project: 

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$25,575. 

 Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$660 by 

September 1, 2022. 
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 Idaho Cobalt Belt Project:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$19,470 

by September 1, 2022. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company’s capital expenditure 

commitments with respect to its mineral properties.  

 

On March 12, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office premises for a seven-year period 

beginning October 1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2027. The Company is required to pay monthly office 

rent (net of taxes) as follows: pay a total of $65,947 by July 31, 2022; pay a total of $66,781 by July 31, 

2023; pay a total of $67,615 by July 31, 2024; pay a total of $68,449 by July 31, 2025; pay a total of $69,283 

by July 31, 2026; pay a total of $70,117 by July 31, 2027; and pay a total of $11,709 by September 30, 

2027. However, the Company shares its office space with two related public companies and one non-related 

company. The Company invoices these companies for their share of the office rent on a monthly basis.  

 

Operating Activities  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021 and, 2020, operating activities used cash of $395,414 and $525,546, 

respectively. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2021 was mainly attributable to its loss for the 

period of $887,156 offset by share-based payments of $167,709 and the write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets of $151,065. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2020 was mainly attributable to 

its loss for the period of $714,368 offset by share-based payments of $59,832 and increased accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities of $155,344. 

 

Investing Activities  

  

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company used cash of $262,277 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $221,384 and acquisition of property and 

equipment in the amount of $40,893. During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company used cash of 

$12,976 in investing activities due to investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of 

$17,976 offset by $5,000 in recovery of exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Financing Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company was provided $345,091 by financing activities, of which 

$399,468 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by $54,377 in repayment of lease liability.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company was provided $147,706 by financing activities, of which 

$149,600 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by share issue costs of $1,894. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company has not adopted any new accounting policies. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

Related Parties Transactions   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company incurred aggregate management fees of $126,600 to 

two directors, James Nelson and Seth Kay. There are no management agreements in place and the Company 
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has no contractual requirement to continue paying management fees. During the year ended July 31, 2021, 

the Company accrued a total of $7,500 in directors’ fees payable to three directors, James Nelson, Seth Kay 

and Gregory Thomson (Mr. Thomson resigned on October 28, 2021). Management fees, directors’ fees and 

share-based payments are intended to compensate such persons for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company paid $73,800 to an officer in consideration for 

accounting services provided to the Company.  Such payments were made in lieu of management fees to 

its Chief Financial Officer, Cindy Cai.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company incurred share-based payments of $113,203 to three 

directors and one officer, being $25,156 to each of James Nelson and Seth Kay; $20,964 to Gregory 

Thomson; and $41,927 to Cindy Cai. As a mineral exploration issuer, the Company partially relies on the 

issuance of stock options to compensate its directors and officers for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, amount due to related parties were $10,000 (July 31, 2020: $7,500), which included 

the following: $2,500 each payable to James Nelson, Seth Kay, Gregory Thomson and Cindy Cai for unpaid 

directors’ and CFO fees.  

 

At July 31, 2021, related party receivables include $2,295 (July 31, 2020: $20,608) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses as below: $1,377 due from Sienna 

Resources Inc. and $918 due from Spearmint Resources Inc. 

 

All transactions with related parties have occurred and are measured at the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

Fourth Quarter - Unaudited  

 

The Company did not have any revenue during the three months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. Net 

comprehensive loss increased to $329,843 for the three months ended July 31, 2021 as compared to 

$283,982 for the three months ended July 31, 2020. The increase resulted primarily by an increase in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (three months ended July 31, 2021: $151,065; three months 

ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) as well as an increase in operating expenses, offset by a decrease in flow-through 

indemnification provision (three months ended July 31, 2021: $Nil; three months ended July 31, 2020: 

$135,000). 

 

Total operating expenses were $171,649 for the three months ended July 31, 2021, as compared to $122,400 

for the three months ended July 31, 2020. The increase resulted primarily from an increase of $22,500 in 

corporate branding expenses and an increase of $17,024 in professional fees.  

 

Corporate branding expenses increased during the three months ended July 31, 2021 to $22,500 (three 

months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) which included the following: 

 

 $21,000 (three months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) for online branding; and 

 $1,500 (three months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) for social media services related to the corporate 

twitter. 

 

The corporate branding expenses were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the mining 

industry in general. Management anticipates such expenses may be similar or higher in the next 12-month 

period due to management’s decision regarding overall branding expenses, including a decision to increase 

online branding, or other such future services. 
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Higher professional fees incurred in the three months ended July 31, 2021 were related to property 

acquisitions completed in the period. Management anticipates such expenses may be similar in the next 12-

month period due to management’s decision to acquire or dispose the Company’s mineral properties. 
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Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

Financial instruments  

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 

according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either             

                directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates 

their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. The Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company has a minimal exposure to the US$ that is 

subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the extent that transactions are made in this 

currency. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign 

exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables are 

exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by placing these 

instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company is not exposed 

to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing debt instruments and is 

therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. As at July 31, 2021, the Company is 

not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to enable 

settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company addresses its liquidity through equity financing 

obtained through the sale of common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company 

has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in 

the future.   
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Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 

as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 

volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of precious metals and the stock market 

to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does not believe 

that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

Proposed Transactions 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company does not have any proposed transactions as of the date of this 

report. 

 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred expenses including the following: 

 

 2021 2020 

   

Operating expenses $740,419 $555,873 

Capitalized exploration costs $233,647 $6,522 

Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets $1,125,000 $Nil 

Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets $Nil $5,000 

Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets $151,065 $15,290 

 

Please refer to Note 9 Exploration and Evaluation Assets in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended July 31, 2021 for a description of the capitalized acquisition and exploration costs presented on 

a property-by-property basis. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had 106,642,052 common shares issued and outstanding. Subsequent to 

July 31, 2021, the Company issued a total of 500,000 common shares for share purchase warrant exercise 

and issued a total of 600,000 common shares for stock option exercise. As at November 5, 2021, the 

Company had 107,742,052 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 

Stock options 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had 3,600,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable which entitles 

the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held at an exercise price of 

$0.075 per share until January 14, 2022.  

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, 600,000 stock options were exercised into common shares and 500,000 stock 

options were forfeited due to resignation of one director, all at a price of $0.075 per share. As at November 

5, 2021, the Company had 2,500,000 stock options outstanding. 
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Warrants 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had 3,006,452 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each warrant entitles 

the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise   

Number  Price  Expiry Date 

     

  3,006,452  $0.05   January 17, 2025 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, 500,000 share purchase warrants were exercised into common shares at a 

price of $0.05 per share. As at November 5, 2021, the Company had 2,506,452 share purchase warrants 

outstanding. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties  

 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company 

faces a high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration 

companies and the high rate of failure of such enterprises.  The likelihood of success must be considered in 

light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the 

exploration program that the Company intend to undertake on its properties and any additional properties 

that the Company may acquire.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to 

exploration, and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  The expenditures to be 

made by the Company in the exploration of the properties may not result in the discovery of any mineral 

deposits.  Any expenditure that the Company may make in the exploration of any other mineral property 

that the Company may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially exploitable mineral 

deposits.  Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions are involved 

in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful and/or expensive exploration efforts.  If the results 

of the exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon or 

sell some or all the property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that the 

exploration activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the current 

properties or any other additional properties the Company may acquire. 

 

The Company intend to continue exploration on the current properties and the Company may or may not 

acquire additional interests in other mineral properties.  The search for mineral deposits as a business is 

extremely risky.  The Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on the current 

properties, or any other property that the Company may acquire, will establish that any commercially 

exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist.  Additional potential problems may prevent the Company 

from discovering any mineral deposits.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating 

to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  If the Company is 

unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on the properties, the Company's ability to fund future 

exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the 

Company may incur liability or damages as the Company conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards.  As a result, the Company may become subject 

to liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company 

cannot insure or against which the Company may elect not to insure.  At the present time the Company 
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have no coverage to insure against these hazards.  The payment of such liabilities may have a material 

adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the 

Company and even if the Company discovers and exploits mineral deposits, the Company may never 

become commercially viable and the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company's control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the 

Company explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, 

royalties, land tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation.  These factors cannot be 

accurately predicted and any one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving 

any return on invested capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial 

performance and the Company's ability to continue operations. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause 

substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the 

Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws, regulations 

and policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge 

of materials into the environment.  Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to foreign, 

federal, provincial, and local laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by 

regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment.  Properties may also be subject to complex 

Aboriginal claims. 

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by foreign, federal, provincial, or local authorities may 

be changed, and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may 

increase costs of doing so, which would have material adverse effects on the Company's business.  

Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of 

those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on the Company, especially, foreign laws and regulations.  

Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages that 

the Company may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other 

reasons.  Any laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, 

applied or interpreted in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company's ability to carry on 

business. 

 

Because the Company's property interests may not contain any mineral deposits and because the Company 

has never made a profit from operations, the Company's securities are highly speculative, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

The Company's securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its 

business and the stage of exploration.  The Company currently has exploration stage property interests 

which may not contain mineral deposits.  The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other 

mineral properties, but the Company does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties 

as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  Accordingly, the Company have not 

generated any revenues nor have the Company realized a profit from operations to date and there is little 

likelihood that the Company will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term.  Any 

profitability in the future from the Company's business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting 

mineral deposits on current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that the Company 

may acquire and subsequent development.  The likelihood that any mineral properties that the Company 

may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits is extremely 

remote.  The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to current properties or any other 

area, or the Company may do so and still not be commercially successful if the Company is unable to 
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exploit those mineral deposits profitably.  The Company may not be able to operate profitably and may 

have to cease operations, the price of the Company's securities may decline, and investors may lose all their 

investment in the Company. 

 

As the Company face intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, the Company 

will have to compete with competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

Competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with greater 

financial and technical resources than the Company have.  As a result of this competition, the Company 

may have to compete for financing and be unable to conduct any financing on terms the Company consider 

acceptable.  The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment 

and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees.  If the Company is unable to successfully 

compete for financing or for qualified employees, the exploration programs may be slowed down or 

suspended, which may cause operations to cease as a company. 

 

The Company have a history of losses and have a deficit, which raises substantial doubt about its ability to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company has not generated any revenues during the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company 

will continue to incur operating expenses without revenues if and until the Company engages in commercial 

operations. Accumulated loss as of July 31, 2021 was $18,933,796 since inception. The Company had cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of $1,359,131 as at July 31, 2021. The Company estimates the average 

monthly operating expenses to be approximately $40,000 each month. This estimate depends on whether 

the Company is active or inactive with the work programs. The Company cannot provide assurances that 

the Company will be able to successfully explore and develop its property interests. These circumstances 

raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern, which was also described in an 

explanatory paragraph to the independent auditors' report on the Company's audited financial statements, 

July 31, 2021. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, investors will likely lose all their 

investments in the Company. 

 

The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if the Company does not obtain 

such financing, the Company may have to cease its exploration activities and investors could lose their 

entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate any positive cash flow in 

the future.  The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and, if 

warranted, development of its properties.  The Company will also require additional financing for fees the 

Company must pay to maintain its status in relation to the rights to the properties and to pay the fees and 

expenses necessary to operate as a public company.  The Company will also need more funds if the costs 

of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than the Company has anticipated.  The Company will 

require additional financing to sustain its business operations if the Company is not successful in earning 

revenues.  The Company will also need further financing if the Company decides to obtain additional 

mineral properties.  The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing as the 

Company believes that it is sufficiently funded for the current operations but in future the Company expects 

to raise additional capital as the needs arise.  The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain 

financing.  If the Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail, and investors could lose 

their entire investment. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are engaged in other business activities and accordingly may not 

devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which may affect its ability to conduct operations 

and generate revenues. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are involved in other business activities.  As a result of their other 

business endeavours, the Company's directors and officers will exercise their fiduciary duties and duty of 
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care but nonetheless may not be able to devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which 

may negatively affect the Company's ability to conduct ongoing operations and its ability to generate 

revenues.  In addition, the management of the Company may be periodically interrupted or delayed as a 

result of the Company's officers’ other business interests. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK 

 

A decline in the price of the Company's common stock could affect its ability to raise further working capital 

and adversely impact ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company's common stock could result in a reduction in the liquidity 

of its common stock and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of operations 

have been and will be financed through the continued sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of the 

common stock could be especially detrimental to liquidity and operations. Such reductions may force the 

Company to reallocate funds from other planned uses and may have a significant negative effect on business 

plans and operations, including the ability to continue current operations. If the Company's stock price 

declines, the Company can offer no assurance that it will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds 

from operations sufficient to meet its obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the 

future, the Company may not be able to have the resources to continue normal operations or become 

insolvent. 

 

The market price for the Company's common stock may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed 

expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of its common stock and its operations as a result.  

 

Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities.  The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at http://www.sedar.com. 



CRUZ COBALT CORP. 
For the year ended July 31, 2020 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") 

 

Date of Report: November 26, 2020 

 

The following discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations for 

the year ended July 31, 2020 should be read in conjunction with its consolidated financial statements and 

related notes. The requisite financial data presented for the relevant periods has been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars. Additional 

information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Disclaimer for Forward-Looking Information 

 

Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s expectations 

regarding the Company's future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and 

opportunities such as the intended work programs on its existing property interests, the ability to meet 

financial commitments and the ability to raise funds when required.  Forward-looking statements consist of 

statements that are not purely historical, including any statements regarding beliefs, plans, expectations or 

intentions regarding the future. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 

results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the statements.  No 

assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will occur or, 

if they do occur, what benefits the Company will obtain from them.  These forward-looking statements 

reflect management’s current views and are based on certain assumptions and speak only as of the date of 

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  These assumptions, which include management’s current 

expectations, estimates and assumptions about its current property interests, the global economic 

environment, the market price and demand for mineral commodities and its ability to manage the property 

interests and operating costs, may prove to be incorrect.  A number of risks and uncertainties could cause 

the actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, 

including: (1) a downturn in general economic conditions, (2) a decreased demand or price for mineral 

commodities, (3) delays in the start of projects with respect to its property interests, (4) inability to locate 

and acquire additional property interests, (5) the uncertainty of government regulation and politics in North 

America regarding mineral exploration and mining, (6) potential negative financial impact from regulatory 

investigations, claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges, and (7) other factors beyond its 

control. 

 

There is a significant risk that such forward-looking statements will not prove to be accurate.  Investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.  No forward-looking statement 

is a guarantee of future results.  Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any intention or 

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.  Additional information about these and 

other assumptions, risks and uncertainties are set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors” below. 

 

Nature of Business 

 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the "Company") is involved in the identification, acquisition and exploration of mineral 

properties that management deems as potentially viable to assist in the growth of the Company.  At July 

31, 2020, the Company had mineral property interests located in Canada and in the USA.  
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Mineral Properties 

 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters SPA”) with four 

arm’s length vendors to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which 

holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the 

Johnson Cobalt Prospect. In March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above 

four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 

100% interest in the above four cobalt prospects in Ontario and two in B.C. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs 

of $2,200 to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units 

for staking costs of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; 

and 137 claim units for staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to 

approximately 6,146 acres. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 

holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In December 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario referred 

to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $40,000. In August 2019, the Company decided to 

drop these claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of 

$40,000 were written off as of July 31, 2019. 

 

In January and April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario 

referred to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $20,890. During the year ended July 31, 

2020, the Company decided to drop certain claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. 

Accordingly, prior staking costs of $15,290 were written off. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. (“RJK”), an 

arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company in exchange for the 

exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at RJK’s own risk and expense, to 

enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, 

$5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition costs of the Lorraine claims.  

 

As disclosed in a news release on January 28, 2019, the Company completed an exploration diamond drill 

program at its 4,980-acre Hector Cobalt Property comprising 10 holes totaling 843 metres (m).  

 

The drilling was designed to test combined surface rock and soil geochemical and ground magnetic 

geophysical anomalies at the Hector and Gilles East targets, which were generated during the Company’s 

summer 2018 surface exploration programs that yielded surface rock grab samples up to 2.0% cobalt, in 

addition to anomalous silver and gold values. 

 

A series of four closely spaced shallow drill holes totaling 395 m tested the Hector anomaly; three holes 

totaling 264 m targeted Gilles East 1; and three holes totaling 185 m at the targeting Gilles East 2 were 

completed (Table 1).  
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Table 1: Hector Cobalt Property Fall 2018 Diamond Drill Results 

 

Target Drill Hole From (m) To (m) 
Interval 

(m)* 
Co (ppm) Cu (ppm) Au (ppb) Ag (ppm) 

Hector 

18HC01 5.12 16.00 10.88 66 132 - - 

and 24.00 25.00 1.00 110 - - - 

18HC02 83.45 84.45 1.00 310 60 - - 

and 89.45 91.45 2.00 110 110 - - 

and 94.33 95.02 0.69 130 150 - - 

18HC03 11.80 17.00 5.20 - 127 - - 

and 89.10 89.60 0.50 130 240 - - 

and 93.40 95.50 2.10 90 300 - - 

18HC04 92.00 93.00 1.00 80 410 - - 

Gilles East 1 
18HC06 10.50 15.50 5.00 42 162 - - 

and 50.00 51.00 1.00 50 650 - - 

Gillies East 2 

18HC08 8.00 9.00 1.00 - - 37 1.3 

and 18.00 21.00 3.00 97 57 - - 

18HC09 18.00 23.00 5.00 - 472 - - 

including 18.00 19.00 1.00 - 1420 - - 

and 74.15 74.65 0.50 120 - 21 - 

18HC10 15.00 16.00 1.00 110 - 33 - 

and 18.00 21.00 3.00 - 283 - - 

including 19.00 20.00 1.00 - 560 - - 

* The true width of mineralization is estimated to be 70-80% of the drilled interval 

 

Possible follow up work and drill programs are currently being formulated by management.  
 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $589,515 in exploration expenditures on the Ontario 

cobalt prospects. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor 

to acquire a 100% interest in six claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium.   

 

As of July 31, 2020, the Company had incurred a total of $10,905 in claim maintenance fees on this 

prospect. 

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia for 

staking costs of $3,496 and in January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral 

claims in British Columbia for staking costs of $7,283 to increase the acreage on the War Eagle Cobalt 

Prospect to 15,219 acres.   

 

In October 2018, the Company decided to drop certain War Eagle claims that comprised approximately 

10,284 acres and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$7,283 and exploration costs of $12,716 associated with these lapsed claims were written off as of July 31, 

2018. 
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During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to further reduce the size of certain War Eagle 

claims from 4,936 acres to 1,542 acres. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs 

of $18,705 were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in ninety-five load quartz 

mineral claims covering an area of approximately 4,836 acres, located in the Yukon Territory.  

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue with certain 

claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these lapsed claims were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on the remaining 

Yukon quartz claims. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

for staking costs of $39,964. This prospect is located approximately 9 miles southwest of Saltese, Montana 

and 19 miles southeast of Wallace, Idaho. This prospect consists of 44 contiguous claims within the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse when they 

became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 were written down as of 

July 31, 2018. 

 

The Company is considering a follow up program. However, a final decision has not been concluded at this 

time.  

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $4,948 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

BC Diamond Projects & Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with two arm’s 

length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. 

Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 

100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond 

projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 

acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares to the Vendors pursuant to the SPA. 

1205011 became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

 

The Company will continue exploration activities on its properties. In March 2020 the World Health 

Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is 

not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak 

and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future, 

and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all of its 

properties. 
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Overall Performance  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the business of acquisition, exploration and, if 

warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not expect to generate any revenues in 

the foreseeable future or until a mineable reserve is defined and economically recoverable.  The Company 

expects to continue to incur expenses as it works to further explore and develop its mineral properties.  

 

The Company has conducted limited exploration on some of its properties, due to, among other things, the 

availability of sufficient funds for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, access to the 

property due to climate conditions, the uncertainties associated with the prices of precious and base metals 

and other minerals, and the global economic climate.  The Company is in the process of exploring its 

mineral properties and has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are economically 

recoverable.  

 

The Company’s future performance is largely tied to the outcome of future exploration and the overall 

financial markets. The recoverability of minerals from the Company’s properties is dependent upon, among 

other things, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain 

necessary financing to continue to explore and develop its properties and upon future profitable production. 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 

contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 

developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 

leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude 

of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. 

Uncertainty in credit markets, fluctuation in commodity prices and general economic downturns has led to 

increased difficulties in raising and borrowing funds. As a result, the Company may have difficulty raising 

equity financing for the purposes of exploration and development of the Company’s properties, without 

diluting the interests of current shareholders of the Company. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and 

“Risk and Uncertainties” for a discussion of risk factors that may impact the Company’s ability to raise 

funds. 

 

Information about the Company’s commitments relating to its mineral properties is discussed above under 

“Nature of Business – Mineral Properties”. 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue during the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company’s 

net comprehensive loss decreased from $1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 to $714,368 for the 

year ended July 31, 2020, mainly due to a decrease in operating expenses as well as a decrease in the write-

down of exploration and evaluation assets, offset by an increase in flow-through indemnification provision. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased from $2,062,547 as at July 31, 2019 to $1,671,731 as 

at July 31, 2020. The Company had a working capital of $1,581,463 as at July 31, 2020 as compared to 

$2,074,525 as at July 31, 2019. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,786,107 as at July 31, 2020 from $2,135,279 as at July 

31, 2019, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $60,754 as at July 31, 2019 to $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. The value ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets has 

decreased from $1,262,324 as at July 31, 2019 to $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020, due mainly to a write-

down of the Ontario cobalt properties offset by claim maintenance fees incurred to keep the U.S. and Yukon 

claims in good standing as set described above. 

 

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s business and financial 

performance is discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”. 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table sets out selected quarterly financial data for the eight most recently completed interim 

quarters: 

 
 

 
2020 

Fourth 

2020 

Third 

2020 

Second 

2020 

First 

2019 

Fourth 

2019 

Third 

2019 

Second 

2019 

First 

 

Revenues 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Operating 

expenses 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

 

$(173,272) 

 

$(185,645) 

 

$(200,646) 

 

$(164,401) 

 

Loss before other items 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

 

$(173,272) 

 

$(185,645) 

 

$(200,646) 

 

$(164,401) 

Loss per share 

(Basic and diluted) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

Other items: 

        

Interest income 

 

$5,418 

 

$6,178 

 

$12,043 

 

$156 

 

$7,023 

 

$7,799 

 

$8,620 

 

$9,039 

Flow-through 

indemnification provision 

 

$(135,000) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Part XII.6 tax 

          

$(32,000) 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

Write-down of mineral 

properties 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

(15,290) 

 

$Nil 

 

$(765,415) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

Net comprehensive loss 

 

$(283,982) 

 

$(126,660) 

 

$(203,672) 

 

$(100,054) 

 

$(931,664) 

 

$(177,846) 

 

$(192,026) 

 

$(155,362) 

Basic and diluted loss per 

share  

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.012) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

Summary of Results During Prior Eight Quarters 

 

Net comprehensive loss increased by $36,664 from the first to the second quarter of 2019 mainly due to an 

increase in management fees and other expenses. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $14,180 from the 

second to the third quarter of 2019 mainly due to a decrease in management fees and professional fees 

offset by an increase in corporate branding expenses. Net comprehensive loss increased by $753,818 from 

the third to the fourth quarter of 2019 mainly due to an increase in the write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $831,610 from the fourth quarter of 2019 to the 

first quarter of 2020 mainly due to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets. Net 

comprehensive loss increased by $103,618 from the first to the second quarter of 2020 mainly due to an 

increase in share-based payments and in management and directors’ fees. Net comprehensive loss decreased 

by $77,012 from the second to the third quarter of 2020 mainly due to a decrease in share-based payments. 

Net comprehensive loss increased by $157,322 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2020 mainly due to 

an increase in flow-through indemnification provision. 
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Selected Annual Information 

 

The following table sets out selected audited financial information for the Company, which has been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2020 2019 2018 

 
Total revenues 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items: 

 
Total 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
$(1,988,331) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

Net comprehensive loss: 

 
Total 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
$(1,988,331) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
Total assets 

 
$3,034,663 

 
$3,397,603 

 
$4,836,901 

 
Total long term debt 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Cash dividends 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2019 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. Net comprehensive 

loss decreased by $742,530 from $1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 to $714,368 for the year 

ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (year 

ended July 31, 2020: $15,290; year ended July 31, 2019: $765,415) as well as a decrease in operating 

expenses, offset by an increase in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2020: 

$135,000; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil). Operating expenses decreased by $168,091 from $723,964 for 

the year ended July 31, 2019 to $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in 

investor relations expenses offset by an increase in share-based payments. 

 

Decreased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000) 

were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital media, 

corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month period 

from December 2017. The service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have plans to 

enter into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to 

replace those consultants. 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil) were 

due to the Company granted 5,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.07 per 

share for a one-year term (expiring on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020 as compared 
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to Nil stock options were granted during the year ended July 31, 2019. The Company may grant options 

that are available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2019 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2018 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. Net comprehensive 

loss decreased by $531,433 from $1,988,331 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to $1,456,898 for the year 

ended July 31, 2019 due mainly to a decrease in operating expenses offset by a decrease in other income 

on settlement of flow-through share premium (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$45,098) and an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (year ended July 31, 2019: 

$765,415; year ended July 31, 2018: $456,000). Operating expenses decreased by $900,134 from 

$1,624,098 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to $723,964 for the year ended July 31, 2019 due mainly to a 

decrease in consulting fees, professional fees, share-based payments, and corporate branding expenses, 

offset by an increase in investor relations expenses. 

 

Consulting fees paid by the Company (year ended July 31, 2019: $88,230; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$129,625) generally include the following three categories: corporate and business advisory; geological and 

related advisory services; secretarial and data entry services.  

 

Total consulting fees during the year ended July 31, 2019 consisted of $84,000 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$84,000) for business advisory services. Such payments were generally made to third party consultants for 

certain corporate advisory, strategic planning and related advisory services that assisted in project 

evaluation. The Company paid $Nil during the year ended July 31, 2019 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$45,625) for internal secretarial and data entry services. The Company also paid $4,230 during the year 

ended July 31, 2019 (year ended July 31, 2018: $Nil) for geological advisory services. Consulting fees 

decreased because certain consultants no longer work for the Company and the Company has streamlined 

its work and is not looking to replace those consultants.  

 

Decreased professional fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $100,803; year ended July 31, 2018: $143,795) 

were due to a decrease in legal fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $11,003; year ended July 31, 2018: $58,255). 

Lower legal fees in the 2019 year were due to less services rendered in relation to corporate governance.  

 

Decreased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2018: $364,182) 

were due to the Company did not grant any stock options during the year ended July 31, 2019 as compared 

to 6,000,000 stock options were granted to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.20 per share for a 

one-year term (expiring on November 9, 2018) during the year ended July 31, 2018.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company incurred a total of $31,072 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$500,832) in corporate branding expenses, of which $12,000 (year ended July 31, 2018: $12,000) was for 

social media services related to the corporate twitter, $9,072 (year ended July 31, 2018: $10,207) was for 

the Company's President and one director to attend the 2019 PDAC Convention in Toronto, and $10,000 

(year ended July 31, 2018: $50,854) was for other branding expenses. The corporate branding expenses 

were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the cobalt industry in general.  

 

Increased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$200,000) were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital 

media, corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month 

period from December 2017. The Company prepaid the total amount of $450,000 to these two entities using 

cash on hand and the service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have plans to enter 

into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to replace 

those consultants. 
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See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company's mineral properties on a 

property by property basis, including its plans for the mineral properties, the status of its plans, expenditures 

made and the anticipated timing and costs to take its mineral properties to the next stage of the project plan. 

 

See “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the commitments, events, risks and uncertainties that the 

Company believe will materially affect its future performance and “Risks and Uncertainties” for a 

discussion of risk factors affecting the Company. 

 

Discussion of Operations  

 

Use of Proceeds  

 

The table below provides an update as to the status of how the Company has previously announced a 

proposed use of proceeds from prior financings and the actual use of such proceeds. 

 

Financing Previously Disclosed Use of Proceeds Status of Use of 
$550,000 

Flow-through 

August 2017 

Private Placement 

Flow-through funds - towards existing 

Canadian properties.  
As of the date of this report, 

approximately $336,000 in flow-

through funds were used; and 

$214,000 in flow-through funds 

has not been used.  
 

In August 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the "Offering") consisting of 

2,619,047 flow-through shares at $0.21 per share for gross proceeds of $550,000. The Company incurred 

filing fees of $4,100 and legal fees of $7,170, paid an aggregate finders' fees of $38,500, and issued 183,333 

broker warrants (the "Broker Warrants") in connection with the Offering. Each Broker Warrant is 

exercisable at $0.21 per share into one common share until August 11, 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Liquidity  

 

At July 31, 2020, the Company had $1,671,731 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of 

$1,581,463 as compared to $2,062,547 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of $2,074,525 at 

July 31, 2019. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,786,107 as at July 31, 2020 from $2,135,279 as at July 

31, 2019, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $60,754 as at July 31, 2019 to $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. The value ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets has 

decreased from $1,262,324 as at July 31, 2019 to $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020, due mainly to a write-

down of the Ontario cobalt properties offset by claim maintenance fees incurred to keep the U.S. and Yukon 

claims in good standing as set described above. 

 

Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to meet the current 

working capital requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's mineral 

properties. But in future, the Company expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise. See “Nature of 

Business – Mineral Properties” and “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the Company’s commitments 

relating to its mineral properties. As a mineral exploration company, its expenses are expected to increase 

as the Company explores its mineral properties further. Management does not expect the Company to 

generate sustained revenues from mineral production in the foreseeable future. 

 

The Company’s ability to conduct the planned work programs on its mineral properties, meet ongoing levels 

of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they become due is dependent, in large part, on the 
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ability of management to raise additional funds as necessary. Management anticipates that additional equity 

financings will need to be conducted to raise additional funds which, if successful, will result in dilution in 

the equity interests of the Company’s current shareholders. Obtaining commercial loans, assuming those 

loans would be available, will increase the Company’s liabilities and future cash commitments.  Although 

the Company have secured financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do 

so in the future on terms that is favourable to the Company or at all.  The Company’s ability to raise 

additional funds in the future and its liquidity may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including 

changes in commodity prices, market volatility and general economic downturns. 

 

Capital Resources 

 

The Company has the following commitments for capital expenditures with respect to its mineral properties 

as of July 31, 2020.  The expenditures are optional, and the Company may decide not to incur such payments 

in the event the Company does not decide to pursue further exploration with respect to such properties. As 

the BC Ministry continues to respond and adapt to the directions and orders issued in response to COVID-

19, the Chief Gold Commissioner has issued a blanket Time Extension Order for all claims and leases, as 

well as all coal licenses and leases. All the Company’s BC claims have fallen into this Order and therefore 

the Company has until December 31, 2021 to register a statement of exploration and development, or 

register payment instead of exploration and development. In addition, Government of Yukon has granted 

relief from assessment work for mineral claims set to expire between April 23, 2020 and April 22, 2021. 

By providing relief, existing claims that are due to expire between April 23, 2020and April 22, 2021, will 

have one year automatically added to their expiry date and remain in good standing without having to 

perform work or make payment in lieu. All the Company’s Yukon claims have fallen into this relief and 

will remain in good standing until October 3, 2021. Lastly, Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and 

Mines (“MNDM”) of Ontario published a bulletin, Exclusions of Time for Claim Holders Due to COVID-

19, on April 17, 2020. Pursuant to the Bulletin, claim holders with claim anniversary dates on or before 

December 31, 2020 will be given an exclusion order by making a brief request via email. The exclusion 

orders will remove the requirement to carry out assessment work for a period of time of up to 12 months. 

The Company will mark its calendar to email the Provincial Recording Office at pro.ndm@ontario.ca to 

obtain the exclusion order for our qualified claims. 

 BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in one mineral claim, which is in good standing until 

December 31, 2021. In order to keep this claim in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $9,362 in exploration expenditures on this claim by December 31, 

2021 or to pay cash-in-lieu of $18,724. 

 BC Larry Diamond Project:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in four mineral claims, which are in good standing 

until June 12, 2021. In order to keep these claims in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $19,543 in exploration expenditures on these claims by June 12, 

2021 or to pay cash-in-lieu of $39,087. 

 Yukon Quartz Claims:  

o Two Yukon Quartz claims are in good standing until October 3, 2021. In order to renew 

these claims for another year, the Company is required to pay an annual rent of $210 to the 

Government of Yukon by October 3, 2021 for the Yukon Quartz claims, unless the 

Company spends an amount greater than that in exploration beforehand. In addition, the 

Company is also required to pay the claim recording fees of $10 to the Government of 

Yukon by October 3, 2021.  

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/mineral-exploration-mining/documents/mineral-titles/13180-20-411_signed_order_march_27_2020.pdf
mailto:pro.ndm@ontario.ca
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 Ontario Bucke Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $17,400 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

 Ontario Coleman Cobalt Prospects:  

o Four claim units are in good standing until July 19, 2021. In order to keep these claims in 

good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $1,600 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

o 31 claim units are in good standing until December 1, 2021. In order to keep these claims 

in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,800 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by December 1, 2021.  

o 19 claim units are in good standing until June 26, 2021 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $4,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by June 26, 2021. 

 Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospects:  

o Six mineral claims are in good standing until September 26, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $2,200 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by September 26, 2021.  

o 159 mineral claims are in good standing until September 26, 2023 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $56,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by September 26, 2023. 

 Ontario Johnson Cobalt Prospects:  

o 28 mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2021 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,800 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

 Ontario Lorraine Cobalt Prospects:  

o 48 mineral claims are in good standing until December 29, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $16,800 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims or pay cash-in-lieu by December 29, 2021. 

 Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2021. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$1,980 and 

county fees of USD$144 by November 1, 2021. 

 Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2021. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$660 by 

September 1, 2021. 
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 Idaho Cobalt Belt Project:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2021. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$19,470 

by September 1, 2021. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company’s capital expenditure 

commitments with respect to its mineral properties.  

 

On March 12, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office premises for a seven-year period 

beginning October 1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2027. The Company is required to pay monthly office 

rent (net of taxes) of $5,438. However, the Company shares its office space with two related public 

companies and one non-related company. The Company invoices these companies for their share of the 

office rent on a monthly basis.  

 

Operating Activities  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020 and, 2019, operating activities used cash of $525,456 and $429,292, 

respectively. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2020 was mainly attributable to its loss for the 

period of $714,368 offset by share-based payments of $59,832 and increased accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities of $155,344. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2019 was mainly attributable to its loss 

for the period of $1,456,898 offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses of $246,283 and the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Investing Activities  

  

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company used cash of $12,976 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $17,976 offset by $5,000 in recovery of 

exploration and evaluation assets. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company used cash of $315,188 

in investing activities due to investments in exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Financing Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company was provided $147,706 by financing activities, of which 

$149,600 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by share issue costs of $1,894.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company did not provide or use any cash in financing activities. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

New accounting standards adopted during the period 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

 

New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 

with an impact on lessee accounting. The Company adopted this new standard on August 1, 2019. The 

adoption of this new standard has no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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Related Parties Transactions   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company incurred aggregate management and directors’ fees of 

$125,600 to two directors, James Nelson and Seth Kay. There are no management agreements in place and 

the Company has no contractual requirement to continue paying management fees. During the year ended 

July 31, 2020, the Company accrued a total of $7,500 in directors’ fees payable to three directors, James 

Nelson, Seth Kay and Gregory Thomson. Management fees, directors’ fees and share-based payments are 

intended to compensate such persons for their time and dedication to the Company. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company paid $73,300 to an officer in consideration for 

accounting services provided to the Company.  Such payments were made in lieu of management fees to 

its Chief Financial Officer, Cindy Cai.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company incurred share-based payments of $53,848 to three 

directors and one officer, being $11,966 to each of James Nelson and Seth Kay; $5,983 to Gregory 

Thomson; and $23,933 to Cindy Cai. As a mineral exploration issuer, the Company partially relies on the 

issuance of stock options to compensate its directors and officers for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, amount due to related parties were $7,500 (July 31, 2019: $8,167) for unpaid directors' 

fees, being $2,500 each payable to James Nelson, Seth Kay and Gregory Thomson.  

 

At July 31, 2020, related party receivables include $20,608 (July 31, 2019: $1,804) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses as below: $934 due from Sienna 

Resources Inc. and 19,674 due from Spearmint Resources Inc. 

 

All transactions with related parties have occurred and are measured at the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

Fourth Quarter - Unaudited  

 

The Company did not have any revenue during the three months ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. Net 

comprehensive loss decreased to $283,982 for the three months ended July 31, 2020 as compared to 

$931,664 for the three months ended July 31, 2019. The decrease resulted primarily by a decrease in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (three months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil; three months 

ended July 31, 2019: $765,415) as well as a decrease in operating expenses, offset by an increase in flow-

through indemnification provision (three months ended July 31, 2020: $135,000; three months ended July 

31, 2019: $Nil). 

 

Total operating expenses were $122,400 for the three months ended July 31, 2020, as compared to $173,272 

for the three months ended July 31, 2019. The decrease resulted primarily from a decrease of $25,000 in 

investor relations and a decrease of $17,103 in filing fees. Decreased investor relations were due to 

management does not have plans to enter into new investor relations contract after the old contract expired 

on May 31, 2019 as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to replace those consultants. 

Higher filing fees incurred in the three months ended July 31, 2019 were due to a one-time listing fees paid 

to the Canadian Securities Exchange to list the Company’s stocks on the Exchange. 

 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

Financial instruments  

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 

according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy are: 
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Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either             

                directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates 

their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. The Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company has a minimal exposure to the US$ that is 

subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the extent that transactions are made in this 

currency. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign 

exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables are 

exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by placing these 

instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company is not exposed 

to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing debt instruments and is 

therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. As at July 31, 2020, the Company is 

not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to enable 

settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company addresses its liquidity through equity financing 

obtained through the sale of common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company 

has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in 

the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 

as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 

volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of precious metals and the stock market 

to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does not believe 

that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk. 
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Proposed Transactions 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company does not have any proposed transactions as of the date of this 

report. 

 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred expenses including the following: 

 

 2020 2019 

   

Operating expenses $555,873 $723,964 

Capitalized exploration costs $6,522 $326,642 

Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets $5,000 $Nil 

Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets $15,290 $765,415 

 

Please refer to Note 7 Exploration and Evaluation Assets in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended July 31, 2020 for a description of the capitalized acquisition and exploration costs presented on 

a property-by-property basis. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had 83,472,697 common shares issued and outstanding. Subsequent to 

July 31, 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 common shares pursuant to a SPA. As at November 26, 2020, 

the Company had 92,472,697 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 

Stock options 

 

As at July 31, 2020 and November 26, 2020, the Company had 5,000,000 stock options outstanding and 

exercisable which entitles the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held 

at an exercise price of $0.07 per share until January 20, 2021. 

 

Warrants 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had 9,514,140 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each warrant entitles 

the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise   

Number  Price  Expiry Date 

     

  183,333  $0.21   August 11, 2020 

  4,505,000  $0.05   June 13, 2021 

  4,825,807  $0.05   January 17, 2025 

  9,514,140      

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2020, 183,333 share purchase warrants expired unexercised. As at November 26, 

2020, the Company had 9,330,807 share purchase warrants outstanding. 
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Risks and Uncertainties  

 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company 

face a high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration 

companies and the high rate of failure of such enterprises.  The likelihood of success must be considered in 

light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the 

exploration program that the Company intend to undertake on its properties and any additional properties 

that the Company may acquire.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to 

exploration, and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  The expenditures to be 

made by the Company in the exploration of the properties may not result in the discovery of any mineral 

deposits.  Any expenditure that the Company may make in the exploration of any other mineral property 

that the Company may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially exploitable mineral 

deposits.  Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions are involved 

in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful and/or expensive exploration efforts.  If the results 

of the exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon or 

sell some or all the property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that the 

exploration activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the current 

properties or any other additional properties the Company may acquire. 

 

The Company intend to continue exploration on the current properties and the Company may or may not 

acquire additional interests in other mineral properties.  The search for mineral deposits as a business is 

extremely risky.  The Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on the current 

properties, or any other property that the Company may acquire, will establish that any commercially 

exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist.  Additional potential problems may prevent the Company 

from discovering any mineral deposits.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating 

to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  If the Company is 

unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on the properties, the Company's ability to fund future 

exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the 

Company may incur liability or damages as the Company conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards.  As a result, the Company may become subject 

to liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company 

cannot insure or against which the Company may elect not to insure.  At the present time the Company 

have no coverage to insure against these hazards.  The payment of such liabilities may have a material 

adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the 

Company and even if the Company discover and exploit mineral deposits, the Company may never become 

commercially viable and the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company's control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the 

Company explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, 

royalties, land tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation.  These factors cannot be 

accurately predicted and any one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving 

any return on invested capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial 

performance and the Company's ability to continue operations. 
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Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause 

substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the 

Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws, regulations 

and policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge 

of materials into the environment.  Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to foreign, 

federal, provincial, and local laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by 

regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment.  Properties may also be subject to complex 

Aboriginal claims. 

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by foreign, federal, provincial, or local authorities may 

be changed, and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may 

increase costs of doing so, which would have material adverse effects on the Company's business.  

Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of 

those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on the Company, especially, foreign laws and regulations.  

Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages that 

the Company may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other 

reasons.  Any laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, 

applied or interpreted in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company's ability to carry on 

business. 

 

Because the Company's property interests may not contain any mineral deposits and because the Company 

have never made a profit from operations, the Company's securities are highly speculative, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

The Company's securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its 

business and the stage of exploration.  The Company currently has exploration stage property interests 

which may not contain mineral deposits.  The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other 

mineral properties, but the Company does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties 

as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  Accordingly, the Company have not 

generated any revenues nor have the Company realized a profit from operations to date and there is little 

likelihood that the Company will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term.  Any 

profitability in the future from the Company's business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting 

mineral deposits on current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that the Company 

may acquire and subsequent development.  The likelihood that any mineral properties that the Company 

may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits is extremely 

remote.  The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to current properties or any other 

area, or the Company may do so and still not be commercially successful if the Company is unable to 

exploit those mineral deposits profitably.  The Company may not be able to operate profitably and may 

have to cease operations, the price of the Company's securities may decline, and investors may lose all their 

investment in the Company. 

 

As the Company face intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, the Company 

will have to compete with competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

Competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with greater 

financial and technical resources than the Company have.  As a result of this competition, the Company 

may have to compete for financing and be unable to conduct any financing on terms the Company consider 

acceptable.  The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment 

and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees.  If the Company is unable to successfully 

compete for financing or for qualified employees, the exploration programs may be slowed down or 

suspended, which may cause operations to cease as a company. 
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The Company have a history of losses and have a deficit, which raises substantial doubt about its ability to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company has not generated any revenues during the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company 

will continue to incur operating expenses without revenues if and until the Company engages in commercial 

operations. Accumulated loss as of July 31, 2020 was $18,046,640 since inception.  The Company had cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of $1,671,731 as at July 31, 2020. The Company estimates the average 

monthly operating expenses to be approximately $50,000 each month. This estimate depends on whether 

the Company is active or inactive with the work programs. The Company cannot provide assurances that 

the Company will be able to successfully explore and develop its property interests. These circumstances 

raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern, which was also described in an 

explanatory paragraph to the independent auditors' report on the Company's audited financial statements, 

July 31, 2020. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, investors will likely lose all their 

investments in the Company. 

 

The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if the Company does not obtain 

such financing, the Company may have to cease its exploration activities and investors could lose their 

entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate any positive cash flow in 

the future.  The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and, if 

warranted, development of its properties.  The Company will also require additional financing for fees the 

Company must pay to maintain its status in relation to the rights to the properties and to pay the fees and 

expenses necessary to operate as a public company.  The Company will also need more funds if the costs 

of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than the Company has anticipated.  The Company will 

require additional financing to sustain its business operations if the Company is not successful in earning 

revenues.  The Company will also need further financing if the Company decides to obtain additional 

mineral properties.  The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing as the 

Company believes that it is sufficiently funded for the current operations but in future the Company expects 

to raise additional capital as the needs arise.  The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain 

financing.  If the Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail, and investors could lose 

their entire investment. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are engaged in other business activities and accordingly may not 

devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which may affect its ability to conduct operations 

and generate revenues. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are involved in other business activities.  As a result of their other 

business endeavours, the Company's directors and officers will exercise their fiduciary duties and duty of 

care but nonetheless may not be able to devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which 

may negatively affect the Company's ability to conduct ongoing operations and its ability to generate 

revenues.  In addition, the management of the Company may be periodically interrupted or delayed as a 

result of the Company's officers’ other business interests. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK 

 

A decline in the price of the Company's common stock could affect its ability to raise further working capital 

and adversely impact ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company's common stock could result in a reduction in the liquidity 

of its common stock and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of operations 

have been and will be financed through the continued sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of the 

common stock could be especially detrimental to liquidity and operations. Such reductions may force the 
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Company to reallocate funds from other planned uses and may have a significant negative effect on business 

plans and operations, including the ability to continue current operations. If the Company's stock price 

declines, the Company can offer no assurance that it will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds 

from operations sufficient to meet its obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the 

future, the Company may not be able to have the resources to continue normal operations or become 

insolvent. 

 

The market price for the Company's common stock may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed 

expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of its common stock and its operations as a result.  

 

Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities.  The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at http://www.sedar.com. 


